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Chairman’s Statement

FEREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OKG Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report (the “Report”) of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The recurrent coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic is now in its third
year. The fifth wave of epidemic in Hong Kong and resultant prevention
measures weighed heavily on a wide range of economic activities as
well as economic sentiment. The Hong Kong economy deteriorated
significantly in the first quarter of 2022, with real GDP contracting by
about 4.0% vyear-on-year. The global economic growth also became
increasingly uncertain under the combined effects of recurrent pandemic,
geopolitical conflicts and the US Federal Reserve’s interest rate hike
cycle.

In the face of the unpredictable capital market currently, the Group has
adjusted its corporate management policy in a timely manner, rationally
planned its business layout, followed the trend of the global financial
technology field with diversified development strategies, and actively
explored development opportunities under the crisis. In January 2022,
the Group launched its proprietary trading in digital assets business.
During the Year, the revenue from trading in digital assets and net fair
value changes on digital assets was approximately HK$5.0 million. In
addition, the revenue from the trust and custody services carried out
through OKLink Trust Limited (“OKLink Trust”) during the Year was
approximately HK$8.7 million, increased approximately 521.4% year-on-
year. As at the end of the Year, the total assets of OKLink Trust’s clients
were approximately HK$280.5 million, increased approximately 159.2%
from HK$108.2 million over the same period of last year.

The abovementioned proprietary trading in digital assets business and
trust and custody services were combined as “Digital Assets Related
Businesses” in our segment report. During the Year, the revenue and
gross profit from this segment was approximately HK$13.7 million and
approximately HK$5.4 million, respectively.

For our construction related businesses segments, the revenue from
foundation, building construction works and ancillary services was
approximately HK$207.5 million, increased approximately 22% year-
on-year. Revenue from construction wastes handling services was
approximately HK$148.8 million, decreased approximately 36% year-on-
year.
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As a result of the launch of new businesses and the improvement of
gross profit margin, the loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of the Year was approximately HK$58.1 million, decreased approximately
38.1% year-on-year. We will gradually scale up our proprietary trading in
digital assets with monitoring the investment risks, to improve the Group’s
financial performance.

Furthermore, during the Year, the Group continued to optimize products
such as the blockchain explorer and “Chaintelligence” (##_X0R),
which were independently developed through the OKLink.com. In July
2021, the Group launched ChainHub (3 _t AR,
on-chain data analysis tool in Greater China Region. ChainHub provides

the first panoramic

over 10,000 data indicators and seven major thematic data including
NFT and GameFi, creating an integrated data solution for the users. In
December 2021, OKLink.com completed a website upgrade to support
12 languages, further promote its internationalization process. In addition,
OKLink.com’s blockchain explorer launched 7 public chains during
the Year, including Tron and Polygon, and currently supports 15 public
chains in total. In January 2022, the Group launched the version 2.0 of
Chaintelligence Pro, which established a better address tagging system
and realized intelligent data analysis and data mining.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

The Group has continuously deepened the technology research and
development of blockchain, facilitating the development of financial
technologies. The corporate value of the Group has been highly
recognized by the industry’s leading companies.

In September 2021, the Group, Shanghai Lingang Holdings Co., Ltd.
and Shanghai Academy of Quality Management signed a strategic
cooperation agreement and a blockchain technology security service
station was unveiled. The Group initiated the first blockchain data service
standard to facilitate the development of the industry and promote the
digital transformation of the industry.

In October 2021, the Group was awarded the “Deloitte Shenzhen High-
Tech High-Growth 20” and became a candidate for Deloitte China’s Top
50 and Asia Pacific Top 500 selections. Moreover, in November 2021, the
Group was also awarded as “Famous Blockchain Enterprise 2021” at the
first China Digital Finance Summit and Blockchain Innovation Forum.

In January this year, the Group was awarded the “2021 Financial
Technology Company of the Year” and “Annual Distinguished
Contributions to Scientific and Technology Innovation” again at the 15th

Golden Cicada Award organised by the China Times.
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Chairman's Statement

EFERIEE

OUTLOOK

In recent years, financial regulators in different regions have introduced a
series of regulatory measures for the digital assets industry, to standardize
its industry developments. On 24 June 2022, the government of Hong
Kong published the Gazettal of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Amendment Bill”). The
Amendment Bill sought to introduce a licensing regime for virtual assets
providers, to enhance the AML and CTF regulatory regime of Hong
Kong. It is our opinion that it will benefit the orderly development of digital
assets industry to have an explicit and clear regulation guidance. We will
keep on monitoring the regulatory dynamics of the digital assets industry,
assessing the impacts on our businesses and will apply for the relevant
licenses according to our business development needs.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to operate prudently for the
foundation works and ancillary services and construction waste handling
services in the Hong Kong market under the face of the unpredictable
market environment. The Group will also make prudent decisions on
further investments in its construction related businesses based on an
assessment of investment returns. The blockchain industry has become
one of the key industries in the digital economy. Riding on the policy
dividends, the development and application of blockchain technology will
become the focus of future industry development. As a leading enterprise
in blockchain technology, the Group will continue to optimize and
upgrade blockchain-related products and actively expand its digital asset-
related businesses, including digital asset proprietary trading business,
blockchain technology services, trust and custody business, in order to
continuously bring returns to the Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our Shareholders, customers and business partners, and also extend
my heartfelt thanks to all management and staff for their diligence and
valuable contributions for the Year.

Ren Yunan
Chairman
Hong Kong, China, 28 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major sources of revenue were from construction wastes
handling services, foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services, digital assets related businesses, technical services and other
businesses.

During the Year, the Group has commenced its proprietary trading in
digital assets and blockchain technology services. Save for the above,
the Group had no material change in its business nature and principal
activities.

Construction Wastes Handling Services

The Group’s construction wastes handling services mainly include the
management and operation of public fill reception facilities such as
public fill banks and temporary construction waste sorting facilities, for
construction and demolition materials.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$148.8 million, which decreased approximately HK$85.5 million as
compared with approximately HK$234.3 million for the corresponding
period in 2021. Such decrease was mainly caused by the revenue from
certain project under the uncertain economic environment during the Year.
The Group will continue to seek potential business opportunities in the
market of this segment.

Gross profit of this segment for the Year was approximately HK$42.1
million, which increased approximately 679.6% as compared with
approximately HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.
The increase in gross profit was mainly due to the decrease in the
subcontracting costs. Gross profit margin of this segment for the Year
was approximately 28.3%, representing an increase of 26.0 percentage
points from approximately 2.3% for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Foundation, Building Construction Works and
Ancillary Services

The foundation works of the Group mainly include building construction
works, site formation works, excavation and lateral support (“ELS”)
works, piling construction, pile caps or footing construction and reinforced
concrete structure works and ancillary services mainly include hoarding
and demolition works and lease of machinery.

During the Year, revenue from this segment was approximately
HK$207.5 million, representing an increase of 22.1% as compared with
approximately HK$169.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such
increase was mainly due to some projects started contributing revenue to
the Group during the Year.

Gross profit of this segment during the Year was approximately 34.4
million, which increased approximately 184.3% as compared with
approximately HK$12.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. Gross
profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately 16.6%,
representing an increase of 9.5 percentage points from approximately that
of 7.1% for the year ended 31 March 2021.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED) MR (88)
New Projects Awarded MERNIEB

During the Year, the Group had been awarded 5 new contracts with total R AEER > REBERD L BaNE
contract value of approximately HK$187.2 million. The details of the new  {B41%&187. 2B BB T MIBEMEBNT ¢
projects are as follows:

Type of Projects Site Location Type of Works

HEHER AR B T8R!

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Wong Tai Sin District ELS Works, Soldier Piles and Site
Preparation

ME T2 REERT |mAAE PR RAIREIETIE BB Rth B ER

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services North District Hoarding, Drainage Diversion and
Associated Works

ME T2 REERT ib& Bl ~ BEK R o8 R AERI T2

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Yuen Long District Foundation and ELS Works

ME TR RIERS ToEA& ME T2 REZERAIRATETIE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Yau Tsim Mong District Foundation and ELS Works

ME T2 RIERT THRIEE MBETRRIZERAAETIRE

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services Tai Po District Steel Fixing

ME T2 MIERT KEE i) 334 & E
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Projects in Progress

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 5 projects in progress with total

contract value amounted to approximately HK$231.5 million. The details

of projects in progress are as follows:

Type of Projects
RSk il

Site Location

R E

X F%[C1EE (48)

£#1EH

A E T TF=-R=+—H AEEFSMETEE
HE  BENBELNN1 8B T -TEEEN
SEBW

Type of Works
Ti25ER!

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

ETEREEERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

ETEREEERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

wETREREEERS

Building Construction Works
BFRERETR

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T EREEERS

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

Wong Tai Sin District

BAE

North District

it

Yau Tsim Mong District
THAR&

Yau Tsim Mong District
HREE

Tseung Kwan O District
BERE

ELS Works, Soldier Piles and Site
Preparation
ZRRAIEATETIE BEBERMEER

Hoarding, Drainage Diversion and
Associated Works
Bk~ HEK R OB R AERA T2

Foundation and ELS Works
WMETRERIZEERABRAITIRE

Carcass Works
FRETHE

Foundation and ELS Works
WETERZERABEAITIRE



BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Completed Projects

During the Year, the Group completed 7 projects with total contract value
amounted to approximately HK$851.2 million. The details of completed

projects are as follows:

Type of Projects
EHE#EE

Site Location

i i B

m-‘

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmR IR
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Type of Works
Ti2%85

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

ETEREEERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T EREERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T EREEERS

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services
METREKREERT

Building Construction Works
IBFREETR

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

E T EREERS

Construction Wastes Handling Services

RV RRIEARTS

Yuen Long District
TCERE

Tai Po District
KIiE&E

Tuen Mun District
Bry&E

Islands District

Yuen Long District
TCERE

Southern District
mE

Tuen Mun District
Bry&E

Foundation and ELS Works
WETRERZEEABRAITIRE

Steel Fixing

Foundation and ELS Works
WETERZERABEAITIRE

Piling Works
BREIR

Construction of Basement and G/F Slab
R = B N AR A 22 A

Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
R T2 ~ 218 R A A FE R iE0E T2

Fill Bank Operation
EREIEE

IR B R A RAT
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Digital Assets Related Businesses

(i) Proprietary Trading in Digital Assets

During the Year, the Group has commenced its proprietary trading
in digital assets, to diversify its business developments and broaden
the source of income. The income was generated through the
Group’s trading activities in leading cryptocurrency exchanges (the
“Trading Platform”). As at 31 March 2022, the market value of the
Group’s digital assets was approximately HK$560.1 million. The
Group also borrowed loans from the Trading Platform in forms of
digital assets whose fair value were 494.1 million at the end of the
Year. During the Year, the revenue from trading in digital assets and
net fair value changes on digital assets was approximately HK$5.0

million.

Set out below were significant digital assets held by the Group as of

31 March 2022:

Number of Digital

FHOE (8
BT EEANES

) BFEEEBEIRH

RAFER ~EERBEBFTEENE
FRERFT > UGEHEBERZL TIC KA
FRURARIR o WA TL BB A S B LB ST
BEBRZM ((RSFER)) R ZEEM
Ef RTE-__F=H=+—H &%
BN FEEMBELNAR6018EBIT K
EETUBFEENTEABRZFEEEA
EYOBERFER HATER49418
BRALT - REAFERN HFEEXZHW
mURBFEENFATFEEHNR5.0
BBHBte

BE_T-__F=-RB=+—H £&EF
FENEABRFEENT

% to the Group’s

Market Value as at Total Assets as at

Name of Digital Assets Assets Held 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
RZE_Z B
=B=+—H =A=+—H14

BFEERE FIsENSFEEHE B {E TERMBEETDL

(HK$’000)
(F#7m)

Stablecoins 12 7 & 32,898,179 257,511 25.8%

Ethereum (ETH) AKX 3,516 92,220 9.2%

Bitcoin (BTC) 4% 171 62,125 6.2%

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Digital Assets Related Businesses (continued)

(ii)  Trust and Custody Services

The Group’s trust and custody services were being carried out
through OKLink Trust. OKLink Trust has been registered as a Trust
Company under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter
29 of the Laws of Hong Kong) since 17 June 2020. The trust
and custody services provided by the Group typically include
the safekeeping, settlement and other customised services of its
clients’ assets. The types of assets custodied under this business
include digital assets and fiat currencies. At the end of the Year,
the total assets of the Group’s custody clients were approximately
HK$280.5 million, increased approximately 159.2% compared with
HK$108.2 million as at 31 March 2021. The clients’ digital assets
constitute trust assets and are not accounted for as assets of the
Group and do not give rise to liabilities to the relevant customers.

During the Year, the revenue generated from the provision of trust
and custody services was approximately HK$8.7 million, which
increased approximately 521.4% compared with approximately
HK$1.4 million for the corresponding period in 2021. The increase
was mainly due to the increase in the total client assets held by the
Group and the related services provided by the Group.

Gross profit of the Group’s digital assets related businesses was
approximately HK$5.4 million which increased by approximately HK$4.1
million or 315.4% as compared with approximately HK$1.3 million for
corresponding period in 2021. The increase in gross profit was mainly
attributable to the proprietary trading in digital assets commenced during
the Year and increase in the revenue from trust and custody services.
Gross profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately
39.4%, respectively an decrease of 53.5 percentage points from
approximately 92.9% for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Technical Services

The Group’s technical services income mainly includes (i) income
generated by developing the USDK smart contract, managing the USDK
smart contract to effect minting and burning of USDK; (i) providing
the technology development and |.T. infrastructure services; and (iii)
the Group’s blockchain technology services, including the provision of
Chaintelligence Pro, blockchain explorers and other related services,
which commenced to contribute revenues to the Group during the Year.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$20.1 million which was decreased by approximately HK$8.1
million or 28.7% as compared with approximately HK$28.2 million
for the corresponding period in 2021. The decrease in revenue was
mainly caused by the decrease in the income of providing technology
development and I.T. infrastructure services. Gross profit of this segment
was approximately HK$7.5 million which decreased by approximately
HK$1.7 million or 18.5% as compared with approximately HK$9.2 million
for corresponding period in 2021.

Other Businesses

In the previous year, investment in securities and lending business were
reported as constituted separate segments, starting from the Year, such
business are combined into a single segment.

(i) Investment in Securities
During the Year, the Group maintained the business of investment
in securities in order to diversify the Group’s business. The Group
invested in a portfolio of listed securities in Hong Kong and
overseas.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group managed a portfolio of listed
securities with total market value of approximately HK$3.2 million
(2021: approximately HK$10.3 million). During the Year, the
Group recorded a loss on fair value change of approximately
HK$7.1 million, compared with a gain of approximately HK$14.8
million for the corresponding period in 2021. The Group reviewed
the performance of its investment portfolio and evaluated the
investment potentials of other investment opportunities available to
the Group as part of the routine exercise with a view to optimise the
expected return and minimise the risks.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Other Businesses (continued)

(ii)

Lending Business

During the Year, the Group continued to carry out its money lending
business, which maintains a money lender’s licence in Hong Kong,
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). In addition, the Group also lent its digital assets
to the counterparties (the “Counterparties”) in form of Bitcoin
(the “BTC”) and stablecoins as the loan principal during the Year.
For certain loans made in stablecoins, the Counterparties were
required to deposit BTC or ETH to the Platforms as collaterals.
During the Year, all the digital assets lent were settled, and thus the
Group did not have any loan receivables in forms of digital assets
as at 31 March 2022. During the Year, revenue from the Group’s
lending business was approximately HK$2.7 million, representing
a decrease of 38.6% as compared with HK$4.4 milion for the
year ended 31 March 2021. The Directors believe that the lending
business benefits to the Group in exploring opportunities to widen
its revenue base and minimise the risks of the Group overall, so as
to enhance the capital use of the Group as well as for the interests
of the Company and its Shareholders overall.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$385.6 million for the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 14.9% as compared with
approximately HK$453.0 million for the corresponding period in 2021. The
decrease was mainly resulted from the decrease in the revenue of Group’s
construction wastes handling services and a fair value loss on investment
in securities.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$84.3 million, representing an increase of approximately 80.9% as
compared with approximately HK$46.6 million for the corresponding
period in 2021. The gross profit margin increased by 11.6 percentage
points to 21.9% for the Year from 10.3% for the same period of last year.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in the gross profit margin of
the Group’s construction wastes handling services.

Other Income, Gains and Losses

Other income, gains and losses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$19.2 million, representing an increase of approximately 18.5% as
compared with approximately HK$16.2 million for the corresponding
period in 2021.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

The administrative and other operating expenses of the Group for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$129.3 million, representing an increase
of approximately 24.2% compared with approximately HK$104.1 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021. Such increase was mainly due to the
increase in the staff costs.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Impairment Losses under Expected Credit
Loss (“ECL”) Model

Impairment losses under ECL model derived from trade receivables, loan
receivables, other receivables and contract assets of the Group. The
Group classified them as in default when there was an evidence indicating
the assets are credit impaired. The Group recorded an impairment loss of
approximately HK$27.4 million during the Year, decreased approximately
HK$19.5 million compared with HK$46.9 million for the year ended
31 March 2021. The decrease of impairment loss in the Year was mainly
due to the decrease in gross amount of trade receivables on the relevant
construction works.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the Group during the Year amounted to approximately
HK$5.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately 31.6%
compared with approximately HK$7.9 million for the corresponding period
in 2021. The decrease is mainly attributed to the decrease of interest on
the loans from related parties.

Income Tax Credit

Income tax credit for the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$0.3 million, compared with approximately HK$2.5
million for the corresponding period in 2021.

Loss for the Year Attributable to the Owners of
the Company

The loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately HK$58.1 million, compared to a loss of approximately
HK$93.9 million for the corresponding period in 2021. The decrease in
the loss for the Year was mainly attributable to the increase in the gross
profit and the decrease of the non-cash impairment loss under the ECL
model.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Capital Structure

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$997.3 million (31 March 2021: HK$605.1
million) and approximately HK$830.7 million (31 March 2021: HK$385.6
million), respectively. The Group’s debt ratio (which was expressed as a
percentage of total liabilities over total assets) was approximately 83.3%
as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: 63.7%).

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources

The Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through capital contributions from the Shareholders, borrowings, internally
generated cash flow and proceeds received from the placing of the
Company’s shares (the “Share(s)”).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$135.6 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$236.7 million), and the Group did not have pledged bank deposit
(81 March 2021: nil).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of total interest-
bearing debts divided by total equity. The gearing ratio of the Group
as at 31 March 2022 was approximately 61.6% (as at 31 March 2021:
approximately 68.7%). The decrease was mainly due to the Group settled
the loans from related parties with interest for approximately 56.4 million.

Pledge of Assets

During the Year, the Group also commenced its proprietary trading in
digital assets in leading Trading Platforms. The Trading Platform provided
the Group a credit up to certain times of the Group’s own funds in that
Trading Platform. The Trading Platform had the right to liquidate the
Group’s assets with the Trading Platform, if the Group failed to repay the
amounts due and payable to them. Consequently, the Group’s digital
assets constituted a collateral to the Group’s borrowing. As of 31 March
2022, these borrowings were secured by Group’s digital assets at the fair
value of approximately HK$554.5 million (31 March 2021: Nil) as collateral,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Pledge of Assets (continued)

The Group’s motor vehicles with an aggregate net book value of
approximately Nil and HK$1.0 milion as at 31 March 2022 and 2021,
respectively, were pledged under leases liabilities.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any pledged bank deposit
(81 March 2021: Nil) to secure the bank facilities granted to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charge on its assets
during the Year.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved in various
claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time
to time. Although the Group does not expect that the outcome in any of
these legal proceedings, individually or collectively, will have a material
adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations, litigation is
inherently unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its operating
results or cash flows in a particular period.

Risk Disclosures

(i) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and most of the operating
transactions such as revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
Dollar (“USD”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Directors are of the view
that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and that the
Group should have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange
requirements as and if they arise. Therefore, the Group has not
engaged in any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign
exchange risk during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Risk Disclosures (continued)

(ii) Credit Risk

The Group’s credit risk arises mainly from trade and other
receivables, contract assets, bank deposit and bank balances.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at the reporting
dates in relation to each class of recognised financial assets and
contract assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in
the “Consolidated Statement of Financial Position”.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low
as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be close to zero
and no provision was made.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract assets,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers and
counterparties. These evaluations focus on the counterparty’s
financial position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the counterparty as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the counterparty
operates. Monitoring procedures have been implemented to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
and other receivable and contract assets balance at the end of
each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. During the Year, an impairment
loss of HK$27.4 million was recorded comparing to HK$46.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease of impairment
loss in the Year was mainly due to the decrease in gross amount of
trade receivables on the relevant construction works.

From 1 April 2022 to 10 June 2022, the trade receivables, loan
receivable and contract assets subsequently settled, totally, was
approximately HK$31.7 million.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

%% 18 (4R)
R E (&)

(i)

= E R

FrEBGERRIEREEZ REMB
R BREE RITERRIRTTERR - H
HFLAREARSHANSECEITH
EEROGNEERTHEME A&EEME
HNERSEEARASZFEENREM
Bk &I 25 EREE

MIRTREMS AHFHAHAEER
17 MEERBRBRREE AL IR1T7IR
EZEREEREXRENGEATATE
R B -

MBS RHEMBRERRUKREHNEEM
SO REHMASRRETFHESTERNE
B ZE T EEENEFANMBR
moBEMRER EEBREFANEE
BERUKREARFHEEMRBANEEIRIE
OB S 112 7 MU (REREVER E 178Uk (D]
BEER UL AEBR S REHARE
BENE S REMBURRAUAREGHE
EMAF B2 EE ) U RE A e E
RN HEBEEB -NEEEN
BISHERE7T AR BT MBEZS
——H=-R=1T—HILEFEHRTRERR
469 BB AFEREBREALTLE
ERNEMEEIENE 5 EUERRARER
BV PER ©

BZZ__HFWMA—HEZZ__F5A
TH HBEENEZRUGRT  BIRE
MREHEEGHORNTEBET-



FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Price Risk of Digital Assets

To facilitate the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets, the
Group held approximately HK$560.1 million digital assets as of
31 March 2022. The majority of the Group’s digital asset were
stablecoins and other digital assets with higher liquidity, such as
Bitcoin (BTC) and Ethereum (ETH). As at 31 March 2022, the
fair values of the stablecoins, ETH and BTC held by the Group
were HK$257.5 million, HK$92.2 million and HK$62.1 million,
representing 46.0%, 16.5% and 11.1% of the Group’s total digital
assets. In addition, the Group also had borrowings of approximately
HK$352.2 million in form of stablecoins and HK$141.9 million
in forms of other digital assets. Consequently, the Group’s risk
exposures to the price risk of digital assets were limited to the net
balance of each digital asset it held.

Price volatility of digital assets may cause significant impacts to the
Group’s performance. Although the stablecoins are asset-backed
and the market price was approximately US$1 per unit with minimal
fluctuation, the volatility and any unpredictability of the price of such
stablecoins relative to fiat currencies could also cause significant
impact to the Group’s financial performance. Furthermore,
compared with stablecoins, ETH, BTC and other digital assets are
generally with higher volatility.

Risks Related to Safekeeping of Digital Assets

The Group mainly deposited its digital assets in the cryptocurrency
exchanges to facilitate its proprietary trading in digital assets
business. In addition, the Group also held approximately HK$132.9
million digital assets on behalf of its clients as at 31 March 2022,
of which approximately 16.7% were deposited with the Trading
Platform and third party sub-custodian, approximately 83.3% were
deposited in the Group’s own wallets. As the Group had not any
insurance policy for its digital assets under custody, although the
Group has implemented a series of risk control and safeguarding
protocols, any breakdown or closedown of such cryptocurrency
exchanges, potential cyber-attacks or thefts could cause significant
losses to the Group.

Management Discussion and Analysis

EERERRAN

R+ #% 18 (4R)
RIS @)

(iii)

(iv)

BFEENERERE
RREAEANRBFEENBEERZ &
ECE-_H=ZR=+—R FcEERE
BFEEMNSC0.1ERE BT  NERBMAI
NUFEEARTERAEMREERS
HNEFEE NERFERUKXBE - RIE
_TH=B=+—8 FcEEMFAENE
TE M~ UK M R LEAS B A F(E 42575
BEAT - R2EERATK2IBRET
EAREBENHFTEELEEEL6.0%16.5% K%
11.1% Lboh » REIER UBE BTN
HERAS22EB A T RUEMBFTE
EFRRNERG141 988 BT B &
EEEENHFEEESRRROERR
HEFEEMESBERTEEN PR

HFEENERRDIEEHAEERR
RENEAFE BEREBNHEEX
FomENASEMIEZETBERBHMTH
Mo BEHEZEEBMS  ZEFRELER
BOR BN M K AR B A PIFRRIME TR Bl SR A B
ENRBEELEAZE LS HIBEEK
B URB R EREMBFTEERN
mEn— AR o

REFFEEEMAR

AERTERERFTFEELAMBER
R UREEHFEEEBENBEER
Zollth RZEZZE=A=+—H &
EETRKREZEERFBHFEEMN132.9
BEBT HRYNI6T%ABEARZES
RE=ZADTEEAN H83.3%BTFEALRE
ENEEHRE AN AEETEAET
ENHFEELER BEAEMOEH—
R EREERRERZR HERNEE
& 22 53 FIT B9 A2 (] B % o BEL B ~ SB AR RO 448
KBENEBIGHAERMEREAEIE

B BEERARAE
B CEFR

21



22

Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Risk Disclosures (continued)

(v) Investment risk related to trading of digital assets

The Group adopted quantitative trading strategies (the
“Strategies”) for its digital assets investment. The investment
performance mainly depends on market liquidity, Strategies
effectiveness and system reliability. The Group’s Strategies in theory
could make profits over time but could also suffer huge losses
in black swan events. In addition, there are inherent risks with its
trading, including but not limited to errant algorithms, hacking,
liquidation from extreme market moves and counterparty risks.
Although market liquidity is closely monitored by the Group with
the aid of systematic alerting mechanism, under extreme market
condition there may occur huge mark-to-market losses. And such
losses may never recover if stop loss risk control mechanism is
triggered.

The Group has its own proprietary risk management system that
constantly monitors the performance of the Strategies and conduct
data analytics to review and modify the Strategies. The trading
systems are also constantly monitored by the Group, including but
not limited to their memory usage, CPU consumption, network
latency, etc., for any anomalies. The system will also stop trading
if certain circuit breakers such as profit/loss performance or
position limits are hit. The automated system aims to stop trading
before material loss and revoke account access if it detects any
abnormalities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Risk Disclosures (continued)

(vi)

Risks Related to Anti-Money Laundering

Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong Kong has
to comply with the relevant requirements of the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance (AMLO,
Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the guideline issued
by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. To mitigate such
risks, the Group has implemented policies and procedures for
Anti-Money-Laundering (AML) and Know-Your-Client (KYC) that
are initiated during the client onboarding process and are applied
by way of continuous monitoring and reporting. In enhancing
these policies and procedures, we have also considered industry
best-practice and the recommendations of the Financial Action
Task Force (FATF).

In addition, on 24 June 2022, the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region published the Gazettal of the
Amendment Bill in an effort to enhance Hong Kong'’s regulatory
regime for combating money laundering and terrorist financing. The
Amendment Bill sought to introduce a licensing regime for virtual
asset service providers (VASPs) within the regulatory perimeter of
the Securities and Futures Commission. The Group will keep on
monitoring the progresses on the amendments of AMLO.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any significant capital commitment as at
31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

PROSPECTS

The recurrent coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic is now in its third
year. The fifth wave of epidemic in Hong Kong and resultant prevention
measures weighed heavily on a wide range of economic activities as
well as economic sentiment. The Hong Kong economy deteriorated
significantly in the first quarter of 2022, with real GDP contracting by
about 4.0% year-on-year. However, economic activity is expected to
recover as the local epidemic is receding and social distancing measures
are gradually relaxed.

After careful preparation, the Group launched its proprietary investment
in digital assets business in January 2022. During the Year, this new
business recorded a gain of approximately HK$5.0 million. The launch
of the new business has not only improved the yield of its own funds,
but also expanded the Group’s sources of revenue. In the coming year,
the Group will gradually expand the scale of its digital asset investment
business while controlling investment risks, so as to further optimize
the Group’s business structure and create greater returns for its
Shareholders.

During the Year, the Group continued to optimize products such as
the blockchain explorer and “Chaintelligence” (58 £ XBE), which were
In July 2021, the
the first panoramic on-chain

independently developed through the OKLink.com.
Group launched ChainHub (3 _t AHM)
data analysis tool in Greater China Region. ChainHub provides over
10,000 data indicators and seven major thematic data including NFT
and GamekFi, creating an integrated data solution for the users. In
December 2021, OKLink.com completed a website upgrade to support
12 languages, furthering its internationalization process. In addition,
OKLink.com’s blockchain explorer launched 7 new public chains during
the Year, including Tron and Polygon, and currently supports 15 public
chains in total. In January 2022, the Group launched the version 2.0 of
Chaintelligence Pro, which established a better address tagging system
and realized intelligent data analysis and data mining. The Group’s
blockchain technology services including the blockchain explorer of
OKLink.com and the Chaintelligence Pro also contributed a revenue of

approximately HK$0.9 million to the Group during the Year.
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PROSPECTS (CONTINUED)

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to operate prudently in the
Hong Kong market for foundation works and ancillary services and
construction waste disposal services in the face of the unpredictable
market environment. The Group will also make prudent decisions on
further investments in its construction related businesses based on an
assessment of investment returns. The blockchain industry has become
one of the key industries in the digital economy. Riding on the policy
dividend, the development and application of blockchain technology will
become the focus of future industry development. As a leading enterprise
in blockchain technology, the Group will continue to optimize and upgrade
blockchain-related products and actively expand its digital assets related
businesses, including digital asset proprietary investment business,
blockchain technology services, trust and custody business, in order to
continuously bring returns to the Shareholders.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total of 141 staff (31 March
2021: 193 staff). Total staff costs, including directors’ emoluments and
share-based payment expenses for the Year, amounted to approximately
HK$132.5 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$113.3 million). The
salary and benefit levels of the employees of the Group are competitive
and individual performance is rewarded through the Group’s salary
and bonus system. The Group provides adequate job training to the
employees to equip them with practical knowledge and skills.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Disposal of the entire issued shares of Jia Jian
Global Limited

On 7 May 2021 (after the trading hours), the Board announced that Glory
Port International Limited (I ZBEIPR B PRA R, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as the vendor (the “Vendor”), and Mr. Ip
Ying Chau as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”’), pursuant
to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire
the three (3) ordinary shares of Jia Jian Global Limited (the “Disposal
Company”), being the entire issue share capital of the Disposal Company
for the consideration of HK$8.0 million (the “Disposal”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREFRRA

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS (CONTINUED)

Disposal of the entire issued shares of Jia Jian
Global Limited (continued)

As one or more applicable percentage ratios (as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”))
exceed 5% but all relevant percentage ratios are less than 25%, the
Disposal constituted a discloseable transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements. As at 7 May 2021 (after the trading hours),
the Purchaser was a director of the Vendor, Disposal Company and
its subsidiary, Bright Access (HK) Limited, (collectively, the “Disposal
Group”) and some other subsidiaries of the Group. Therefore, the
Purchaser was a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 30 June 2021,
Disposal had taken place in accordance with the terms and conditions of

the Board announced that the completion of the

the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Upon completion, the Company no
longer held any equity interest in the Disposal Company and accordingly
all of the companies under the Disposal Group ceased to be subsidiaries
of the Group and the financial results of the Disposal Group would no
longer be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

For details of the Disposal and completion of the Disposal, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 7 May 2021 and 30 June
2021, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other significant
investments held or any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries
or associated companies during the Year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Entering into the Loan Agreement between
OKC Holdings Corporation and MetaStar
Trading Limited

On 6 June 2022, MetaStar Trading Limited (“MetaStar”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”) with OKC Holdings Corporation (“OKC”), the controlling
shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which OKC agreed to make
available to MetaStar an unsecured loan facility up to the maximum
aggregate amount of US$10 million (the “Loan”, approximately HK$78
million equivalently). Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the availability
period be the thirty-six (36) months commencing from the date of the
Loan Agreement. The interest should be accrued on the outstanding Loan
amount at the rate of two per cent (2%) per annum compounded annually.
All proceeds of the Loan would be used for the purpose of MetaStar’s
business developments.

As OKC is the controlling shareholder of the Company, the Loan
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under the Listing
Rules. As the Loan has been conducted on normal commercial terms
or better to the Company, and the Loan has not been secured by the
assets of the Group, pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, the
Loan received by MetaStar from OKC is fully exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approvals.

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant event after the reporting
period of the Group up to the date of this Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this Report, the Company does not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

2

FEhSREREREFS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ren Yunan (fEX8 R %&4%) (“Mr. Ren”), aged 46, is our executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.

Mr. Ren graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in law
in 1997 and received a master’s degree in law from Harvard Law School
in 1999. He was qualified to practise law both in Hong Kong and New
York, the United States of America.

Mr. Ren is currently an independent non-executive director of Ronshine
China Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 3301). From February 2015 to August
2020, Mr. Ren was a non-executive director of Labixiaoxin Snacks Group
Limited (@ company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1262).

Mr. Ren is the director of certain companies controlled by OKC and the
director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ren was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Zhang Chao (BR#B%4) (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 34, is our executive
Director.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Peking University with a master’s degree in
electronic and communications engineering in 2015 and has extensive
experiences in the information technology related fields.

Mr. Zhang is currently the legal representative and director of each of
three indirect subsidiaries of the Company, namely Beijing OKG Network
Technology Co., Ltd.* JEREBARI EfEALERI AR AR), Beijing OKG
Network Information Co., Ltd.* QL REIRI EH#EABEER EI‘E@ﬂ)and
Jinan OKLink Technology Co., Ltd.* (BRI BN E#ERERARAT).
joined the Group in February 2019.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

* For identification purposes only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Yue (E#%4%E) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 51, is our non-executive
Director.

Mr. Tang graduated from the Concordia College with Bachelor of Arts
degree in 1993.

Mr. Tang is the founder of X Financial (NYSE: XYF), a leading
technology-driven personal finance company in China, wherein he serves
as the chairman and chief executive officer since March 2014. Mr. Tang is
a renowned internet entrepreneur and investor in China. Mr. Tang resigned
as the director of OKC on 25 September 2021. Mr. Tang is a founding
member of the China Entrepreneur Club, a founding member of the
Paradise International Foundation, a member of The Nature Conservancy
China Board, and a founding member of the Beijing SmileAngel Children’s
Hospital.

An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 72.71% of the total issued share capital of the Company
are held by OKC and OKC is therefore an associated corporation of the
Company for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Tang is deemed
or taken to be interested in 8,578,654 shares of OKC, the substantial
shareholder of the Company, by virtue of the fact that his wholly-owned
company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in 3,898,103
ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and 1,612,142
series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of OKC,
representing approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital of
OKC. Each series seed preferred share and series A-1 preferred share
could be convertible into one ordinary share. Thus, Mr. Tang is deemed or
taken to be interested in approximate 7.39% of the shares in OKC.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREIEEBREENES

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang GHBEI% %) (“Mr. Pu”), aged 57, is our
non-executive director.

Mr. Pu graduated from the Journalism School of Fudan University with a
Bachelor’s degree of Arts in 1987. He also obtained his Executive MBA
from China Europe International Business School in 2003.

Mr. Pu has experiences in brand management, media, marketing
and financial services industries. Mr. Pu begins to work for OKCoin
Technology Company Limited, a subsidiary of OKC which is the
controlling shareholder of the Company since April 2019. He was the
vice president of Bluefocus International Limited from April 2016 to March
2019, a subsidiary in Hong Kong of Bluefocus Intelligent Communications
Group Co., Ltd. GEREEBIIREIERI RN ERAE) which is listed
on the Shenzhen stock exchange with the stock code of “300058”
(“Bluefocus”). Bluefocus is a data technology company, the business
scope includes marketing services, digital advertising and international
business, which provides services in marketing communication and smart
technology based on data technology.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Pu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Zhouxin (EFRSEE) (“Mr. Li”), aged 37, is our independent
non-executive Director.

Mr. Li graduated from Fuzhou University with a bachelor degree in finance
in 2007 and received an EMBA degree from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in June 2019. Mr. Li is a senior economist
and certified public accountant in the PRC, a certified management
accountant recognised by The Institute of Management Accountants
in the United States of America. Mr. Li also holds a Certification in Risk
Management Assurance accredited by The Institute of Internal Auditors.
Mr. Li is currently the vice chairman of the 9th Executive Committee of the
Youth Business Association of Fujian Province* (B2 E S FEHE) .

Mr. Li currently serves as a non-executive director of Prosperous Future
Holdings Limited (3R 2k 22 R 28 B R /A B]) (a company listed on the main
board of Stock Exchange, stock code: 1259), Mr. Li worked as an auditor
and assistant manager of the audit division at KPMG Consulting (China)
Co., Ltd. from August 2007 to December 2010; also, from December
2010 to November 2011, he served as finance manager at a company
listed on the main board of NASDAQ.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (EXB%4%) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 49, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Lee graduated from Harvard College with a Bachelor of Arts degree
in 1994. He subsequently obtained his Juris Doctor degree from
Georgetown University Law Center in 1998. Since 1999, he has been
licensed and admitted to practice as an Attorney and Counsellor at Law in
all courts of the State of New York. He is also a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the practice of law. He has been
in Asia since 2000 and has practiced in a number of international law
firms including Orrick Herrington & Sutcliffe, Clifford Chance, Morrison
& Foester and Baker Mckenzie. He is currently a corporate partner at
Dentons Hong Kong and was a partner at Hogan Lovells and Locke Lord.

* For identification purposes only
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EEREREIEEBREENES

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee advises on a broad range of transactions, including equity
offerings and listings (in particular, U.S. IPOs and Hong Kong IPOs with
a Rule 144A tranche), private equity and venture capital, cross-border
mergers and acquisitions, and general corporate and banking. Mr.
Lee’s experience includes representing issuers and underwriters in IPOs
and private placement of equity and debt securities and in connection
with the structuring, issuance, and distribution of fixed and floating rate
bonds, high-yield bonds, perpetual securities, convertible debt securities,
asset-backed securities and derivative financial products. Mr. Lee has
also represented listed companies in securities law compliance matters
and buyers and sellers in merger and acquisition transactions and drafted
corporate documents, including contracts, royalty agreements and license
agreements for start-up companies, as well as other documentation for
general corporate and banking transactions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (B R% %) (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 46, is our
independent non-executive Director.

Mr. Jiang graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in
law in 1997.

Mr. Jiang has been the independent non-executive director of Weigang
Environmental Technology Holding Group Limited (a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code 1845) since January
2019. Mr. Jiang was an independent director of Zhejiang Communications
Technology Co., Ltd.* G I @R AR5 B BRAE)) (formerly known as
Zhejiang Jiangshan Chemical Co., Ltd.) from December 2013 to April
2021, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen stock exchange
(002061.S2) in the PRC.

Mr. Jiang is the managing partner of Zhe Jiang T&C Law Firm. Before
that, he was the vice president of BOCGI Zheshang Capital Co., Ltd.* (Fh
RRENmEXESEERRAR) from 2010 to 2012, a partner of
Hangzhou branch of King & Wood Mallesons from 2008 to 2010 and an
associate of Zhejiang T&C Lam Firm from 1999 to 2007.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Jiang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

* For identification purposes only

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

BIIFRITES (4B)

FREMBEZHREZXZRMUER  SEREE
TR E™ (SRR RIBEF144AMRRRNET 2 X6
BER2REBERAEBERLRER) LERE
RAIEES BRLE Uh—REERIRT
FREZEBRREARETARKEBSAS
RAREBR LEREREHES UKARE
ERFHHNERES SWEESF KEZHFH]
BREBES BERRESATESRERZ
BB BOIRDELF - FTRETAKRLETRFE
Iﬁaﬁﬁiéé\%ﬁ%ﬁ\ﬁ%’é%ﬁé%ﬁtﬁfﬁﬁ%
ZoUERARDXM (BEAEABZEN&E
EREW RN W Uk —REERIRTR
SZEMXHE) -

PR EXPTIREEE SN FHRAERE
AEM LB RABEEEEHS -

BE=FWEILE

BEIRSEE (kL)) » 4658 BRMBILIE
HITES-

BREN—NANECEEERIIRKE EEEE
B &R i o
BREA T -NF-AHEEBRRARBIKIE

J&%@ﬁﬁﬁ@a (RERFrEMR ETZ AT IR
PSR 1845 2 B IEMITE R - BREN -
—=F+RAET—FNAHEEERT
RBREROBERLR GIBANLIILEIR
RBERAE) ZBIUES > ZABZRHITE
2 FYIFE X 5 Fi(002061.82) £ o

BRAERAN I KMEMELRAZEREB A
b BN —E—FEFE T FHARETS

IRRENTBEXESBEEARATZEIBE T
TERNEFEZT-ZFHBETEMHEME
BFRITUNDFRZEB A TR —ANNEETE
TCFMBEENIRMRMOEBEMZRNER
ik

Fr EXPRIREEE SN B E @
AHEM B AREEESHS -

E=ZFWENME



SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Shaoming (F/VBESE) (“Mr. Shi”), aged 40, acts as the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), and
financial controller of the Group.

Mr. Shi graduated from Nankai University with a bachelor's degree in
management in 2003. Mr. Shi is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Also, Mr. Shi is an associate member of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI), (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS)) and The Chartered
Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Shi has more than 10 years of experience in financial management,
financial reporting and corporate governance matters. Mr. Shi worked for
China Finance Online Co. Limited (JRJC, NASDAQ) from 2007 to 2017
and his last position with China Finance Online Co. Limited was deputy
financial controller. He was employed in Shing Wing Certified Public
Accountants from 2006 to 2007.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of construction wastes handling services,
foundation, building construction works and ancillary services, digital
assets related businesses, technology services and other businesses.

During the Year, except for the commencement of proprietary trading in
digital assets services and blockchain technology services, the Group had
no material changes in its business nature and principal activities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and outlook of the Group for the Year are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to
27 of this Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group has a concentrated customer base
and any decrease in the number of projects
with the Group’s top five customers would
adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from a small
number of customers during the two financial years ended 31 March
2022. The Group’s top five customers’ revenue contribution for the
Year was approximately 83.1% (2021: 83.5%) of our revenue, while the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 38.3% (2021:
51.7%) of our revenue. The Group did not enter into any long-term service
agreement or master service agreement with its customers. Furthermore,
the Group’s service contracts for all foundation works and ancillary
services projects and construction wastes handling projects are on a
project-by-project basis. As such, there is no assurance that the Group
will be able to retain its customers upon expiry of the contract period or
that they will maintain their current level of business with the Group in
the future. If there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or
size of projects in terms of contract sums awarded by the Group’s top
five customers to the Group for whatever reasons, and if the Group is
unable to obtain suitable projects of a comparable size and quantity as
replacement, the Group’s financial conditions and operating results would
be materially and adversely affected. Besides, if any of the Group’s top
five customers experiences any liquidity problem, it may result in delay or
default in settling progress payments to the Group, which in turn will have
an adverse impact on its cash flows and financial conditions. The Group
cannot guarantee that it will be able to diversify its customer base by
obtaining significant number of new projects from its existing and potential
customers.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group determines the price of its tender
or quotation based on the estimated time

and costs to be involved in a project, yet the
actual time and costs incurred may deviate
from the Group’s estimate due to unexpected
circumstances, thereby adversely affecting its
operations and financial results

The Group determines the price of tender or quotation based on its
cost estimate plus a certain mark-up margin. The actual time and costs
incurred by the Group, however, may be adversely affected by various
factors, including (i) the specifications, underground conditions and
difficulties of the potential project; (i) the duration of the potential project;
(i) the site location and the conditions and adjacent risk of building
structures nearby; (iv) the resource availability; and (v) our previous
experience with the customer. Significant changes in any of these or other
relevant factors may lead to delay in completion or costs overrun by the
Group, and there is no assurance that the actual time and costs incurred
by the Group would match its initial estimate. Such delays, cost overruns
or mismatch of actual time and costs with the Group’s estimates may
cause its profitability to be lower than what the Group expected or may
expose it to litigation or claims from customers in case of delays. The
Group normally sets an extra mark-up margin on top of its estimated
costs to cater to the possible unfavourable factors above, yet too high a
margin may render the Group’s tender or quotation uncompetitive. There
is no assurance that the Group will always be able to price its tender or
quotation competitively, and if the Group fails to do so, its customers
may opt for the Group’s competitors, thereby resulting in a decrease in
the number of projects awarded to the Group. Even if such a mark-up
margin is accepted and agreed by the Group’s customer, there can be no
assurance that the Group can be fully compensated for the occurrence of
the unfavourable factors above. This would adversely affect the Group’s
operations and financial results. Meanwhile, if the mark-up margin set by
the Group is too low, the gross profits may not be able to cover other
potential loss arising from any unfavourable circumstances during project
implementation. The Group’s profitability in the project would hence be
adversely and materially affected.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing operational control
as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform
their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Neither the Company nor Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd.
(“Shenzhen OKG”) has any equity ownership interests in Beijing OKG
Network Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OKG”). Through the Contractual
Arrangements that Shenzhen OKG has entered into with Beijing OKG,
the Company and Shenzhen OKG exercise effective control over Beijing
OKG and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits. However, the
Contractual Arrangements are not as secure as direct ownership over
Beijing OKG and may not be as effective in providing control over Beijing
OKG as direct ownership.

Beijing OKG has the Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) license to
provide internet content, to operate the portals and to provide value-
added telecommunications services in PRC. If Beijing OKG violates
the Contractual Arrangements, we might have to take legal action to
compel them to perform their respective contractual obligations. Any
legal proceedings could result in the disruption of our business in PRC
and result in substantial costs to us. There can be no assurance that the
results of such legal proceedings would be satisfactory to us.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected.

We believe that the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not
infringe existing PRC laws, regulations, or other mandatory requirements
under PRC law. However, there can be no assurance that the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or judicial
authorities to be in compliance with the existing PRC laws and regulations
or the relevant governmental nor judicial authorities may in the future
interpret the existing laws or regulations with the result that such
Contractual Arrangements would be deemed to be in compliance of the
PRC laws and regulations.

PRC regulations currently limit foreign ownership in PRC companies that
provide value-added telecommunication services (excluding on-line data
processing and transaction processing services, also called operating
e-commerce), which include operating the Internet content platform,
to 50%. In addition, foreigners and wholly-foreign owned enterprises
are currently not eligible to apply for required licenses for operating
the Internet content platform in the PRC (excluding a limited number
of sectors for wholly-foreign owned enterprises located in Shanghai
Free Trade Zone). We are a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands. We and Shenzhen OKG are foreigners and wholly-
foreign owned enterprises under PRC laws and accordingly are ineligible
to apply for the relevant licenses to operate the internet content. In
order to comply with foreign ownership restrictions, we hold our ICP
license and provide internet content through Beijing OKG. As a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group can govern the financial and
operating policies of Beijing OKG and to obtain substantially all economic
benefits from the activities conducted by it. Accordingly, the financial
position and operating results of Beiing OKG are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as if it was the Group’s subsidiary.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

In addition, in July 2006, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (the “MII”) issued the Notice Strengthening
the Administration of Foreign Investments in Value-added
Telecommunications Services (the “MIl Notice”). The MIl Notice requires
that ICP license holders or their shareholders directly own the domain
names and trademarks used by such ICP license holders in their daily
operations. The MIl Notice further requires each ICP license holder to
have the necessary facilities for its approved business operations and to
maintain such facilities in the regions covered by its license. In addition,
all the value-added telecommunication service providers are required
to maintain network and information security in accordance with the
standards set forth under relevant PRC regulations. The MIl Notice
prohibits ICP license holders from leasing, transferring or selling its ICP
license to any foreign investors in any form, or providing any resource,
sites or facilities to any foreign investors for their illegal operation of
telecommunications business in the PRC. The Ml Notice has imposed
a more stringent regulatory environment on foreign investment in value-
added telecommunication business, which introduces an increased risk
of the Contractual Arrangements being challenged by the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities. Therefore, we cannot rule out the possibility that
the relevant PRC regulatory authorities may require that we unwind the
Contractual Arrangements as a result of their increased attention on
companies such as ours following the introduction of the MIl Notice.

In addition, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current or future PRC laws and regulations.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

If the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG and its Registered

Shareholders are adjudicated to be in violation of any existing or future
PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have

broad discretion in dealing with such violations, including:

° require the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements;

° revoke the ICP license of Beijing OKG;

° require us to discontinue the business operations of Beijing OKG
or place restrictions or onerous conditions on such business

operations;
° shut down our oklink.com website;
° levy fines on us and/or confiscate the proceeds generated from the

operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

° impose additional conditions or requirements which we may not be

able to comply with;

° require us to restructure the relevant ownership structure or

operations; and

° take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful

to our business.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences could result

in a material and adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect
to the interpretation and implementation of
the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL”) and how it may impact the viability of
our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.

On March 15, 2019, the Standing Committee of National People’s
Congress promulgated the FIL, which became effective on 1 January
2020. However, there remains substantial uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and the implementation of the FIL and the relevant
government authorities may have broad discretion in interpreting the law,
especially, among other things, the nature of contractual arrangements,
the promulgation schedule of both the “negative list” under the FIL
and specific rules regulating the organization form of foreign-invested
enterprises within the five-year transition period.

The contractual arrangements have been adopted by many PRC-based
companies, to obtain necessary licenses and permits in the industries
that are currently subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC.
While the FIL and its implementation regulations do not define contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment explicitly, we cannot assure
you that future laws and regulations will not provide for contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. Therefore, there can be
no assurance that our control over Beijing OKG through the Contractual
Arrangements will not be deemed as foreign investment in the future.

Our ICP license and the provision of internet content are subject to
foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions and are currently on the
Negative List. If our Contractual Arrangements are deemed as foreign
investment, our Group may not be able to operate Beiing OKG through
the Contractual Arrangements and we would lose our rights to receive
the economic benefits of Beijing OKG. As a result, the financial results of
Beijing OKG would no longer be consolidated into the Group’s financial
results and we would have to derecognise their assets and liabilities
according to the relevant accounting standards. We may recognise an
investment loss as a result of such derecognition.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the
benefits of the assets held by Beijing OKG that
are important to the operations of our business
if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Beijing OKG holds our ICP license that is material to our business
operations. The Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG contain
terms that specifically obligate their Registered Shareholders to ensure
the valid existence of Beijing OKG and that Beiing OKG may not be
voluntarily liquidated. However, should the Registered Shareholders
breach this obligation and voluntarily liquidate Beijing OKG, or should
Beijing OKG declare bankruptcy, the ICP license may be revoked and
its assets may become subject to liens or rights of third-party creditors,
we may be unable to continue some or all of our business operations in
the PRC, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the Year are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company has reserves available of
approximately HK$134,867,000 (as at 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$192,008,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
publication of this Report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Chao (appointed on 31 January 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tang Yue

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Mr. Xu Mingxing (resigned on 31 January 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

On 31 January 2022, Mr. Xu Mingxing resigned as a non-executive
Director due to his other business commitments which required more
of his attention and dedication. Mr. Xu had confirmed that he had no
disagreement with the Board and there were no other matters with
respect to his resignation that needed to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders or the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to the Article 108 of the Amended and Restated Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Tang Yue and Mr. Lee Man Chiu are due to retire by rotation from the
Board in accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association at the
forthcoming 2022 annual general meeting (the “2022 AGM”).

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have power form time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Mr. Zhang Chao (“Mr. Zhang”) had been appointed as executive Director
of the Company with effect from 31 January 2022. Accordingly, Mr. Zhang
would retire from office by rotation in accordance with the Article 112 of
the Articles of Association at the forthcoming 2022 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors, including those to be
re-elected at the 2022 AGM, has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company and their respective associates in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of associated
corporation of the Company

EFRBEL

RZBE-__F=R=+—H BEES (BEFERK
R_E - _FRFEBFAGLEEEEINES)
BRI IAEBRTTRMEE CEERERIN B
AT RAR—FERRERNRBE L -

BESY

RBEE_Z__F=A=+—BHLFE > &_F
TWEI YN EFEETMEAQATERRERMEXR
RN EFENEERITHREBRNSL

ERERTBEITHASRE
7« HHE I 17 R BREE P
EERRE

2!

N_EBE__F=A=+—H EFRERATE
THABURBESEEBZHBEARERTIRE
EAEREE (E&FFES RIS EAIEXVERD
Z D ERERD RE#ESET BESBRRAEAR
BIRIRRE 5 M EAE IR PI 5635218 BF B 2 E 5L i
AN Z R IUR A SRR LM iR R 3R+ P g
EFRBEBITHEARRNE KRBT 2 w3 %
=R

RAAEEBEBRANGE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in
Shares held associated
Name of Capacity/ Position in associated corporation
Name of Director associated corporation Nature of Interests (Long/short) corporation (Note 2)
B RAEBOEE  RAEBEE AR
e L AEE e a1/ #EkE B/ %B) RENRNEE Bt (H22)
Mr. Tang Yue OKC Holdings Corporation Interest of a controlled Long 8,678,654 7.39%
corporation ordinary shares
(Note 1)
E#LE OKC Holdings Corporation REHEERER o 8,578,6545% 7.39%
ERER
(Mrzz1)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(1)

Save

Mr. Tang Yue is deemed or taken to be interested in 8,578,654 shares of
OKGC, the substantial shareholder of the Company, by virtue of the fact that his
wholly-owned company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in
3,898,103 ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and 1,612,142
series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of OKC, representing
approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital of OKC. Each series seed
preferred share and series A-1 preferred share could be convertible into one

ordinary share.
Thus, Mr. Tang Yue is deemed or taken to be interested in approximate 7.39% of
the shares in OKC, an associated corporation of the Company pursuant to the

SFO.

As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
5,370,510,000 shares.

as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of

the Company or any of their associates had, or were deemed to hold,

any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within

the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to

be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code

as at 31 March 2022.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) held
interests in the relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to Rule 22 of
the Takeovers Code), or had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which are required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

KRB "F=R=+—H MESFRA T7
AL WFEFEHAABEBITEAL) AR
B (EERWBTRIRR22EE ) HE#E
H RN RBRERD T HEREES AR
BISEXVER 22357 BR 5 SR A 4 B 2 82 BY 1
DK B > RBLBNRERDRBESKRAE
155 553361R AF EME LA DI AN
15 s

Approximately
Number of percentage
Capacity/ Position Shares held/ of the total
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interests (Long/Short) interested issued shares
B "E/BERE EE BTG
BRMES, AR afn/ ang (138 %RB) MR EE BYBAERE
OKGC Holdings Corporation "o a Beneficial owner Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%
OKC Holdings Corporation (1% BamEAA e
Mr. Xu Mingxing "o (” Interests in a controlled Long 3,904,925,001 72.711%
corporation
HEAE KL ma0 RELERT #aE
Notes: Kzt

(1) Mr. Xu Mingxing (“Mr. Xu”) is deemed to be interested in the 3,904,925,001
shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO. Mr. Xu holds an
aggregate interest of approximately 74.01% in OKC through: (i) his wholly-owned
companies named OKEM Services Company Limited and StarXu Capital Limited
(“StarXu Capital”), which holds direct interest in OKC of approximately 43.89%
and 29.26%, respectively; and (i) SKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY
CHASER’) in which StarXu Capital has interest of approximately 73.52%. As SKY
CHASER directly holds approximately 1.17% interest in OKC, accordingly, Mr. Xu
holds approximately 0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER.

2 As at 31 March 2022, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
5,370,510,000 shares.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company) held any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO or according to information available to the Company as at 31 March
2022.
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Capital)) » EN B BE#EFHOKCH43.89% K&
20.26% EE % ; K(i) SKY CHASER HOLDINGS
LIMITED (TSKY CHASER J) > E-fiStarXu Capitali¥
B#I73.52%K# 15 o FARSKY CHASEREZ#FHOKC
#91.17% 1 5 » R LR STE B BSKY CHASERRI #5%
HOKC#J0.86% 1 1 ©

@ RIEIZEZRA=+—H FABTZEHBTRHS
4881755,370,510,000 A& °

bREMFIIREEN RZE__F=B=+—
B #i\EMAL (EFERERBDEIETHRAER
BRIN M AR B 2RI RAERERN h A EfRE
BRAARIREBER ST MERPIEI6FAFE
ZERMATRBEARADERZERN Z RN

N
KB o



PLEDGE OF SHARES BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the Year, the Group did not have any pledge of shares by
controlling shareholder.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent
company’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or any time during the Year, nor
was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business between the Company or any of
the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the
Directors currently in force.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for 53.7%
and 76.6% respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.
Revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for 38.3% and 83.1% respectively of
the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any material beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees

The Group recognises employees as its valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and
retain appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the Group. The Group
has also adopted an annual review system to assess the performance of
its staff, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to
salary raises and promotions.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

EHESFRERX

RIBEHZRMER SLEEFERMKINETH
BERHMAMBEETNERNERFMOAER
BHEBERERDEETESHE

AAFEAEENFIRME BN EERITH
ABE R R B BT
9H o

FEERRILERS

RAEFERN AEERAREERAAHERS
HEGHRBEEDEEAERNTEEANR
FBHREAS3. 7% M 76.6% FEBRATRAKREKR
ERAHBEIREDIEAERREEER
U 75 4B RE38.3%5283.1% ©

EFNHEAREBMBEANEMRR GLESEF
FH B AR AB BETRASRU L) HER A
ERLARERARHEFTHEEENEAED R

S
m

BlES -F P (HEmRHt
ATHEZRME
3=

rEBREEAEHESEE -AERRHEARS
DB RS AR B RIGBEEREE
METITRAEEN - BFEETRE  A&H
TFERMFERFIE  (FARERFHAERM
HRETRERNERE



KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS
(CONTINUED)

Customers

A majority of the Group'’s five largest customers have good business
relationship with the Group and the Group will therefore endeavor to
accommodate their demands for the Group’s services to the extent its
resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger scale
projects in the future. The Group’s experience as a quality subcontractor
in handling foundation works and construction wastes handling projects
also give business advantage to the Group’s customers to ensure
projects are executive in accordance with their quality standard.

Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors to meet the Group’s customers’ needs in an effective
and efficient manner. The Group has set up an approved list of suppliers
and it selects the suppliers from the list based on the quality of materials,
timeliness of delivery, previous experience and length of partnership with
the supplier, competitiveness of the price offered and reputation of the
supplier.

Subject to the Group’s capacity, resources level, types of construction
works, cost effectiveness and complexity of the projects, the Group may
subcontract certain works to other subcontractors. The Group maintains
an internal list of approved subcontractors and carefully evaluate the
performance of its subcontractors and selects them based on the
experience, quality of works, timeliness of completion for past projects,
reputation in the industry, past performances, cost and the Group’s
relationship with them.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this Report, the
Company has maintained the sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules during the Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this Report, none of the Directors
are considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 12 August 2015. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate employees
to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Company.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
(10) years from the date of the adoption unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms stipulated therein.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed
the maximum number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules,
currently being 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date
of the 12 August 2015 (being 5,262,000,000 ordinary shares).

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme must not, during any 12-month period, exceed the maximum
number of shares permissible under the Listing Rules (which 1% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of the 12 August 2015,
being 526,200,000 ordinary shares).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The exercise price shall be at least the highest of () the closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant; and (i) the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five (5) business days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
exercise period of share option granted under the Share Option Scheme
is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, and shall expire
no later than the 10th anniversary of date on which the share option is
granted.

During the Year, no option of the Company was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed. As at the date of this Report, there was no
outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Report relating to the Share Option Scheme, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$869,000 (2021: HK$176,000).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the Company considered each of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of our Group are set out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted Share Option Scheme as incentive to eligible
employees, details of the schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” of this Report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules. Details of significant related party transactions
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitute a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Shenzhen OKG has entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing OKG, pursuant to which the
Company would gain effective control over, and receive all the economic
benefits generated by, the businesses operated by Beijing OKG.

The principal businesses of Beiing OKG is engaged in the provision
of internet content, the value-added telecommunications services
and holding the ICP license which businesses are either restricted
or prohibited for foreign investment in accordance with the Special
Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign Investment Access
(the “Negative List”). Beiing OKG is significant to the Group as it hold
the requisite licenses, approvals and permits that are material for the
Group’s business in the PRC, including the ICP license.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

E%&ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬂiﬂ)\iﬂ@
by

EEFEkAERLRRSHMA RS
BEN A M B|REMEE -

B EL SR

ARBIRIHFENEEG U AERLREESE
KRR EEBNFMBRLEE BEEAER
NWEEXE EFheMEEZENBAAKRRTERA
EEE T ImER

FABEHRMBRESBFRHEGEREERN
B ZFESBIFIBNARE (FBRES B —&
o

FERSRIFEMERS

REEER > ARBLEET EHRAVB14AE
PRiERE T EHARAE TR A EHIBIKR
RIERENRERZ AFEEERS - —HK
EBBREPETHNEAMESRZFBENG
B BRERMELB - ZEHESRZLEBR L
TR R ENATIRERERS -

BRRH

FRYTER EREIIERER BRI LIRS
Wagk (RH%H) @B ZABREISEIE
REREREBEREFERNNEEEENE
BELENFAREN -

IREBERE T EZXESRFRHEBERN
B BESERBRIFEICPER  REIIER
BEARHNEEER (BEEE) (AEEE))
ZEEBRFHE LI ERE I RER B
FEREAEERR RRAEBEAHAERTD
BEXBMEEMEEZ 2L EME L ERFFA
% EIEICPRRER o



CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Information on the Contractual Entities and
their Registered Owners

Beijing OKG was established as a limited liability company in the PRC
on 23 April 2019. The registered shareholders of Beijing OKG were
Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng, holding 99% and 1% of its interest,
respectively. On 21 April 2020, Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng
transferred all their interests in Beijing OKG to Mr. Ren Yudong and
Ms. Xi Ling. Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, holding 99% and 1% of its
interest, became the new registered shareholders of Beijing OKG (Ms. Luo
Min, Mr. Li Guangpeng, Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, collectively, the
“Registered Shareholders”).

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the results of operations and
assets and liabilities of Beiing OKG are consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Company under HKFRS as if it
was subsidiary of the Group.

Beijing OKG has not yet generated revenue during the year ended
31 March, 2022, and its total assets as at 31 March, 2022 was
approximately HK$0.6 million (31 March 2021:
million).

approximately HK$0.3

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”) on 23 April 2019 pursuant to which Beijing OKG
agreed to engage Shenzhen OKG as its exclusive provider to provide
Beijing OKG with technical consultation and services, including but not
limited to, network information technology management and support,
technical consultation, promotion planning and market promotion,
technology and software research and development, management
consultancy necessary for the operations of Beijing OKG and Beijing OKG
agreed to pay service fees to Shenzhen OKG according to the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement. Without the prior written consent of
Shenzhen OKG, during the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, Beijing OKG shall not directly or indirectly accept from any
third party services which are the same or similar to the services under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement (continued)

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements may be terminated by
Shenzhen OKG by giving Beiing OKG 30 days prior written notice of
termination and shall be terminated upon the transfer of the entire equity
interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG or its designated person
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the exclusive option agreement
(the “Exclusive Option Agreement”) pursuant to which Shenzhen OKG
has the irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right to purchase, or to
designate one or more persons/entities to purchase, from the Registered
Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Beijing OKG and
from Beijing OKG all or any part of the assets of Beijing OKG at any time
in Shenzhen OKG'’s absolute discretion in accordance with the provision
of the Exclusive Option Agreement and to the extent permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration in relation to purchasing
shares or assets from the Registered Shareholders shall be RMB1 or the
lowest price as permitted under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

The rights may be exercised at any time within effective period of the
Exclusive Option Agreement. The Exclusive Option Agreement became
effective upon execution and shall remain effective during the continuance
of Beijing OKG. The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be terminated upon
the transfer of the entire equity interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG
or its designated person pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Equity Pledge Agreements

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement’) pursuant to which the Registered
Shareholders granted a first priority of security interest in their respective
interests in the registered capitals of Beijing OKG as collateral security
for securing the performance of their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements or for any and all of the secured indebtedness under the
Contractual Arrangements. During the pledge period, Shenzhen OKG is
entitled to receive any dividends arising from the equity interests in Beijing
OKG held by the Registered Shareholders.

The Equity Pledge Agreements shall remain effective until all the
agreements (other than the Equity Pledge Agreements) underlying the
Contractual Arrangements have been terminated.

Power of Attorney

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG and the Registered
Shareholders executed a power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”),
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders irrevocably authorised
Shenzhen OKG to exercise their shareholders’ rights in Beijing OKG,
including without limitation, the rights to () attend shareholders’ meetings,
(i) exercise voting rights, (i) appoint directors, supervisors and senior
management, (iv) sign and file documents with relevant governmental
authorities or regulatory bodies, and (v) authorise to exercise any of the
shareholders’ rights on the winding-up or dissolution of Beijing OKG.

The Power of Attorney became effective upon execution and shall remain
effective during the continuance of Beijing OKG. It shall be terminated
unilaterally by Shenzhen OKG by giving prior notice.
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EETHRE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders, where applicable,
has signed an undertaking on 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020 (the
“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings, each of
the spouses of the Registered Shareholders irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of and unconditionally
and irrevocably consented to the entering into the Contractual
Arrangements among the respective Registered Shareholders,
Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG;

(ii) the spouse will not claim any interests or rights in the equity of
Beijing OKG and the Registered Shareholder shall be entitled to
dispose of the equity interests in accordance with the Contractual
Arrangements without his/her consent;

(i) the spouse shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements and
take all necessary actions to ensure the appropriate implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements; and

(iv) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests in Beijing OKG,
he/she will be subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to such Contractual
Arrangements, and at the request of Shenzhen OKG, he/she will
sign any documents in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Reasons for adopting the Contractual
Arrangements

The Company and its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG,
as foreign investors, are prohibited from holding equity interests in the
Beijing OKG, which provides internet content and holds ICP license for
which foreign investment is prohibited or restricted. In order to conduct
the business in China through Beijing OKG, the Group, through its
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG, entered into the
Contractual Arrangements.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual

Arrangements, including:

U

(i)

(iii)

(v)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements.

If the PRC government determines that these Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not comply with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change in the future, our business could be materially and adversely
affected.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
and implementation of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL" (P EANREMEINGIRE L)) and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the benefits of the assets
held by Beijing OKG that are important to the operations of our
business if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a dissolution or
liquidation proceeding.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “KEY RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES” on pages 34 to 42 of this Report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and the Group’s compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion as and when they arise;

(ii) the relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group
will report regularly, to the senior management of the Company
in relation to compliance and performance conditions under the
Contractual Arrangements and other related matters;

(i)  External legal advisers or other professional advisers will be
engaged, if necessary, to assist the Board to deal with specific
issues arising from the Contractual Arrangements and to ensure
that the operation and implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements as a whole will comply with applicable laws and
regulations;

(iv)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure that Beijing OKG shall retain and continue to hold all relevant
intellectual properties, required for the purpose of maintaining and
renewing its operating licenses and permits as required by relevant
PRC government authorities, and going forward and to the extent
permissible under PRC laws and regulations;

(v} the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our
Group is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its
Shareholders as a whole; and

(v  independent non-executive Directors will continue to play
an independent role on the Board by reviewing the effective
implementation of the procedures and controls referred to above
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year
(2021 Nil).

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has acted as the auditor of the
Company for the Year. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors for
the coming year will be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include, among
others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control
Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Dumping at Sea
Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Boilers and Pressure Vessels Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection laws,
we had implemented an environmental management system which
was certified to be in compliance with the standard required under ISO
14001:2004. Apart from following the environmental protection policies
formulated and required by our customers, we have also established
our environmental management policy to ensure proper management
of environmental protection and compliance of environmental laws and
regulations by both our employees and workers of the subcontractors on
among others, air pollution, noise control and waste disposal.

During the Year, our Group did not record any non-compliance with
applicable environmental requirements that resulted in prosecution or
penalty being brought against our Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 61 to 89 of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the Year under review, there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of Group.

On behalf of the Board

Ren Yunan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, China

28 June 2022
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to upholding a high standard
of corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and performance of the
Group and to safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The Board
reviews the Company’s corporate governance practices from time to
time in order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance.

Set out below are the principles of corporate governance as adopted by
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles of and complied
with the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
as set out Appendix 14 (the “CG Code”) to the Listing Rules contained
therein except for the following deviations:

i) The code provision A.2.1 (which has been changed to C.2.1
since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director, the Chairman as
well as the chief executive officer (the “Chief Executive Officer”)
of the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of
both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person
provides the Company with strong and consistent leadership,
allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation
of business decisions and strategies, and is beneficial to the
business prospects and management of the Group. Although
Mr. Ren performs both the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer is clearly established. These two roles are
performed by Mr. Ren distinctly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(iii)

The code provision A.4.1 (which has been changed to B.2.2 since
1 January 2022) of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors have not been appointed for any specific
terms as they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company. The requirement for non-
executive directors to be appointed for a specific term has been
deleted following the amendments to the CG Code since 1 January
2022.

The code provision A.6.7 (which has been changed to C.1.6
since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code stipulates the independent
non-executive Directors and other non-executive Directors, as
equal board members, should give the board and any committees
on which they serve the benefit of their skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and
active participation. They should also attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

In the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 August
2021, one independent non-executive Director was unable to
attend due to his other business engagement.

The Company will adopt the new CG Code with effect from 1 January

2022, the requirements under which shall apply to the Company’s

corporate governance report in the financial year commencing on or after

1 January 2022. The Board will examine and review, from time to time,

the Company’s corporate governance practices and operations in order

to meet the relevant provisions under the new CG Code and to protect

the Shareholders’ interests.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions with terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors
and all those Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year and up to the
date of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to
ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendation to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;

S8 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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EEERES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS (CONTINUED)

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of
the Company; and

5Y to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the “Corporate Governance Report”.

The Company continues to review and enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three Board committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees’ responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Board Composition

As at the date of this Report, the Board of Directors currently consists
a total of seven members, including two executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ren Yunan (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhang Chao

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tang Yue
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this Report.

Independence of Directors

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the
view that all of the independent non-executive Directors meet the
guidelines for assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled Board meetings during the Year. Additional
meetings would be arranged as required.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of
each meeting and each Director may request inclusion of matters in the
agenda. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board mesting
is given and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other
Board meetings. The Company also aims at sending the agenda and the
accompanying board papers, which are prepared in such form and quality
as will enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at a reasonable time before the intended date of
a Board meeting.

All Directors have accessed to the Company Secretary who is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board and
Board Committee meetings, drafting and final versions of which would be
sent to Directors for comments and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes are recorded in
sufficient detail the matters as considered by the Board and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
(if any) expressed. Minutes of the Board and Board Committees meetings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are opened for inspection by any
Director or Board Committee member.

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director has a conflict
of interest in a matter (including material transaction with connected
persons) which the Board has determined this matter to be material, a
Board meeting will be held instead of by way of resolution. Independent
non-executive directors, who have no material interest in the transaction
should be present at the board meeting.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS E5g (@
(CONTINUED)
Attendance records i SC 8%
During the Year, a total of four Board meetings and a general meeting MA&EE > BRITAENRETEETEZR—K
have been held and the attendance records are as follows: RAE HERHROT !
Board Meetings General Meetings
Attended/ Attended/
Directors Eligible to Attend Eligible to Attend
HE SERUE HEEERLE
£5 EEEFENRHE RERAEHNRE
Executive Directors
BITESR
Mr. Ren Yunan 4/4 1/1
FESBEE
Mr. Zhang Chao (appointed on 31 January 2022) N/A N/A
RBEE R BEZH&—HBA=+—HEZD A ~EA
Non-executive Directors
ERITES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (resigned on 31 January 2022) 3/4 11
BRAERLE (WZB__F—HA=+—H&MD
Mr. Tang Yue 4/4 11
ke
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang 4/4 11
A
Independent non-executive Directors
BIiERITES
Mr. Li Zhouxin 4/4 1/1
FEMEE
Mr. Lee Man Chiu 4/4 0/1
EXBRE
Mr. Jiang Guoliang 4/4 11
BEIRSTE

B EEERARAT
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Directors’ Continuing Professional
Development Programme

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other relevant
statutory requirements and the Company’s business and governance
policies.

Directors are continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company Secretary shall update the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

As at the date of this Report, all Directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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(CONTINUED)

Directors’ Continuing Professional EENESERESE @

Development Programme (continued)

During the Year, the Directors have participated in the continuous FR > EEZEREFEEERE > FHFHIW
professional development and the details are set out below: T

Attending or giving

talks at seminars/

webinars/

Reading materials conferences/forums
HE RS
Ef g%

R SmiEEE R RIRE

Executive Directors

WITES

Mr. Ren Yunan v v
EEB &L

Mr. Zhang Chao (appointed on 31 January 2022) v v
RBAEE W2 _F—B=1+—HEZMD

Non-executive Directors

EMITES

Mr. Tang Yue v v
E#E

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang v v
BRI E

Independent non-executive Directors

BIAIFHITES

Mr. Li Zhouxin v v
FEMEE

Mr. Lee Man Chiu v v
=L

Mr. Jiang Guoliang v v
BERSEE

BN ERERERAT
—zx-Zxggy 09
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Access to information

The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Company will, upon
request, provide separate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the
Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management
pertaining to matters to be brought before the Board for decision as well
as reports relating to operational and financial performance of the Group
before each Board meeting. Where any Director requires more additional
information from the management (other than the management provide
proactively), each Director has the right to access to the Company’s
senior management separately and independently to make further
enquiries if necessary.

Appointment, Re-election and Retirement of
Directors

Directors should be nominated by the members of the Board to fill
casual vacancies or as an addition to the existing Board. The Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection
criteria and identifies candidates with the appropriate expertise and
experience for the appointments of new Directors. The Nomination
Committee then nominates the most suitable candidate to be appointed
to the Board.

Pursuant to the Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors shall for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director
so appointed by the Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual
vacancy, only until the next following general meeting of the Company or,
in the case of an addition to their number, until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible for re-election
at such general meeting.

Mr. Zhang Chao, Mr. Tang Yue and Mr. Lee Man Chiu are due to retire
by rotation from the Board in accordance with Article 108 and 112 of
the Articles of Association at the forthcoming 2022 AGM. The retiring
Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Since 9 July 2018, Mr. Ren Yunan serves as an executive Director,
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. He is responsible for
formulating corporative and business strategies and making major
operational decisions. With the support of the executive Directors and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and received
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, the number of which must represent at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to
be independent of the management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgments. The
Board considers that each of the independent non-executive Directors
brings his own relevant expertise to the Board and its deliberations. None
of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or financial
interests with the Group nor has any relationship with other Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin
(the chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu and
Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of Nomination Committee shall be:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
candidates on merit and contribution the candidate will bring to the
Board with due regard to the board diversity policy of the Company
(the “Board Diversity Policy”);

° to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into
account the Company’s business model and specific needs, the
challenges and opportunities facing the Company and therefore,
what skills and expertise are needed on the Board in future;

° to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

° to review regularly the Board Diversity Policy;

° to review regularly the contribution required from the Director to
perform his responsibilities, and whether he is spending sufficient
time performing them; and

° to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and Articles of
Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Nomination Committee are set
out below:

Nomination Committee

ReZEY

Corporate Governance Report
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REFER RLESEFETMREZH BHE
EEEMENLELCHEEIIWT :

Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HEEREEZEEEERNREY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
FEMEE (F/E)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
EQiEhs

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

BRI RTE

Board Diversity Policy
Purpose

This policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
of Directors.

Vision

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

Policy Statement

A truly diverse board includes and makes good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of directors. These differences have been taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit while taking into account diversity
(including gender diversity).

2/2
2/2

2/2
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the “Corporate
Governance Report”, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy.

Review

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

Disclosure

The Board Diversity Policy will be published on the website of the
Company for public information.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together with its measurable
objectives set for implementing, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives has been disclosed in the “Corporate
Governance Report” of this Report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE RBZEET (B
(CONTINUED)

Nomination Policy R EE

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the folowing EH& B RMA—IBRLEEF > ERHIUTIRS
nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination and R \ZEERIELRETEENER (RELK

appointment of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”). ®) o

1.  Selection Criteria 1. EREEE
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria REEZEEENTEABEREALTE
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships (the ERFBEEEE BTN IIRE (TEEFE)) @
“Selection Criteria”):
. character and integrity; ma i R i(E

. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

° willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments;

o requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as amended from time
to time) and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the Listing Rules;

° Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the
Board; and

° such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2. Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination

which are

pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles of

Association as below:

(a)  Appointment of New Director(s)

U

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria
to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship;

if the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable);

the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the
appointment of appropriate candidate for directorship;
and

for any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting of
the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in the Selection Criteria to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or
the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2. Directors Nomination Procedures (continued)
(b)  Re-election of Director(s) at General Meeting

(i) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/her
attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board;

(ii) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in the
Selection Criteria; and

(i)  the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (the chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Li Zhouxin and Mr. Jiang Guoliang, the majority of the Remuneration
Committee are the independent non-executive Directors which complied
with rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The main responsibilities of Remuneration Committee shall be:

o to consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about
their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee should have access to independent
professional advice if necessary;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should, include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

° to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

° to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

° to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

° to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and Articles of
Association or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration industry practices and
norms in compensation, in addition to the performance relative to the
industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The Company
reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration
of the market practice, competitive market position and individual
performance.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Remuneration Committee are
set out below:

Remuneration Committee

HINEEE
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REFER HNEEEETMRGZE-
EERMENLELCHREIIMT -

#HZ

Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HeEREEZEE RN

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Chairman)

EXBEE (FFE)
Mr. Li Zhouxin
FREMEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BRERSKE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee in accordance
with the requirements of among Listing Rules with terms of reference
aligned with the provision of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point
for communication among other directors, the external auditors, and
the management as their duties relate to financial and other reporting,
internal controls and the audits; and to assist the Board in fulfiling its
responsibilities by providing an independent review of financial reporting,
be satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls and as to the efficiency of the audits. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Zhouxin (the Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Lee Man Chiu
and Mr. Jiang Guoliang.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee shall be:

o to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
Company'’s external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the the Company’s external auditors and
any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the the Company’s external auditors’
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; The Audit
Committee should discuss with auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences.
Should there be more than one auditor firm participating, the Audit
Committee shall ensure the coordination between them;

2/2
2/2

2/2
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

° to develop and implement policy on engaging the Company’s
external auditors to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor includes any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the audit firm or any entity that a
reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant information
would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally
or internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed;

° to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the annual report
and accounts and half-year report, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

° to develop and review our Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and monitor our Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice if it considers necessary. It is given
access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable resources
to discharge its duties properly.

During the Year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the re-appointment of the external auditors. The
financial statements for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings including
to review the interim financial results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2021 and to review the Group’s financial results
for the year ended 31 March 2021 for submission to the Board for
approval, review the internal control and risk management systems of
the Group, oversee the audit process and make recommendation on the
re-appointment of the external auditors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings. The attendance
records of each member of the Audit Committee are set out below:

Audit Committee
BiZEEg

Corporate Governance Report
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REFE BREEERTINER -BEREE
EEMERHFERERIN T XET

Committee Meetings Attended/
Eligible to Attend
HE HeERUEZESEENRY

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)
FEMELE FEFE)

Mr. Lee Man Chiu
FXBEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang
BEREE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for consolidated financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 134 to 142.

Annual audit fees of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year payable to the external auditors are approximately HK$1,100,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$1,150,000). In
addition, approximately HK$260,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2021:
HK$260,000) was incurred for other non-audit services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements of the Company
and the responsibilities of the external auditors to the shareholders of the
Company are set out on pages 139 to 142 of this Report.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged Mr. Shi Shaoming as the Company Secretary.
During the Year, Mr. Shi has attended over 15 hours of professional
training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities)
of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who
oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of
the members in the framework are described as follows:

[ Bz E R R A BB 42 1

BEREND HEaSAREE RN IEH G E R

BT HA NI - RETZFHET A EEMIEHR
EREMEFERNER  BEEHNERBERM

»T‘JZEHETET,\DEETE]HH@%ZT%"‘
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D) BRFTEREZES BREEEREE
EEEHRREERANBESFENR B

B 5%
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AEENRBREEERKERARENTEZR
BT
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Board of Directors

Audit Committee
BEEY

Board level

EXEEERE

Senior management level

SHREEEET

Management of subsidiaries
MiE AT EIE
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EEERES

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES ()
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and REEERATERTENEEHE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)

Member Main Responsibilities

4= FERE

The Board ° Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
EE extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

RIABREEHBER TENAEEBEREUBERTAZNEREEREZE ;

° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and

BIUIMMRHBERBEMNEREERERAEZERGE ; &

° Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems annually.

SERNAREERNEIERFIENERE

Audit Committee ° Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the risk
BIZEEg management and internal control systems;

WEIEEGERRRKT U R EERAMIEG G ENRARATER

° Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective systems;

HEEENREREERAENFE BREEZECETHERLAMNHE ;

° Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a
proper position, review and supervise its performance;

BANBESABEEARENEREFRBENMIL BEREEHNR ;

° Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk
management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

BEHMAERHEENSHEEARBGREREERER R (FHBBERIZEGFIRE ;

° Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to the
Board on a regular basis;

ERREFEREAEEANRRA LB FRAIHTEME

° Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable
persons to implement risk assessment;

REREEE R ERBREEMEE NETRRTE

BRI E S ERARAT
SIEZlgey OD
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EEERES

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIBES (4B)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and AEEERATERNTENEEHE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)

Audit Committee (continued)
BEZEEE (@)

Management of subsidiaries
@A ABER

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group
level;

EEEDEREENRREERRARER

Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;

BEEEARRBTLBREREBRARERRS

Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or

actions adopted by relevant organisations or individuals beyond the risk management

system;

BEBEARMEIBET 4 E R EEA BASSE AR B E IR R LUIMREHR
RHITE ;

Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects
to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and various risk
management reports; and

mé*ﬁ%ﬁ)\é%ﬁ%ﬁk%%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ )%%@ﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬂﬂﬁ E1T BRI B 5T 0
MERDHER BRRXART GRS ERRERRS

Carry out risk management for other major issues.

HHMBAMEETRARERE

Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk
assessment manual formulated by the Group;
Fee AR /88 A B 42 BR AN 52 B 1) 7 Y R B s T A = 1T R B 5 A

Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the
business;

BERRAENBADHEBNRARTEER

Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;

HERBABBHAMMERERE ;

Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of relevant risk management measures; and

EENBASEENIZXFRRKERARERERARMNE ; &

Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation
of the risk assessment projects.

mtEAREEBRARTEEENER BT AIE-
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL R ERRAIBES ()
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The process used to identify, assess and RAR#HER bR EEEKXRERE
management of principal risks F
The risk management process of the Group is described as follows: AEBNREEERZFMNT

Risk identification

R\ 38 )

Risk analysis
=l

Risk response
BB FE

Control measures
et HIEr= il

Risk control

JR BRI

Risk management report
R ERRE

identify the current risks confronted.
i B R EERAY R o

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of occurrence.
HEERBEREENAEETRED T

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy.
BRI 2 A0 3 b FE 5 UG 2 T PR R B Y SR B o

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.
B 3 2R 55 B PO BB 428 1) 48 T R U R BRUTR AR ©

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control
measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy.
FFE R R B 5 1) B b 30 B8 R AE FE A PO BB 4 1 HE A e 1R R P FE Y ER B N B RUE AT o

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate and
report an action plan.
s BT R I R BRI 5 BUAS R o SFIREAT B 1 800 0 LU P 3R o
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EEERES

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The process used to review the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control
systems and to resolve material internal
control defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and
communication channel that is functional within the whole basic risk
control procedure, connects different levels in the reporting system and
different departments and operation units, so as to ensure timely, accurate
and complete communication of information, laying a solid foundation for
the monitoring and improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly inspect
and examine their own risk management process in order to locate
the shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible. Their inspection
and examination reports are delivered to the Group’s risk management
department in time.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no material issue relating
to the Group’s risk management and internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of
the Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate and
adequate qualifications and experience, resources for accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, and adequate training programmes
had been provided during the Year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines general principles for the determination and
payment of dividend to its shareholders. Dividends or distributions by
the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and the
Dividend Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. The Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in
the future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends
received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in
turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to
pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and
payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue to
review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify this
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no
assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend will be
paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the
website at www.okg.com.hk, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access. Latest information on the Group, including annual and
interim reports, announcements and press releases, are updated on the
Company’s website in a timely fashion.

The 2022 AGM will be held on 8 September 2022. The notice of the AGM
will be sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
AGM.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
special general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at Shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the
Company Secretary by written requisition to the Company Secretary at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 902-903,
9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary or relevant personnel by mail
to the Company’s headquarters and principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There has been no significant change on the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year and up to the date of this Report.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in construction wastes handling
services, foundation, building construction works and ancillary services,
digital assets related businesses, technical services and other businesses.
During the Year, the Group has commenced its proprietary trading in
digital assets and blockchain technology services in order to broaden the
Group’s source of income.

While striving for performance, the Group pursues business sustainability
by being a responsible corporate citizen and is committed to maintaining
high standards of business practices in relation to environmental
protection, social responsibility and corporate governance.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
(collectively “the ESG Report”) published by the Group, which discloses
the Group’s measures and performance on sustainable development
topics in a transparent and open manner, in order to increase
stakeholders’ confidence and understanding on the Group.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) set out
in Appendix 27 of Main Board Listing Rules. The ESG Report provides
a simplified overview on the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”") performance of the Group. The information in the ESG Report
is derived from the Group’s official documents and statistics, as well as
the integration and summary of monitoring, management and operational
information provided by subsidiaries of the Group.

Reporting Year

All the information in the ESG Report reflects the performance of the
Group in environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April
2021 to 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”). This ESG Report is
released annually by the Group for public review so as to improve the
transparency and responsibility of information disclosure.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT (CONTINUED)
Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s key business activities carried
out in Hong Kong, which include the segments of foundation, building
construction works and ancillary services, provision of construction
wastes handling services, which represent the Group’s major source of
revenue and income. For section of employment related to social aspect,
it also covers the operation in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).
After the comprehensive completion of data collection system and the
Group’s deepening in its ESG work, the Group has identified certain
environmental, social and governance issues (‘ESG issues”) relevant to
the Group, which have been assessed by considering their materiality and
importance to the Group’s principal activities and stakeholders as well as
the Group. Those identified ESG issues and Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”) have been disclosed in the ESG Report.

ESG Governance

The Group has developed its internal strategies and policies with aims
to create sustainable values to its stakeholders, thereby to large extent
minimising the Group’s adverse impact on the environment. In order
to carry out the Group’s sustainability strategy from top to bottom, the
Board has ultimate responsibilities for ensuring the effectiveness of the
Group’s ESG policies. The Group has established dedicated teams to
manage ESG issues within each business division of the Group and kept
monitoring and overseeing the progress against corporate goals and
targets for addressing climate change. Dedicated teams with designated
staff for management of ESG issues has been assigned to enforce and
supervise the implementation of the relevant ESG policies cascading
through the Group. With the forward-looking guidance and well-designed
plans of action to address underlying ESG matters, the management and
responsible teams keep reviewing and adjusting the Group’s sustainability
policies to satisfy the ever-changing needs of its stakeholders on a
regular basis. For instance, through the assignment of the responsibility
of progress tracking to different management-level positions, the Group
is committed to achieving an excellent performance in ESG management
while also remaining competitive compared with its peers. Details of the
Group’s management approaches in both the environmental and social
aspects are elaborated in different sections of this ESG report.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (CONTINUED)
Stakeholder Engagement

The Stock Exchange has set forth four principles for reporting in the
ESG Guide: Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, which
should form the basis for preparing the ESG Report. As The Stock
Exchange emphasises, stakeholder engagement is the method by which
materiality is assessed. Through stakeholder engagement, companies can
understand wide-ranging views and identify material environmental and
social issues.

The Group believes that effective feedback from stakeholders not
only contributes to comprehensive and impartial evaluation of the
environmental, social and governance performance, but also enables the
Group to improve the performance based on their feedback. Therefore,
the Group has engaged in open and regular communication with
the stakeholder groups including shareholders and investors, clients,
employees, suppliers, subcontractors and government. Over the years,
the Group has continued to fine-tune our sustainability focus, addressing
pressing issues. The table below shows how the Group communicates
with key stakeholder groups and their respective concerns.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Stakeholders and engagement methods

Stakeholders
HnE

Shareholders and
Investors

RRRGEE

Clients

xR

Employees

B8

Suppliers
HRERE

Sub-contractors

S

Government

B

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Interests and concerns

Fl i K B

Return on investment and dividends
BERHRMEER

Corporate strategy and governance
ERBERER

Risk mitigation and management

R B R e B

Robust operation management
BROKEEIE

Full compliance with laws and regulations
EHEETERRER

Sustainability performance of operations
EENFERIR

Technical capability

AT AE

Security control

22

Compliance and risk control
SR&EEERE

Compensation and benefits
N B f2 A

Occupational health and safety
HWERREREZD

Career development opportunities
BEEEES

Corporate culture and well-being
rEIAE R @At

Long-term partnership
RIS IEB MG

Ethical business practices
BEEEERR

Supplier assessment criteria
R TR

Effective project management
BYIEEEE

Occupational health and safety
BERRERZE

Ethical business practices
BEEEERR

Sub-contractors assessment criteria
DR

Laws and regulation compliance

ERERAR

IR - HERERRS
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BIRERBEL

Engagement channels
BHRE

Annual General Meeting

RRBERS

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

FRHERRR SR R~ (R AL
Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars

RE-KGBEBX

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

FRHERRR E R R~ (R AL

Regular meetings and communication
EHEEAER

In-house training programmes

P ERIE I 5t &

Performance reviews and appraisals
RIS K sTE

Promote career development and
enhance competence at all levels
HEHHEERRRESSEENHRESN

Procurement processes
REEMAZ

Audits and assessments
Bz E

Annual health, safety and environment
seminars

FERR -ZE2 KRGS

Training sessions

HEEIER2

Regular progress meetings

EHEE G

Audits and assessments

BTG

Review latest laws and regularly
inspection
BREMMERREHRRSE

BR EiR R ERAT
ZEEFR
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RIR HERERRS

ABOUT THE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Stakeholders and engagement methods
(continued)

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and
stakeholders have different expectations on the Group. The Group will
maintain communication with stakeholders continuously, collect opinions
from stakeholders through different forms and more extensively, and make
substantive analysis more comprehensively. At the same time, the Group
will enhance the reporting principles of materiality, quantification, balance
and consistency, in order to define the content of the ESG Report and
presentation of the information that is more in line with the expectations of
stakeholders.

Climate Change

Climate change is one of the most complicated challenges faced
by mankind’s in the new century. Global warming gives rise to more
frequent extreme weather conditions including changes in precipitation
mode, droughts, floods and bushfires. Rise in sea level will make tens
of thousands of people in densely populated coastal areas and island
countries homeless. Faced with all sorts of problems, individuals,
corporations and governments must take immediate actions to tackle
climate change.

Over-emission of greenhouse gases is the main factor in causing
global climate change. To achieving a low carbon economy, the Group
is committed to reducing its greenhouse gas emissions through the
approaches of mitigation and adaptation. For example, the Group has
strived to mitigate the risks brought by climate change through the
adoption of various environmental policies and measures; and promoting
energy saving measures and habits in office.

Under the extreme weather events, the construction site facilities and
public transportation systems may be damaged and the safety of our
employees is threaten, which may cause the interruption to the Group’s
normal business operation. The Group has considered potential physical
risks of climate change to its daily operation such as storms, fires
or heatwaves and through implementation of the relevant protection
measures such as formulating emergency response plans to handle the
relevant issues arising from extreme weather in a timely manner and
adopting flexible working arrangement to minimise the risks.

The Group are focused on reducing emissions in its operations, engaging
suppliers to reduce emissions in supply chains, strengthening the
resilience of its business and using its voice to advocate for collective
action.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is aware of its responsibility and required commitment to the
environmental sustainable development of its on-going operations. The
Group supports “Green Environment” ideas, comply with the requirements
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”) laws,
and specific guides in the industry, and are committed to the social
responsibility of protecting the environment as a responsible corporation.
The Group has implemented policies and taken measures to ensure the
business and operation to be energy, water and resources saving.

The Group had not been subject to any reported violation in relation to its
emissions and waste discharges or other environmental issues during the
Reporting Period. The Group did not note any material non-compliance
with environmental laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

A1. Emission and waste

The Group understands that construction projects may generate
pollution and impact to the environment undoubtedly. In order to
govern the environmental management and minimise the impact
caused by the Group’s operations, the Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management and
established an environmental management system in accordance
with ISO14001, which has been integrated into our daily operations.
The Group is strictly committed to complying with requirements
stipulated in the relevant local environmental laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

The Group has a dedicated department to coordinate and
implement environmental protection measures and objectives, and
to address environmental issues. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction sites,
covering planning, materials procurement and various construction
procedures. The Group has also adopted measures concerning
noise, dust, pollution discharge, waste, energy, carbon emissions
and biodiversity to ensure that all business activities are strictly in
compliance with local laws and regulations.

In specific, the Group has also adopted the relevant procedures
and guidelines relating to construction waste management, in order
to govern the management and disposal process of construction
wastes and maximise the reuse and recycling.

The Group strives to constantly improve its environmental
management system, in order to minimise negative impacts on the
environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the environment or on the
Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Exhaust gas emissions from construction sites may cause nuisance
to both construction workers and communities nearby. During
the construction and demolition process, air pollutants including
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx”), Sulphur Oxides (“SOx”) and Particulate
Matter (“PM”) are generated by construction machines and
vehicles, which consume diesel and other fossil fuels.
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A1. Emissions and waste (continued) Al. iR EEY) (48)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued) EERBER (48)
Exhaust Gas Emission Performance Summary BRI R IBE

2022 2021
Type of Exhaust Gas Unit Quantity Quantity

—E-C —_F_—

EEmiEsy ==L v g2 #HE
NOx kg 73.85 321.44
EaE=R (1wt T
SOx kg 0.40 0.53
TR (et T
PM kg 6.57 25.94
FBRIY) T

For the level of exhaust gas incurred by the Group has decreased
comparing to FY2021, due to the decrease in number of projects.
The frequency of travelling between construction sites and dumping
sites decreased compare to last Reporting Period.

For the construction business, air pollution is one of the key
concerns on environment protection. Related operational procedure
is established to control air pollution and emissions of dust, fumes,
smokes, obnoxious gases and other air-borne particulates within
the legal limits and tolerable limits of the affected persons.

For dust emission control, vehicles carrying sand, debris or other
materials likely to generate dust are fully covered with canvas before
leaving the site. Besides, all vehicles are jet-washed prior to leaving
the site. Wet work method should be used during cleaning of higher
units/floors to reduce dust. The storage areas for sand, cement and
aggregates are located as far as possible from sensitive receptors
such as public housing, school, hospital and hostel etc. Stockpile
of sand and aggregates etc. at concrete batching plant is sheltered
with canvas if possible to prevent dust pollution. To control the
emission of fumes, obnoxious gas, proper disposal and removal
of unwanted air-conditioner is needed and use of halon-containing
fire-extinguishers is prohibited. All gas cylinders should be kept at a
safe place and all the precaution should be taken during hot work/
activities. Air quality of sites is monitored to ensure the effectiveness
of the mitigation measures.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions Performance Summary (continued)

To further manage exhausts gas emissions, construction related
plants and vehicles are properly maintained to ensure compliance
with related standards. All applicable machineries are certified with
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (‘NRMM”), which are recognised as
more environmental friendly and emission-compliant operations.
The Group has also installed air pollution control equipment on gas
discharge ports of compressors, crawler cranes and generators.
Designated employees are employed to conduct regular
maintenance and monitoring work on machines and vehicles to
ensure no heavily polluted black smoke are emitted. Marked Ultra-
Low-Sulphur Diesel (‘MULSD”) are used for the diesel-operated
constructional plant on site. Random testing of sulphur content
is performed for the plant. Records of MULSD consumption and
testing are properly kept.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The Group is committed to maintaining the quality of the
environment, using clean energy, reducing pollution and waste
during operation to reduce and even eliminate the adverse impact
on the environment from operation activities and emissions.
Over the years, the Group has been committed to environmental
protection and has adopted a number of appropriate measures
and monitoring methods to ensure that its responsibility for
environmental protection has been fulfilled.

In the business operation, the Group actively advocates energy
conservation and emission reduction by continuously increasing
investment in environmental protection. Through the use of clean
energy and other measures, the Group reduces the generation of
exhaust pollutants from the source to avoid environmental pollution.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) IRIE (48)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued) Al. HEBYI R EEY) (48)
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued) BERE (CREERE) BER (@)
GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continued) BERBHNFZREE (&)

2022 2021
2022 Intensity? - 2021 Intensity? -
GHG Scope Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
et &
“ECCE BE— T BE—
RERBHE B 2 SEBEEEQ gs SEBEE

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
ERRERBHN (BEN)

- Diesel and petrol consumption Tonnes 64.81 3.81 92.48 2.64
- SRR WA

Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)

R E REEHEH (#E2)

- Electricity consumption Tonnes 68.82 4.05 66.50 1.90
-BEE ]

Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)

HittE R EREHw E@ES)

— Electricity for processing fresh water, Tonnes 11.21 0.66 15.48 0.44
sewage and others

- R B R EMETERNE N ]

Total GHG emissions Tonnes 144.84 8.52 174.46 4,98
AERBESHE WA

According to the figures above, the intensity of GHG emissions in BiE LMER T2 "HERIEENA
FY2022 per project has increased mainly result from the indirect EREBREEENSEEREBBRAE
GHG emissions. The reason was that certain Group’s number of REHFR -RRAXNEBRMAENETIE
projects in which the site electricity consumption borne by the EMRGEEER _S - —FEAtL%
Group has maintained compared with FY2021. The Group has BFAE M- - "N EEFMELL
initiated a target of 1% emission reduction in term of intensity by AEBRERE LU FHEREER LD
FY2027, compared with the baseline year of FY2022. 1% BZe
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

Note:

1. As at 31 March 2022, the total number of the completed and ongoing
construction projects of the Group was 17 (2021: 35 projects), which

would also be used for calculating other intensity data.

In addition, climate change has been an increasing concern for
parties including the Government of HKSAR, general public and
investors. The Group has thereby responded through limiting
carbon footprints of its construction activities. The Group also
strives to use regionally sourced materials produced within 800km
from the construction sites, where applicable, in order to reduce
exhaust gas and GHG emitted from freight transportation.

Consumption of electricity is proved to cause indirect GHG
emission through its generation process. The Group has
implemented measures as stated in section A2 “Energy Efficiency”
below in order to reduce energy consumption, and thereby
minimising carbon footprint.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Hazardous wastes

Due to the nature of the projects being participated during
the Reporting Period, the Group does not generate significant
hazardous wastes. However, the Group still strives to mitigate the
hazardous wastes generated from the operation process as much
as possible.

Sewage Disposal and Management

Wastewater generated from different construction sites without
proper treatment may block nearby drains and cause pollution.
As a result, the Group takes further necessary steps to monitor
and maintain wastewater quality. The amount of wastewater
consumption during the Reporting Period is stated at Aspect A2
“Water Efficiency Management”.

The sewage produced from construction sites that need to be
discharged would first be treated at the sewage treatment tank, to
ensure it meets the requirements of the sewage discharge license
and would subsequently be discharged through sewage drains.

Nonpoint source water pollution is often caused by land runoff,
seepage and drainage after precipitation and construction works.
To avoid leakage of wastewater to nearby communities, temporary
drainage network has been established on site to systematically
collect all discharges. Designated workers are appointed to
properly manage the drainage system and ensure that there are no
blockages of drains and sewers caused by debris and sediments.
Sandbags are placed along the site boundary to prevent any
leakage of surface runoff where possible.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management

Wastes are well managed on-site. To ensure waste management
process is both environmentally acceptable and in full compliance
with statutory and contractual requirements, waste handling,
transportation and disposal procedures are implemented. The
Group provides guidance and instruction on waste management
to its site staff. The Group has adopted a number of measures to
manage the disposal process of the waste, including but not limited

to:

According to the relevant waste management policies
of the Group, all departments and workshops classify
the solid wastes generated and take measures for their
comprehensive utilisation to reduce disposal pressure. For
example, inert and non-inert waste are identified before any
disposal;

The subsidiaries of the Group engage qualified waste
collectors to collect all kinds of domestic and construction
waste. These wastes collected are disposed at the
designated landfill and treatment facilities; and

Non-hazardous waste should be recycled and utilised as
much as possible. Non-hazardous waste and hazardous
waste that cannot be reused and recycled will be entrusted to
a qualified waste disposal company for disposal.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

In its operation, the Group inevitably generates waste. However,
with effective waste disposal strategies and policies, the Group
has minimised the environmental risks and impacts caused by

BEYEERER (8)

EREBER > NEB N AIB Rt ELRE
Yo PRT > IRFE A MBI BEY) R IR SR BE Ko Y
&> $$%E%E%ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬂﬁ&

the waste. During the Reporting Period, the consumption volume Fa RE RSB AEEE
generated by the Group is set out as below: 25155 /Iﬁ %%E%Z@JQD—F ;
2022 2021
2022 Intensity - 2021 Intensity -
Types of non-hazardous waste Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity unit per project
b Sabent T
ZEZZ BE- “EC-F BE—
EBEBEMES Efi ¥= SEBERE ¥E SEBEEEMQ
Inert construction and demolition (‘C&D”) Tonnes 18,926 1,113.26 20,119 574.83
waste disposed to public fill facilities
(including sands, bricks and concrete)
MAREERHEENIRERRE () B9 B
(BiER) BEFTR B L)
Non-inert C&D waste disposed at landfill (bamboo, Tonnes 2,697 158.65 2,372 67.76
plastics, glass, wood and other organic
materials)
RUBRIEIRS R BRI IREEY i
(77~ 2B TR ~ A e E A B A1)
Mixed construction & demolition waste Tonnes 279 16.41 326 9.31
REHEE ]
Total non-hazardous waste Tonnes 21,902 1,288.32 22,817 651.90
REEYHES W

According to the figures above, the intensity of non-hazardous
waste has increased compared with FY2021. It is mainly due to the
Group’s certain projects had involved more deep excavation works
which incurred much larger quantities of non-hazardous waste.
The Group has initiated a target of reducing waste level in term of
intensity by 1% by FY2027, compared with the baseline year of
FY2022.

The Group has been proactively looking for solutions to minimise or
even avoid generation and disposal of wastes. The Group has then
applied the 4R principles of waste reduction — i.e. reduce, reuse,
recycle and replace — where feasible. For example, to reduce waste,
all construction activities are specially planned by professionals
to minimise and avoid unnecessary resources input throughout
the piling process. To reuse materials, construction workers are
directed to reuse construction materials whenever possible in the
same project or in other projects of the Group. For example, extra
steels are reused to produce construction materials and to support
temporary construction works on site.

B LB B -2 —MFRL &
EEYNZERFREM -EXEZRNEE
BETEHEIRNABZEIRZES &
TEESEEEY -H_E__MENEE
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FEFREREBEREAVEERREL R
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

Other measures for handling wastes include:

Placing recycle bins around the Group’s offices, properties
and construction sites to collect general wastes such as
cardboards, metals and plastic containers, and hence
encouraging recycling practices.

Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource

efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations,

and is committed to optimising the use of resources in all of its

business operations. With a view to enhance efficiency of the

use of resources, the Group had incorporated the concept of

environmental protection into the process of site construction

operations and office administration.

Regarding to material conservation employee in sites should:

Prevent overflow or spillage when transferring diesel;

Keep timber, rebar, cement and other materials in good
condition;

Reduce, reuse and recycle papers, timber and other
materials where possible;

Power off compressors, generator sets, bar-bending
machines, etc. when not in use and regular maintenance of
equipment/machinery is required to increase the efficiency;

Switch off air-conditioners, lights, fans and radios etc. when
not in use to reduce electricity consumption. Water at the
vehicle-washing bay shall be reused and re-circulated.
Workers/sub-contractors shall switch off the pump and turn
off the running hose when not in use; and

Use ECO mode of all applicable construction machines.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

In addition, the Group also promotes to its employees in office the
concept of efficient use of resources, included but not limited to:

Keep doors and windows closed when air conditioners are
in operation, and maintain the optimal temperature at 25.5
Degree Celsius;

- Encourage the staff to save water and reduce domestic
sewage in toilet;

- Turn off all lights, computers, office equipment and air
conditioners when no one is in office;

- Use double-sided printing instead of single-sided printing;

- Implement the 3R principle, which is “reducing, reusing and
recycling”; and

- Make use of scanned or electronic copies, in the ordinary
course of business.

Energy Efficiency

Energy policy has been developed to set energy conservation
as one of the Group’s fundamental policies. All employees must
implement the adopted measures, including the purchase of
energy-efficient products and services, and assume responsibility
for the Group’s overall energy efficiency. By building up an energy
management system, the Group develops and regularly reviews its
energy objectives and targets to continuously enhance the Group’s
energy performance.

The Group’s energy management system is applicable to:

- The construction of buildings;

- Construction of site formation, roads and drainage and
foundation works; and

- Building activities to keep, restore and improve the facilities of
buildings and surroundings.

& f O
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Efficiency (continued)

The energy management system is implemented with annual review
to assist in achieving its energy saving objectives and targets.

Moreover, monthly monitoring of the usage of electricity and water
and other materials is implemented. Unexpected high consumption
of electricity will be investigated to find out the root cause and take
preventive measures.

Other energy use efficiency initiatives include:

- Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of
high efficiency equipment; and

- Using Lighting Management System to control power voltage
and save energy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s consumption in electricity,
non-renewable fuel (“NRF”) including diesel and petrol were:

2022 Intensity -

IRIR (8)
A2. HiRFIR ()

ﬁ?ﬂz (mﬁ)
IEEREERM TG EETIR UREE
iﬁﬂﬁﬁnﬁﬁ&%ffﬁ

5N A EE S A B RIKE R EMAT
EABR - WHRFINSERE BHZ
BRETRE  SWRARE LKA
B o

HR R EAME BRI -

— BBRZESHRE BEEMNKE
HER S &

—  ERARAEEERGENBERERE
R|BEHMER ZEBNEN RHERS
HEIFBFAEME (BEBEMEL) BB
P

2021 Intensity -

2022 Unit per 2021 Unit per
Energy Type Unit Quantity project Quantity project
ZEIZE ZEIZEBE- B -F TR -ERE-
AEREEE Bl ¥= SEBREEEQ Y& i@IEE B
Electricity KWh 134,944 7,937.88 130,392 3,725.49
BN TRE
NRF KWh 262,552 15,444.23 348,984 9,970.97
Ela=R g TRE
Total 397,496 23,382.11 479,376 13,696.46
st

According to the figures above, the intensity of energy consumption
per project has increased when comparing with last Reporting
Period. The reason was that certain number of projects in
which the site electricity consumption borne by the Group has
maintained compared with FY2021. The Group will continue to
maximise energy conservation in its office and construction sites
by promoting efficient use. The Group has initiated a target of 1%
energy consumption reduction in term of intensity by FY2027,
compared with the baseline year of FY2022.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Water Efficiency Management

The Group strives to use water efficiently in every aspect of
business. The Group takes water management very seriously and
closely monitors water use at construction sites. Hence, the Group
sets up water recycling systems at most construction sites. During
the Reporting Period, the water consumption volume (is also being
treated as the amount of sewage discharge) of the Group’s office
and project site offices is set out as below:

2022 Intensity -

IR - HERERRS

IRIE (48)
A2. EEH A (@)

AkHmEE

IR REBAB - AEETOER
KEREE BYGEERETIMAK A
I ZEBAEABMHREEIHREKER
BRZR -NBREHEN xE@ARAE
REBMEMEENAKE TFREAS
KEFRE) BT

2021 Intensity -

2022 unit per 2021 unit per

Water Consumption Unit Quantity project Quantity project

ZZCCF ZZCCEBE- 2T ZT”-FRE-

Rk Bl ¥e SEBEE §s BEERSQ

Water cubic meters 17,962 1,056.59 12,371 363.46
X AR

According to the figures above, the intensity of water consumption
per project has increased when comparing with last Reporting
Period. The reason was that certain number of projects in which
the site water consumption borne by the Group has maintained
compared with FY2021. The Group will keep on monitoring the
water consumption volume and strive to remain the intensity at a
low level. The Group has initiated a target of 1% water consumption
reduction in term of intensity by FY2027, compared with the
baseline year of FY2022.

Packaging Material
The Group does not produce any finished products. Therefore, the

Group does not consume significant amount of package materials
for product packaging.
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RIR HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

Although the Group has minimised the impact on the environment
and natural resources, as an ongoing commitment to good
corporate citizenship, the Group endeavours to minimise negative
environmental impact of the business operations and its investment
portfolios, in order to achieve a sustainable development for
generating long-term values to stakeholders and community as a
whole.

The Group regularly assess the environmental risks of the business
and adopt preventive measures as necessary to reduce the risks
and ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations.

Noise Abatement

Noise nuisance is often caused by construction works, especially
during foundation piling operations. Therefore, the Group strictly
monitors and controls noise levels, and complies with such relevant
laws and regulations.

The Group will carefully identify any Noise Sensitive Receiver
(e.g. hospitals, educational institute, court of law, etc.) before
commencement of any construction works. Due care is exercised
by implementing more noise abatement measures and maintaining
more stringent noise control standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

(continued)

Noise Abatement (continued)

Due to the nature of percussive piles which involve the driving of
piles by percussive means (e.g. hammering), this type of piling
works is perceived to generate a substantial amount of noise and
vibration while the machines are in operation. Careful scheduling
of noisy piling works during less sensitive hours is engaged to
minimise noise nuisance to nearby neighbourhood. The hours of
operation which allow to perform foundation works are set out in
the Construction Noise Permit issued by the government. Under
certain circumstances, the Group may apply for special extension
to carry out works during prohibited hours but such special
extension would only be granted on the basis that the works
carried out will not disturb others, e.g. for construction sites located
at remote areas with no nearby residents. Although the Group
strictly adhere to the restricted hours of operations stipulated in
the Construction Noise Permit, complaints from nearby residents
regarding disturbances caused by operation of the machinery may
be received. Under such circumstances, the Group will work with
the relevant authorities and the person making the complaint with
the aim of introducing measures (e.g. installing sound proofing) to
mitigate the disturbances caused.

Machinery and equipment with Quality Powered Mechanical
Equipment (“QPME”) labels recognised by the Environmental
Protection Department are proved to be quieter, more
environmental-friendly and efficient as opposed to standard
equipment. The Group ensures that QPME labelled machineries
and equipment to lawfully operate in every construction site.
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RIR HERERRS

SOCIAL
B1. Employment and labour practices

The Group is convinced that employees are the vital factor for the
success of an enterprise. The Group treats all employees the most
valuable assets of the Group and also the most intimate and reliable
partners of the Group in promoting sustainable development.
Through establishing a comprehensive employment management
system, the Group provides employees with a competitive,
attractive, fair and inclusive working environment. The Group makes
every effort to let all employees fully unleash their value, and create
a workplace where employees feel satisfied and relaxed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations including the “Employment Ordinance” in Hong Kong,
the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and the
“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” in the
PRC that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment and Remuneration

The Group strictly follows relevant employment laws of Hong Kong
through the establishment of Human Resources Policy. The Group
offers an array of benefits on top of those required by laws and
regulations in Hong Kong to cater for the personal needs of the
Group’s employees and care for their physical and psychological

development.

Working environment °

TEIRIR AR T AR
Benefits °

w@mH medical care, etc.;

g

B1.

NG

BER

BER% TER

FERREREDEEMINRRITE
FEERGRE—UEITERERREEN
EE PRAEREEARELERERNE L
ERBAURNBH -BERYEENER
EEGE AEEAESREARFE -
R5I77- R FHRBN T FRIE  AEEK
NES—(UEEHMERDELEBHREE
BEi#—E< BT RE =R RIS

PREBSHER FEBTLANEFEHE
EREEATEZENBREEREMHIERA
ERFOER (BEEEN(EREAD ; $
BCPEARKEMBESEE)M(TEAR
HNBEBBERE)) 21

RS B i B

FEBBBFIEANERBRBBETE
AEBERERZ cEREHREBEEK
ERRELSINNZREEF Lime R EH
RENBAZZ BOERENSOEE-

Provide site worker with shower rooms and common rooms;
RNEREE ;
Provide meal allowance, business trip allowance, overtime compensation,

RHERR - LEMSY - TEER#HE BRRES ;

Physical and psychological development e
of employees and

EBESLER

Regularly host various sports activities, book sports venues for workers;

RS EREERE RETEIESHHE , &

e Host cultural and sports events; and
HEEREEEE ; &

e Conduct training course such as emotional management, occupational

safety, etc.

BMEREE BELZESIEIIRE

The Group hires employees through open recruitment, fair
competition and strict appraisals and recruits workers on a selective
basis. The Group also continues to strengthen local young talent
recruitment in Hong Kong by selecting suitable fresh graduates
through recruitment activities and employment fairs in universities.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1. Employment and Labour Practices

(continued)

Promotion and Career Development

The Group cherishes and care for the employees. Therefore, the
Group attracts outstanding talents to join the workforce through
establishing a comprehensive promotion system so that the
workforce can thrive and grow from strength to strength.

The Group regularly conducts industrial benchmarking evaluation
and salary surveys for adjusting our remuneration level and
decisions on promotion in a timely manner. The Group adopts a
responsibility system for operational and management objectives,
and have developed systematic business indicators as an important
basis for annual performance and career development assessment.
Supervisor also discusses the performance with employee in
facilitating an effective 2-way communication for advancement.
Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers rewards to
employees in encouraging continuous improvement.

Communication Channels

The Group pays great attention to communicate between the
management and employees at all levels as the Group believes
that good communication will help enhance the employees’
sense of belonging, boost work morale and create a harmonious
workplace. The Group maintains regular communication with
employees through overall progress reporting, career development
assessment, seminar for new joiners, mailbox for recommendation,
and employee satisfaction survey. Survey forms are distributed
in understanding employees’ opinions on work responsibility,
working environment, organisation and employee relationship,
compensation and benefits, etc. The Group also encourages
employees at all levels to contribute valuable insights on the
Group’s business operations and corporate culture through various
channels to their respective superiors, the person-in-charge or the
human resources departments of their respective entities or the
officers-in-charge at all levels.
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RIR HERERRS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1. Employment and Labour Practices

(continued)
Gender Equality and Anti-discrimination

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination are one of the core
parts of the Group corporate culture. The Group strives to establish
and maintain a diversified, inclusive and non-discriminatory work
environment as the Group appreciates different backgrounds and
professional experience of all employees. In Employees’ Handbook,
the Group undertakes that all employees, regardless of gender,
age, nationality and race, are entitled to equal job opportunities and
benefits, covering training, promotion, transfer, dismissal, layoff,
employment conditions, etc.

The Group has also formulated the policies to provide clear
and specific guidelines on prohibition of any direct or indirect
discrimination and harassment concerning gender, marital status,
pregnancy, disability, family status, race, etc. Employees are
welcome to report any suspected cases through the whistleblowing
mechanism to protect the rights and interests of each employee.

Employment Key Performance Indicators (Employee)

Total workforce structure as at 31 March 2022

it (&)
B1. EHRS TR (@)

MBI T R R 4R

FTEREMAREEDAEREEXERN
BOBnZz— FEBEEMAEINS
BEERRIFER BRI REE—E
L HERERRN TFRIG  AEH
E(REFM)TAE FIERETHE
MR FE - BEREREEETENT
EREREN SEEI - S A2
B MERERFT ZHE-

AERTEHERER  HENEZEREE
B AR BR 18 > B E B M B~ B RAR T~ 1R
TR RER AR ERFRENER
RHBHARNES - cEBENEEE
BRI S M RRE AR RES (e
BN Rt o

ERRARENIER (B8)

RIEBE__F=ZA=+—HMNESHEHAE
%

2022 2021
Ratio of Ratio of
number of number of
Number of male to male to
Age employees by  Total number female female
Region Gender below 30 Age 30-50  Age over 50 gender  of employees employees employees
RERIZINM ZZ-”F  ZZ--f
HE MR 0FEUT 30Z507% 505 & EEAH BEAY ZBuEBLA BRESLH
Hong Kong Male 3 22 10 35
&5 Bl 46 32:1 2.3:1
Female 2 7 2 1
g
PRC Male 32 30 1 63
HE Bl 9% 20:1 1.6:1
Female 16 16 - 2
g
Total Male 3B 52 1 98
1zt Bl 141 231 2.2:1
Female 18 23 2 43
g
Total 53 75 13 14

CH
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RIR - HERERRS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED) tg @&

B1. Employment and Labour Practices B1. BER&% TER (&
(continued)
Employee turnover rate in the Reporting Period WEHAMES MR
2022 2021
—s-= —E-—f
Employee total turnover rate BEZMRKLEE 96%? 33%
By age group e u AR B
Age below 30 305 AT 32%3 33%
Age 30-50 30E505% 63%° 38%
Age over 50 5058 A & 546%? 26%
By gender R E
Male B4 89%° 40%
Female gegi 112%?3 16%
By region & & o
Hong Kong a8 252%3 38%
The PRC lE) 20%? -
Note 2: Employee total turnover rate = Total number of employees leaving M2 - BEAAMALLE-FARRE T HE
employment during the year/Total number of employees as of 31 March TR TE-A=+—HETHEH100%°
2022*100%.
Note 3: Employee turnover rate by category = Total number of employees leaving MIzES : =48R B D HE B MK L E=12 58582 HY
employment during the year by category/Total number of employees as of FRNBMBETIHAYM HE_T__F=A
31 March 2022 by category*100%. =+—B#ZEEDHE T4LE100%°
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RIR HERERRS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety

itg @
B2. BEREZE

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment. Therefore, the Group has adopted an occupational
health and safety system in accordance with relevant occupational
health and safety laws, rules and regulation. It is managed by
safety department for the benefit of employees and subcontractors’
employees. In order to recognise the potential risk in the daily
operation, the Group conducts regular risk assessment to provide
employees with a safe and healthy working environment.

With effect from March 2015, the Group’s occupational health and
safety has been implemented in compliance with the requirements
of OHSAS18001:2007 international standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations (i.e. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance) in Hong
Kong that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Every case of injury (if any) is required to be reported to the
Group and be assessed individually under the internal guideline
procedures set. The Group is pleased to report that the rate of
accidents and injuries during the Reporting Period was extremely
low with zero fatal accident, similar to last financial year.

Health and safety key performance indicators (Employee)

AERRINREHZE2REENIFR
FoA FEERBEMBERREAR
2ER - RARERFMBERERRZE
Rt HRZEMFIRERBREREDHBE
EEFDFIEE -ATHINBBEEDTH
BERE AEBETEHETRRIMG S
RERHZ2EENIIFRIR

BEE—hF=-R AEBNEERE
K% 2 B & BOHSAS18001:2007E R AZ #
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REBESHN REBTFNEREBEE
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BREBERX WH) HERNEAERRES
WRE B HIER N ER TS5 B 7T B BT
e ZEBIRARS > RRSHRBFI
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F—RFERE-

REAZZHBEYIER (BS)

2022 2021 2020
e T —F TEEFE
Number of work injuries THEAH 8 3 4
Rate of work injury (per hundred THEX (EERES)
employees) 5.67 1.65 1.78
Number of loss days due to work ATEHEBLXITIEBH 1,789 1,911 N/A
injuries RER

Note 4: The Group had not developed any mechanism for collecting theses

information in 2020.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Management

The Group has developed the policies for safety and health
management, and formulated specific work guidelines according
to various scopes and procedures of construction to guarantee the
safety and health of all employees, sub-contractors and the people
affected by any relevant construction works.

The Group has formed corporate safety management committee
which chaired by the Directors to formulate safety policies and to
supervise its implementation. Top and senior management are also
required to attend safety conferences to discuss safety policies.

The Group’s safety officer is responsible for setting up safety plans
for workers before carrying out their duties in construction sites,
inspecting machines and equipment to ensure they are safe to be
used. The Group also carries out regular safe walks in order to
maintain safe working environment and site tidiness, handles safety
incidents and keeps safety records properly.

The Group also arranges regular internal safety audit. For example,
the Group offers equipment which comply with safety requirements.
The Group also monitors and supervises its compliance with
health and safety systems to ensure compliance with statutory and
contractual requirements. Appropriate improvements for the existing
system are also considered and implemented if necessary.

Safety Training

The Group provides regular safety training to the staff, including but
not limited to:

Providing appropriate safety training and instructions for the use of
new production methods and equipment;
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Training (continued)

Providing safety and health training, which covered the Group’s
safety and health policy, organisational structure for construction
site safety, safety code of conduct, engineering characteristics
and potential risks, emergency response procedures and other
relevant guidelines on safety management to all new employees at
construction sites; and

Carrying out safety hazard clearance, emergency drills, safety
advocacy and other related activities on the construction sites.

Employee Health Management

The Group offers comprehensive health care coverage for entire
employee such as health benefits. The Group also organises work-
life balancing activities for employees, implemented green projects
at office and carries out other activities to promote healthy living
practices. Health and safety communications are provided to
employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness
of occupational health and safety issues.

In order to deal with the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has
implemented several measures to prevent the spread of virus
including but not limit:

Providing personal protection equipment including surgical marks
and hand sanitizer to our staff and workers;

Offering rapid test kit and requesting our staff and workers to
submit test result before entering office and sites during peak of the
5th wave of pandemic; and

Flexible working hour to avoid congestion in workplace and public
transport.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B3. Development and Training

The Group believes that fostering and retaining talent is a core
part of ensuring sustainable development and strengthening its
competitiveness and regards staff as a strategic partner. Therefore,
the Group strives to provide support for employees’ career
development and personal value enhancement through systematic
training programmes.

Training and Development Policies

In order to improve employees’ level of skills and knowledge and
maximise their potentials, the Group has organised workshops,
seminars and training programmes for employees covering various
aspects. Employees are also encouraged to enrol in external
study opportunities and job-related courses to enrich themselves
through acquiring higher professional skills and qualifications.
Training courses and seminars designated by the Company are fully
sponsored. Employees are also supported by granting special fully-
paid leave for training.

Training Management

The Group has developed relevant policies in controlling the training
related procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the training
program. A training plan is developed by management based on
the requirements from various departments and employees and
special technical employees are granted the necessary training for
acquiring the related technical licences. Management examines
the effectiveness of training programs, and provides improvement
plans. The facilitators should acquire the required qualifications in
delivering the training, for example, understanding the knowledge
and procedures of the operating sectors, and related laws,
regulations and standards.

Training Programmes
The Group provides sufficient training to employees on quality,

environmental rules, and occupational safety to enhance
employees’ awareness, skills, and knowledge.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training Programmes (continued)

New employees shall undergo an orientation by the various
department heads to ensure that they are familiar with the
management system for quality, environmental, health, and safety
issues:

- Consequences of their work activities on workplace safety
and health including identifiable hazards, possible accidents/
incidents;

- Importance of conforming to the site staff manual (quality,
environmental, health, and safety) to prevent potential
consequences including accidents or incidents due to
deviation from specific procedures such as safe work
procedures; and

- On-the-job training under the guidance of senior staff for a
period to be decided by the respective department heads will
be provided for the new employees.

Furthermore, the Group provides different forms of training, not only
internal training, but also external special courses to equip staff
with professional skills and abilities to cater for the actual needs
of different departments and individuals. Safety induction course,
risk assessment and safe work procedure briefing are included in
internal training. External courses include occupational first aid,
safety and health management and equipment operation courses,
etc. Course contents include 1ISO14001, ISO9001 trainings,
construction laws and good industry practices, etc.
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B3. Development and Training (continued) B3. #ERERKIE (48)

Training and Development Key Performance Indicators in REBNIZIRERARERIEE (EB)
Hong Kong (Employee)

2022 2021
Percentage Overall Overall
of employees percentage percentage
Managerial receiving  of employees  of employees
level or Supervisory General training by receiving receiving
Trained staff above® staff® staff® gender® training® training
gkl b St “BC-F
ST HZiIES ZilEE RilEEBRE
THET FULAES EX-IN-U —|RETS BRLS BEAMMS AL
Male 0% 40% 0% 40%
Bt 4% 19%
Female 0% 0% 60% 60%
peq i
Overall 0% 40% 60% 100%
2
Note 5: Percentage of employees trained in relevant categories = Employees Kiz¥5 : BRAMERIZ IR E T D Lb=4E5 A2zl
in the category who took park in training/ Employees who took part in HEEAE 2hiEEE AE X100
training x 100
Note 6: Percentage of employees trained = Employees who took part in training/ M&t6 - ZilRE B LE=2IEINEEAH &R
Number of employees x 100 A#EX100
2022 2021
Average Overall Overall
Managerial training average average
level or Supervisory General hours by training training
Average training hours above’ staff” staff gender’ hour® hour
wHRE S - ZEZ-F
R #FH BRTY BRTY
FHZEFH FULAE TEAE —®RET’ Tl Rl Ege ZHlRFE
Male - 1.3 hours - 0.5 hours
B 1.3/\EF = 0.5/\F 0.9 hours 0.3 hours
Female - - 2.3 hours 1.7 hours 0.9/N\EF 0.3/N\EF
gegis 2.3\ 1.7
Overall - 1.0 hours 0.9 hours 0.9 hours
B 1.0\ 0.9/1\B 0.9/\B¥
Note 7: Overall average training hour= Total number of training hours of the MisE7 © BREFIZ IR H=185 23| 48pF 8487
category/Number of employees in category BEA#E
Note 8: Average training hours per employee= Total number of training hours/ W8 | EREETHZINE=-4E&EHYRBE
Total number of employees FEPNE

2R S S 7 AL NG
SUSEREERLS 19
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B4.

BS.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

A set of procedures has been established to prevent employment
of child labour or forced labour through carefully reviewing the
personal information of job candidates and clearly explaining the
employment conditions to them.

The Group is well aware of the Group’s responsibility of monitoring
the compliance of sub-contractors in their employment of
construction workers. The Group has assigned officer responsible
for labour relations on each site to check the identities of workers
through an electronic access control system to ensure that each
worker meets the statutory requirements for on-site construction.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations (i.e. Employment of Children Regulations, The
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Employment
Ordinance, etc.) in Hong Kong that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and social
risks. The Group is aware of the environmental and social practices
of the suppliers/ sub-contractors, and tries to engage suppliers/
sub-contractors with responsible acts to the society in view of
green supply chain management.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Supply Chain Management Structure

In order to ensure that the Group suppliers and sub-contractors
have met clients’ and the requirements regarding quality,
environmental and safety standards, the Group formulated
standard and stringent procedures in selecting suppliers and
sub-contractors. The Group procurement manager maintains
an approved list of suppliers and subcontractors. Assessments
are carried out for suppliers and sub-contractors at least on an
annual basis by contract managers and project managers. Regular
meetings will be held with sub-contractors to introduce and remind
them to meet all necessary requirements. The materials purchased
from suppliers and works performed by subcontractors will be
checked and monitored on a regularly basis. Suppliers or sub-
contractors may be suspended or removed from the approved list if
they are failed to fulfil the Group’s standards.

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors

The Group works closely with its contractors and suppliers who
are committed to high quality, environmental, health and safety
standards. The Group strives to ensure that suppliers and sub-
contractors conform to the quality, environmental, occupational
health and safety requirements of the company. In controlling the
purchasing system, potential suppliers and subcontractors who can
meet the qualification requirement to supply goods and services
will be identified by quantity surveyors or purchasers. The suppliers
or subcontractors should at least have a certified quality and
environmental, health and safety system (e.g. ISO9001, 1ISO14001,
OHSAS18001, etc.). Qualified suppliers will be maintained in an
approved supplier and sub-contractor list. The performance of
suppliers and sub-contractors will be reviewed annually by the
Group.
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B5. Supply Chain Management (continued) B5. {HFEHEERE (&)

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors (continued)

Suppliers’ and sub-contractors’ other environmental and social
performances are also considered as a selection criteria for
establishing long-term relationship. Suppliers and sub-contractors
should not violate any related environmental and labour laws in
Hong Kong. The termination of suppliers and sub-contractors
relationship may be incurred by any substantial violation of laws and
regulations. The performance of suppliers and sub-contractors are
examined through regularly with onsite inspection, and the Group is
willing to provide guidance on improving their current practices.

Fair and Open Procurement

The Group has also formed rules to ensure that the suppliers and
sub-contractors could participate in competitions in an open and
fair way. The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated
treatment on certain suppliers and sub-contractors; the Group
would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of business bribery; and
employees or personnel having any interest relationship with the
suppliers or sub-contractors should not be involved in the related
business activity.

Number of critical suppliers cooperated with the Group
during the Reporting Period
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B6.

B7.

Protection of Intellectual Property Right
And Consumer Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of the protection over
intellectual property right and consumer privacy. Proper licences for
software and information are obtained by the Group to use in its
business operation. Meanwhile, the Group handles all information
provided by clients, employees and business partner in accordance
with non-disclosure agreement, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
and related laws and regulations to ensure those information is
under proper protection.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are utmost important for sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group believes completing works that meet or exceed employer’s
requirements is crucial not only for building safety, but also for
job reference and future business opportunities. In order to
ensure delivering high quality services and sustainable projects to
customers, the construction process of the projects is controlled
and monitored regularly. The Group has been in strict compliance
with related laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

During the Reporting Period, due to the business nature of the
Group, there were no recalls concerning the provision and use of
products for safety and health reasons within the Group. Besides,
there were no substantiated complaints received relating to the
provision and use of products and services that have a significant
impact on the Group’s operations.
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B7. Product Responsibility (continued)

Quality Management

The Group has established a formal quality management system
in accordance with the requirements of 1ISO9001:2008, OHSAS
18001:2007 and 1SO14001:2004 to develop a sustainable
performance oriented culture to pursue continuous improvement
on quality rather than adopting a short-term and project based
approach. Process control procedures has also been established
to ensure that the works meet the contractual specification and the
environmental, health and safety requirements. To pursue further
improvement, the Group’s Quality Management System is reviewed
at least annually by the management.

To ensure the Group’s works meet the required standards, the
Group normally assigns a responsible officer on a full-time basis
at each of the construction sites to monitor the quality of works
done by staff at the front line and sub-contractors (as the case
may be). The project manager who generally makes daily visits
to construction sites is responsible for monitoring works quality
and progress of works and ensuring that works are completed
according to schedule. Furthermore, weekly meetings are held by
project team with our management to monitor each of the projects’
progress and discuss identified issues. The Group’s management
monitors closely the progress of each of the projects to ensure the
works:

- are met with clients’ requirements;

- are completed within the time stipulated in the contract and
the budget allocated for the project; and

- are complied with all relevant codes and regulations
applicable to the works.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B7. Product Responsibility (continued)

Business Ethics

The tendering process must be done in a fair manner to protect
the interests of the Group and clients. Employees responsible
for tendering must comply with the Competition Ordinance by
refraining themselves from exchanging or communicating any
sensitive information with competitors, participating in price fixing,
imposing restrictions on clients and abusing the dominant market
position. Relevant requirements on confidentiality and compliance
with Competition Ordinance have also been set out in the Group’s
Code of Conduct.

Customer Service

The Group cares about clients’ feedback and their satisfaction
on the Group’s performances. In order to provide good quality of
service, the Group strives to understand the needs of clients. The
Group also strives to provide the best services in supporting clients.
Customer Service Officer offers the required assistance to clients on
the application of services with their professional knowledge.

Quality Department continues to send official customer satisfaction
surveys to the Group’s clients for reviewing our performances.
The review covered the Group'’s tendering and quantity surveying,
project management, material and resources control, workmanship,
environment, safety and security performances, etc. Through
regular interaction with clients, the project manager and engineer
will gather information on their perception of the services.

The Group also handles complaints from clients by amending
the non-conformity within targeted timeframe, by complying with
statutory regulations, clients’ requirements and internal rules and
policies.
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B7.

B8.

Product Responsibility (continued)

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to ensuring that all confidential or special
information provided by clients, employees and business associates
remains strictly confidential. The Group is entered into confidential
agreements with clients and sub-contractors. Without their
authorization, such information will not be disclosed to any third
party or made available to public.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress.

Anti-Corruption

The Group does not tolerate any corruptions, frauds and all other
behaviours violating work ethics. The Group values and upholds
integrity, honesty and fairness in how the Group conducts business.

Internal Control

The Group has established a formal Code of Conduct to help
to define appropriate methods in handling conflict of interests,
accepting advantages, leakage of confidential information, etc.
to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations. All employees should decline an
offer of advantage if acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting the Group’s business. Employees will be subjected to
disciplinary actions if they are found violating the Code of Conduct
after investigation. Disciplinary actions include verbal or written
warnings, demotion and dismissal, and the case may be reported
to law-enforcement authorities for possible prosecution, depending
on the situation.

To further mitigate business frauds, the Group appoints
professional consulting firm to evaluate the Group’s internal control
effectiveness, detecting potential deficiency, and identifying areas of
improvement. Internal Audit Report is distributed to the Group for
remediation.
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B8.

BO.

Anti-Corruption (continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

In order to further achieve and maintain the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Group has also
implemented a whistleblowing policy. This policy allows all
employees of the Group as well as independent third parties (e.g.
clients, suppliers, sub-contractors, creditors and debtors) who
deal with any employees to report any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices or irregularities in matters of financial
reporting, internal control or other matters to the Audit Committee
anonymously. Reports and complaints received will be handled
in a prompt and fair manner. Such policy also aims at protecting
whistleblowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted
disciplinary actions. Any person who is found to have victimised or
retaliated against those who have raised concerns under this policy
will be subjected to disciplinary sanctions.

Anti-Corruption Training

Representatives from the Independent Commission Against
Corruption are also invited to hold anti-corruption talks with specific
issues relating to the Group’s businesses to further enhance our
anti-corruption system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any litigation
involving the allegation of corruption of the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the public
by the means of social participation and contribution as part of
its strategic development, and to nurture the corporate culture
and practices of corporate citizen in the daily work life throughout
the Group. The Group focuses on inspiring employees towards
social welfare concerns. The Group would embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain the
Group’s corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B9. Community Investment (continued)

Maintaining a Good Relationship with Our Neighbours

The Group understands that any construction project will have an
impact on the surrounding environment and the lives of nearby
communities. The Group cares about the communities adjacent to
our projects. Hence, the Group aims to reduce the impact of the
construction process on the surrounding communities by carrying
out environmental management on our sites. Public relations
management projects are also carried out on the Group’s sites by
communicating with the residents, businesses and passers-by near
projects to maintain a harmonious relationship with neighbours.
A list of the site staff and their contact details are posted on the
hoarding panels of the Group’s sites to facilitate stakeholders’ direct
contact with the site staff in handling inquiries and complaints on a
timely manner.

Community Participation

The Group participates in community activities, for example,
donations, volunteering services, sponsorships, etc. With the active
participation in community events to help the needy. The Group
also regularly communicates with local charities to understand
community’s needs. The Group believes it helps to connect the
Group with the local community, and maintain a mutually beneficial
relationship to the society as a whole.

Raising Awareness of Employees

The Group’s employees are encouraged to donate to recognised
charitable institutions in order to help grass-roots community or
those in need, so that they can gain education and care. The Group
also encourages employees to suggest areas of contribution based
on their personal experiences in the community.
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IR - HERERRS

(=W k-]
ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE IRIBRIAIGIE
INDICATORS
Aspect A1: Emissions
A1EE : B
Performance indicator 2022 Data 2021 Data Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
BYIER —E-C 2T F HXFRIRIR-
Bk EE HERER
HREIESIRRE
BMIER
Emissions Total NOx emissions (kg) 73.85 321.44 KPI'A1.1
BER waFEYNOXEEE (F=) RASR G
FE1RAT1
Total PM emissions (kg) 0.40 0.53 KPI A1.1
IR MPMBERE (F52) RASR A
S1RA1A
Total SOx emissions (kg) 6.57 25.94 KPI A1.1
HEREEYSONBERE (F52) RASREN
S1RA1A
Total GHG emissions (tonnes) 144.84 174.46 KPI A1.2
RERBBAEHIRE (NE) RS A
F5IZA1.2
Intensity of GHG emissions per project 8.52 4.98 KPI'A1.2
(tonnes) RESRAE W
SEEENREREHFREE (M) E1EA1.2
Non-Hazardous waste Inert C&D waste (tonnes) 18,926 20,119 KPI A1.4
EBEEY IEIE IR (NE) RASRAE N
1512A1.4
Intensity of inert C&D waste per 1,113.26 574.83 KPI A1.4
project (tonnes) RESREN
SREBEENEEIREENEE (M) 1512A1.4
Non-inert C&D waste (tonnes) 2,697 2,372 KPIA1.4
FEMEMEIRIREE YD (ME) RASR G
1E12A1.4
Intensity of non-inert C&D waste per 158.65 67.76 KPI'A1.4
project (tonnes) RARAEN
f(@l,)EEE’\HF'I%'I‘_&JEEEE%&j}E 1E1EA1.4
i
Mixed C&D waste (tonnes) 279 326 KPI'A1.4
REITEREEY) (W) RASRE
S1RA1.4
Intensity of mixed C&D waste per 16.41 9.31 KPI A1.4
project (tonnes) RARAEN
SEEENESHFEENZE (W) S1ZA1.4

BHERSRARAT
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RIR HERERRS

Aspect A2: Use of resources

A2BE : BiRER

Performance indicator

ERIEIR

Electricity
B

NRF
FEBAE IR

Water

7K

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

Total electricity consumption (kWh)
WiEEE (TEH)

Intensity of electricity consumption
per project (kWh)
SREEENEEERE (TEF)

Total NRF consumption (kWh)
RIFFEMECERES (TR

Intensity of NRF consumption per
project (KWh)

BREEENIFBEMEHESRE
(FERE)

Total water consumption
(cubic meters)
“WEKkE QrHR
Intensity of water consumption per
project (cubic meters)
SEBEENAKERE QLK)

2022 Data

—— —

—_— ——

g

134,944

7,937.88

262,552

15,444.23

17,962

1,056.59

2021 Data

130,392

3,725.49

348,984

9,970,97

12,371

363.46

Stock
Exchange
HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B3 FRIRIR
HERER

HRE1EsIRR

EREIR

KPI A2.1
BSR4
FERA2.1

KPI A2.1

RASEAB RN
51RA2.1

KPI A2.1
RASRAE N
E12A2.1
KPI A2.1
RASRAE N
E1ZA2.1

KPI A2.2
RASRAE N
{E1EA2.2

KPI A2.2
RASRAE N
1E1EA2.2



SOCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Aspect B1: Employment
EmB1 : B8

Performance indicator

ERIEIR

Number of employees as at
31 March
MR=A=+—BHEEAZ

Employee turnover rate

BEMRALLER

Gender:
R

— Male

- B

— Female

-

Age
HER
— Below 30 years old
- 30 AT
— Between 30 to 50 years old
- 30E508%
— Over 50 years old
- 505 M &

Region
&

- HK
_EH

— The PRC
—

Gender
R

— Male (%)

- B4 (%)

— Female (%)

- Z1%(%)

Age
e
— Below 30 years old (%)
— 305k LA (%)
— Between 30 to 50 years old (%)
- 30E505%(%)
— Over 50 years old (%)
- 5058 A (%)

Region
bl
- HK (%)
— 9%;%(%)
— The PRC (%)
- HRE(%)

Ratio of employee turnover to total
number of employees

EERRABIGEEBH LXK

7, \
}4
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RIR - HERERRS

=3 =% v
A= b E ]

2022 Data 2021 Data

—EZC B

g BiE

98 132

43 61

53 27

75 89

13 77

46 164

95 29

89 40

112 16

32 33

63 38

546 26

252 38

20 -

96 33

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B AT FRIRIR
HERER
HREI5sIRE
BMIER

KPI B1.1

RS ARIEIR
B1.1

KPI B1.1
RS AE ISR
B1.1

KPI B1.1
RS IS 1R
B1.1

KPI B1.2
R SR AR IS 1R
B1.2

KPI B1.2
R SRR ISR
B1.2

KPI B1.2
B AR IR
B1.2

KPI B1.2
R SR AR IS 1R
B1.2

IR R AIRAT]

R EER
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RIR HERERRS

Aspect B2: Health and safety
[EmB2: BREHEZE

Performance indicator 2022 Data
BT ===
iz
Number of work injuries (per person) 8
THEHE BA)
Rate of work injury (per thousand employees) 5.67
ITEHEX(BETRES
Number of loss days due to work injuries 1,789
RITHELRTIERH
Aspect B3: Development and training
[EEB3 : R RIEN
Performance indicator
BMIER
Percentage of Gender
employees trained R
ZiIlEEB L - Male (%)
- B1%(%)
— Female (%)
- 221 (%)
Employee category
R E587(%)
— General staff (%)
- —RET(%)
— Supervisory staff (%)
-FEEI(%)
— Managerial level or above (%)
- BEE MU (%)

Overall (%)
ELRE(%)

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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2021 Data

BT —fF

g

1.55

1,911

2022 Data

- ——

i

40

60

60

40

2020 Data

—ECTE

5

1.78

N/A
TEM

2021 Data

34

66

34
33

33

19

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B R FRIRIR
HERER
&S5BS
BMIER
KPI B2.1

RS EIISIR
B2.1

KPI B2.1
RSB AR IE 1R
B2.1

KPI B2.1
RS AR ISR
B2.1

Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI

B PRIRIR
HERER
HRE1EsImR
BMIER

KPI B3.1
RS AR ISR
B3.1

KPI B3.1
RSB AR IE 1R
B3.1

KPI B3.1
RESRAE ISR
B3.1
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Average training hours Gender
completed per employee R
BRESETFIZIRE — Male (hours) 0.5 0.2 KPI B3.2
- B4 (NED RAR G ISIR
B3.2
— Female (hours) 1.7 0.7
- M (B
Employee category KPI B3.2
% RE5ER! RS EINISIR
— General staff (hours) 0.9 3.3 B3.2
-—RET (hE)
— Supervisory staff (hours) 1.0 2.9
-FEE8T (NEp
— Managerial level or above (hours) - 0.4
-BEERMUL (M)
Overall 0.9 0.3 KPI B3.2
g RAR G IISIR
B3.2
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEBS : AR EIE
Performance indicator 2022 Data 2021 Data Stock
Exchange
ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
BRUER —E-= T2 F  BMXFRIRIR-
i 6 HERER
HRE1E5|RE
BMIER
Number of critical suppliers Hong Kong 12 30 KPI B5.1
BEEHERHE 55 RAR G ISIR
B5.1

BIR B RARAE
R EER
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Independent Auditors' Report
B2 RS

B & EH A A E
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF OKG TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayrman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OKG
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 143 to 260,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

B EE

Independent Auditors' Report
B BEIR S

RSt

FREAFTEERERMINEEHE  BHHK
MEAEPRREUBRREABEENFR -ZF
FEDPREMBAERGEEMHBRRRERRK
MEENERFRETRE MREAMIEHZEE
HEHEBENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HAINBEF A HAREF FHETRE

Accounting for digital assets transactions and balances
BFEEXZRAGIRIE 5 EIE

Refer to Notes 2.10, 2.27, 3.3, 3.4, 4, 5, 20, 21 and 28 to the consolidated financial statements

BERRGEMBRERMEE2.1022.27-3.3-3.4 452021528

The Group’s digital assets business includes trading of
digital assets, digital assets lending and holding digital assets
for its trust and custody customers.
EERSTFEEEBOERTEERS HFEEREK
REEEMTEERRFEYTEE

Digital assets that the Group deals with are cryptographically
secured assets for which encryption techniques are used
to regulate the generation of units of currency. Supply and
demand determine the value of digital assets which can be
extremely volatile in this emerging industry.
EEEMBEENSTFEEBMELNEE  BRINMEB RN
AREEEREMANEL HBERAETHFTEENEE
MO 7E LT B T 2R BB RIZE ©

Our procedures on the Group’s digital assets transactions
and balances mainly included:

BMIs EERNBFEERZREHITHEFTIE
B4E

° Understanding the key controls, including automated
and manual controls, and segregation of duties in the
execution of these controls, in the following areas:
THRUTHENRERES QFE8 Rk AFEH>
RBITEGHNBELT :

o) information technology general controls over
the accounting system and applications that are
considered relevant to the financial statement
reporting process;

Bl MR ERBERIR R A M BRRER
RSt RIERAKLER ;

o) recording of depositing, withdrawal, trading and
settlement transactions with counterparties in
the relevant platform;
SCEREARRE T A FHETHNER IR
RABREER ;

o) reconciliations of digital asset transactions and
balances between trade records on internal
operating and accounting systems with other
external source of data; and
HFEERZRAERERZ LM EE
T & 51 B2 38 Z 40 A0 H M S ER 21 R B9 Bk AV
iR &

o) wallet generation, management and security
(including private keys and recovery seeds),
including physical and logical access controls.
BELEN - EERZE (BREMDABRERER
BT BIEWIE R e sh Rl o

IR B R A RAT
R EER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HREEE

FREFIR (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEFNANRRESFRETRE

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for digital
assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgements in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the existing accounting framework and the
facts and circumstances of the Group’s digital assets.
EBUBREEN N BEEFI I KU FEENGSHRIE-E
I mmH SEENGEMHRERMES  BEBANRE
BRESHERK BEENBFTEENSTBERERE
BB G st BURE E R FI -

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
accounted for as inventories and are measured at fair value
less costs to sell on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Z1 BEENEBEN BFEENRGESMBRRRE
BEEAR URAFEREENATE.

Furthermore, in determining fair values, management needs
to apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
dealt with by the Group.

SN REBE AT ER > S E % B E R ¥ B kT 8
NP RA™S LEEBZEMIHBND R RES MUHE
T BEERENTIEHFEEDS-

Due to the complexity and evolving nature of blockchains
and technology associated with digital assets, the reliance
of the Group’s business thereon, and the management
judgements applied in accounting for the digital asset
transactions and balances described above, we considered
the risk of material misstatement relating to these
transactions and balances as significant and hence a key
focus of our audit.

AN FEERRER R R RMTAEREE R T EEERN
JBEs BEEEGHRIBERZRMAKRER DiEE
BHBFEERH RAERETS 5 2R P E AV E
BB ZE 25 K E A R E AR SRR E AR 7
BAR MRHMBETZER
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Understanding and evaluating the accounting policies
adopted by management for its digital assets based
on the contractual and business arrangements with
respective counterparties; and
RIBEEREFHETHNEOREB L TR
ML EEEMERTEEMRMNESEER ; &

Performing substantive tests of details, on a sample
basis, including the following:
ETEEMF MmN 8B TEE

(e}

circularising independent audit confirmations to
counterparties to confirm transactions for the
year and account balances at the year end;
BEUBTRIAEIETHFAURDEN
RARERRPAEE ;

reviewing the appropriateness of management’s
assessment and determination of principal
market for each of the relevant digital assets.
Testing the fair value of digital assets adopted
by management to external data quoted in the
principal exchange market; and

B REEEREHEHABTEETED
SHNEETL AHEEEBRNBETIERS
hi%H E2RVINEBBEMBARBFEENR
TE; &

testing management’s reconciliations of wallet
balances as at year end between the operating
system, accounting system, and publicly
sourced data on the blockchain.
AAXEEENFRALERR AR ARR
KOS IR EIR R 2 SR B A ERIV B AR ©



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HREHEE
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B FIR (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEFNAHRRESFRETRE

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts and contract assets

BRI ELRINm R ARG EE

Refer to Notes 2.22, 4, 5 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

F2REEMBRERMEE2.2214 6519

We identified recognition of revenue and costs from
construction contracts and contract assets as a key
audit matter as significant management’s estimations
and judgements are involved in the determination of the
outcome of construction contracts and the progress towards
completion of construction works.
EMHERERSNEENRE R ARENEER
—IERARBES FE HTHRNEERRGNERAERT
B ERER Y RERNEIEE G5 A FE o

Our audit procedures in relation to recognition of revenue
and costs from construction contracts and contract assets
mainly included:
BMESERSNELENRERENAREGHNEENS
FREFFEEE

° Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared by
management;
BREMERT NN ENTERBEREAUKE
EERMNES ;

o Understanding from management about how the
budgets were prepared and the respective progress
towards completion of construction works were
determined;

MERE T RNAENEBEE RINMEEREIRES
RREE ;

° Evaluating the reasonableness of progress towards
completion of construction works by obtaining
the certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor;
FIREISE P LAEEE kAR 2RSS R R
AR TIRTMEENSIEN ;

o Testing the actual costs incurred on construction
works;

AHERTIREENERRE ;

° Assessing the reasonableness of the budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against management’s
estimation of similar contracts; and
BBLERBERGER R EEEHBLUSHOMNM s
FEEMNSEY ; &

o Assessing the appropriateness and adequate of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

HERGEMBERRFENKEEEEERTE

IR B R A RAT
R EER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HREEE

FREFIR (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEFNANRRESFRETRE

Impairment assessment of trade and loan receivables and contract assets

B SRR AIBEREWNE TR EAIEER BB E

Refer to Notes 2.9, 3.1, 4, 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

FLRGREMHREMEE2.9 314 18%19

We identified impairment assessment of trade and loan
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due
to the involvement of subjective judgement and estimates of
the management of the Group in determining the expected
credit losses of the Group’s trade and loan receivables and
contract assets at the end of the reporting period.

BT EZRBHRIBERERERURENEENRE
FHMERRMAREZEE DERBRSHRTEL SEENE
SREBRERERERURENEENTEREEHER
Hh BEEEIERERTEFE T
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Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade and loan receivables and contract assets mainly
included:
BMMEZRMRIEBERERERU R EHNEENRET
ENREFEZEEE

° Discussing with management on the estimation
involved in determining the amount of expected
credit loss allowance regarding the trade and loan
receivables and contract assets;

BERE R B REZRIGRIE R ERE R
RENEENTEREEHREHSENMGES

o Testing the working paper files prepared by
management’s expert to calculate the expected credit
loss and checking the information included in the
working paper files;
AAEEEGRRLGIERAGEERIBNIFEREX
BB TRREXHFHEN ;

° Engaging a valuation expert to assist us to assess
the appropriateness of the expected credit loss
provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and challenging the assumptions,
including both historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the expected credit
losses by the management’s expert; and
AT HER GBI RMTETRREEHEBEE R
NEE M DA ERG SRR SR A LG E
HERERZEN UHEEELRAEEERE
ARRRELE AREEEEEERNTARE
§518; &

o Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
about the expected credit loss allowance regarding
trade and loan receivables and contract assets in the
consolidated financial statements.

i EEETAREMBRRFENESEINRIE
KRERERUARENEENTEREEHBEENR

BERERD



EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to Note 3.4 to the consolidated financial statements,
which describe the risks and uncertainties with respect to the Group’s
digital related business. These conditions in our view are of such
importance that they are fundamental to users’ understanding of the
Group’s digital assets related business and the consolidated financial
statements. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BWIZHEmER S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditors' Report
B BEIR S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P06413
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

reiimRHMEEINER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

“HF=ZR=FT—HLFE

2022 2021
—g-= -
Nozfe HK$’000 HK$’000
ioi=3 FAERT TFAET
Revenue & &) 385,614 452 964
Cost of sales HE MK (301,339) (406,399)
Gross profit EF| 84,275 46,565
Other income, gains and losses HMUg A~ Wes K 518 5 19,180 16,162
Administrative and other operating expenses 17 B & E 4% 2 552 (129,320) (104,082)
Impairment losses on intangible assets B EEZ BERSR (50) (180)
Impairment losses on financial assets TREBERGNEEZRE
and contract assets 518 (27,353) (46,892)
Operating loss K& ES1E (53,268) (88,427)
Finance costs =% 6 (5,435) (7,933)
Loss before income tax FRPTISIRBIES 18 7 (58,703) (96,360)
Income tax credit PRSI %R 10 271 2,505
Loss for the year FAEE (58,432) (93,855)
Other comprehensive income Hihz2miks=
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently H#BJGEE# HHEEEm =
to profit or loss: EEH
Exchange differences arising from MEBINEBREEZ
translation of foreign operations PERELR 857 1,255
Reclassification of cumulative translation HEBINEBBZRFAER
reserve upon disposal of foreign REENDE
operations 177) -
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEUNE > IHFFRIB
net of tax 680 1,255
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEEELE (57,752) (92,600)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTRFEEENRE .
Owners of the Company AR A (58,061) (93,855)
Non-controlling interests JEER T (371) =
(58,432) (93,855)
Total comprehensive loss for the year U T&AFEGENZEEE
attributable to: 4eEE .
Owners of the Company AR A (57,505) (92,600)
Non-controlling interests JEER (247) =
(57,752) (92,600)
HK cents 2l HK cents 71l
Loss per share attributable to owners AT #EHE AELSRERE
of the Company
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAKREEEE 11 (1.08) (1.75)

Details of dividends are disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SREMEIARR

As at 31 March 2022 RZE-"F=F=+—H

2022 2021
—E-C B —F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
Jiok=3 FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment S EN =S 14 17,072 34,569
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 15 10,251 2,784
Intangible assets mPLEE 16 4,897 4,456
Prepayment FE(TRRIE 18 - 318
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 26 242 =
32,462 42127
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 e EMEUARR 18 32,769 95,196
Contract assets EHNEE 19 67,265 67,029
Digital assets HFEE 20 560,097 68,879
Inventories due from counterparties EWHFHEE 21 - 12,766
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABERZ
profit or loss EREE 22 20,856 28,560
Amount due from a related party FEW— & BE & /5 =R IB 29 - 1,980
Tax recoverable EIEqEEy 783 2,741
Trust bank balance held on REFERAFBEZ
behalf of customers E5LiR1TAE &R 23 147,547 49,128
Bank balances and cash RITHERKRIRE 23 135,555 236,735
964,872 563,014
Total assets BEEHE 997,334 605,141
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves B K HEE
Share capital RE 7 24 26,853 26,853
Reserves EE 135,215 192,720
Equity attributable to the owners of KABEB NEEER
the Company 162,068 219,573
Non-controlling interests JEIER R 4,555 =
Total equity S 166,623 219,573

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBRRRAR

As at 31 March 2022 RZE2-"F=HF=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= B —F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
Jiok=3 FHET FET
LIABILITIES afd
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 6,126 =
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIB S & 26 457 1,929
6,583 1,929
Current liabilities mENaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMET IR 27 56,212 99,060
Contract liabilities aHEERE 19 775 4,726
Liabilities due to customers AN =E=R 28 147,547 108,151
Amounts due to former subsidiaries AN NI R 29 10,791 10,641
Amount due to a related party FEfT — 2 B S B 29 18,073 10,244
Loans from related parties RE S B 30 92,135 148,500
Borrowings ERN 31 494,072 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 4,414 2,317
Current income tax liabilities BREAFTISMEasE 109 =
824,128 383,639
Total liabilities B{E4%8 830,711 385,568
Total equity and liabilities EnkaEiaEE 997,334 605,141
Net current assets BRHBEE 140,744 179,375
Total assets less current liabilities BERERTBERE 173,206 221,502

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for 4R EMHFREN S - _F B _+/\HEZ
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022 and are signed on its EEHAEREETE  THTFIATAREE
behalf by:

EEBERE REBELE

Mr. Ren Yunan Mr. Zhang Chao
Director Director

EE EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated BEMIZ MisF B L iz S TR RELFE S — 2R
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FaEmEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

146

Attributable to owners of the Company

TAREEAER
Share- Retained
based earning/ Non-
Share Share  payment Capital Merger  Translation (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses)  Sub-total interests equity
WRf3
AERZ RERH/ Fix
BE  ROEE (REE  ESHE  AfHER  EREE  (RdER it i 3 B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TER TER TEr TEr TEr Thn TEn TEn TEn
Note 24) Note g) Note b)
(Hyst24) (a) (i)
Balance at 1 April 2020 RIZZZENF-BHER 26,629 227,652 7,219 7,922 1 (630) 32,290 301,143 - 301,143
Loss for the year ERBR - - - - - - (93,855) (93,855) - (93,855)
Other comprehensive income FREMRERS
for the year - - - - - 1,265 - 1,256 - 1,256
Total comprehensive income/loss) ERZERR/ (518 8%
forthe year - - - - - 1255 (93859  (92.600) - @60
Share-based payment expenses NRABERZ RS - - 1,385 - - - - 1,385 - 1,385
Exercise of share options iR 264 12,841 2,299) S S = = 10,806 = 10,806
Lapse of share options BRERH - - (6,365) - - = 6,365 = S =
Repurchase and cancellation of shares BRI sE88MR (7 40) (1,121) - - - - - (1,161) - (1,161)
Balance at 31 March 2021 RZF--FZA=+-HW&ER 2688 230312 - 792 1 65 (652000 219673 - 219573
Balance at 1 Api 2021 NZBZ-FME-BiE %853 239372 - 7922 1 625 (552000 21957 - 295m3
Loss for the year ERBR - - - - - - (58,061) (58,061) (871) (58,432)
Other comprehensive income FREMRERS
for the year - - - - - 556 - 556 124 680
Total comprehensive income/{loss) ER2ENE/ (BB 28
for the year - - - - - 556 (58,061) (57,505) (247) (57,752)
Capital contributions from FERERTE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - 4,802 4,802
Balance at 31 March 2022 RZIEZZE=B=+-ANEE 26853 239372 - 7,922 1 1,181 (113261) 162,068 4555 166,623
Notes: ByaE -
a. The capital reserve represents the deemed capital contribution from the  a. BARBEEREARERREE  BRARHEARE
Company’s shareholder in relation to listing expenses reimbursed to the Company BEFEN EHEE

in prior years.

b. The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the b.

shares issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the share

capital of its subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation in prior years.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FBEMI Z MisEBZ LA R

financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FRRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2022 2021
== T
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
o3 FAET FET
Cash flows from operating activities &2 ZEREFE
Net cash (used in)/generated from && (PrR) /FrBR<E /348
operations 32(a) (65,967) 2,180
Income tax refunded/(paid) %&i%;/ (B) Frisi 624 (3,967)
Interest paid on bank overdrafts RITEZZENMFE = @)
Interest received EH&%U g 2,686 -
Net cash used in operating activities &2 EEIFTRAIRS B (62,657) (1,789)
Cash flows from investing activities REZHHRERE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYZE BEKRRE
plant and equipment Frigm I8 5,550 4,673
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BES¥)% « M= KRR H (126) (4,965)
Net cash outflow from disposal of HERB AR ZIRE R F
subsidiaries, net of cash disposal BB HERS 35 (1,172) -
Increase in non-pledged fixed deposit R=ER%&EE=
maturing over three months EIRREHFEAUE (14) -
Decrease in pledged bank deposit BIRIRIRITTERURD - 6,753
Purchases of financial assets at fair value ~ EEEIGAFEFARBTZ
through profit or loss STREE (2,154) (76,446)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZAFET AEBTZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEFSNRIE 5,772 83,381
Decrease in amount due from U — 4 BEE 75 AR IE R
a related party - 1,000
Distribution received [S1l 1,089 =
Interest received BUH S 143 967
Net cash generated KREZHFREZIREIPRE
from investing activities 9,088 15,363
Cash flows from financing activities RMEFHRERE
Net proceeds from issue of shares BITRM Z TS TEF 58 - 10,806
Payment on repurchase and ARGl BENEA
cancellation of shares = (1,161)
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to FE(S— 2 R 5 =B
a related party 1, GRiz) 7,291 (5,551)
Repayment of loans from related parties FESEEER (51,670) -
Repayment of lease liabilities EEREaE (3,484) (19,590)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEaBZBAHE (150) (1,181)
Net cash used in financing activites B EFEFFAZ RS EEE (48,013) (16,677)
BB EEERERAE

B CEFR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEHETRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-— T
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Jiok=3 FAT FET
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEEBYRLFEE
equivalents (101,582) (3,103)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEFH & 388 267
Cash and cash equivalents at FUVRERAEEEY
beginning of year 235,235 238,071
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FXIREKRESZEY
year 134,041 235,235
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&ERREEEW D
Cash at banks RITIRE 23 133,833 209,960
Non-pledged fixed deposits maturing R=EARIEZ
within three months EIRRTHTER 23 - 25,092
Cash on hand FoERS® 23 208 183
134,041 235,235
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEM 2 MisEBZ LR A M FSMRERE Y —3f15 -

financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



a

'.'r \

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sRE M RRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 2 September 2015. Its parent company is OKC
Holdings Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and controlled by Mr. Xu Mingxing. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3, Regatta
Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong is Unit 902-908, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of construction wastes handling
services, foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services, digital assets related businesses, technical services and
other businesses. During the Year, the Group has commenced
its proprietary trading in digital assets and blockchain technology
services in order to broaden the Group’s source of income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 28 June 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except as
otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 TEGHBEME (@&

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 RUEE ()

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs 211 ERMIEAMBREENRK
H{g:T4s

In the current year, the Group has applied the following RAFER  AEEERRER
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for REMEREREXRER YA
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the SR G Qg EMm 2 &E:]
annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021 for the EEAVBREER FREAZER
preparation of the consolidated financial statements: RIEZ—FMNA—HmxZE

Fta <z FEAREREI £

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — EENBREENENE FIZEENE-EZ
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, Phrase 2 EAGHENSOE  ER
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 BRMBREEER
ERNERLELBER
EANERSES16%
(E3T%)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions EEUBREER Covid-1918% 2
F165% (5:14) fisg%
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions HEMEREED ZBT-ERR=T
Beyond 30 June 2021 £16% ((B51%) R2Covid-1918
Bzi2ER
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the RAEERALIETEEBMB
current year had no material impact on the Group’s WEEAWERHAEFBNAF
financial positions and performance for the current and ERiBFEFEZMBRTRE
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these R/ RzEREMERER
consolidated financial statements. HoWBELEEAFE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

(continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a single

Transaction'
Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in
the foreseeable future.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.1 RREE (@

211 ERMITEBMBREENR
HIE:T7 (48)

AERWERRERTIIEHE
MEERERZ M BB

WREEARAEITA
BEUBRSEAETR  RReOREBE
HE

EAUBRLED iyl
£3% (:14)

EEMBREEAE0RR REEREREAD
G ENE0 ARnErEs
(E574) HREEHES

BA

EREHENEE (ETH) RENEARTY

SERBLRER
2R (CF
“EE) e
Z’S‘
BROER %R SHERNRE'

EAVEREENEY

ERIE2% (B3TA)
EREERECE (BTH) EatEiEs
EREHENF 2R, (B4 E-RGHELL

EERGERE
ZIETFER
EgEn S8 NE BERR
(B3T) E-BietieR
BRI FrRRR
g En B8 BiElkal-EL
(B3T) A
EENBREEN (B BRMEHREEY
“E-\EEC
T ZEVERE
g

! RIEZ=F—HF—HzxZ
ERENFEERBEX-

Z RZ2Z-_F—HF—H%HZ
BRANFEERBES

é REENBHRHZRAKN
FERBEN-

rABEEAEAM
BN EBUBREE
AR BT AR RR
REFEHAER RS
WHERREEEARY
%o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)

over which the Group has control. The Group controls

an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights

to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity

and has the ability to affect those returns through its

power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated

from the date on which control is transferred to the

Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that

control ceases.

@

Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amount of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

154

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

@

©®)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. For purchase of non-
controlling interests, the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHHEHNE (B
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued) 22 MiBAT (4&)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued) 221 iRE (&)

(b)  Transaction with non-controlling interests
(continueq)

When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the

) HEIFEREGIIT
(&)

EXAEETBEAES
ERTBEREFEARE
B BREATARERE

change in carrying amount recognised in profit or HEMSEELFE
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount MEREEEZHNIBRE
for the purposes of subsequently accounting R NFEDEBRKR
for the retained interest as an associate, Bz ARABRER
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, B aEhERETME
any amounts previously recognised in other ENYIREREE o b

comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss account.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
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investments if the dividend exceeds the total AEREKERENZE KR
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period MR NEBRMBREPE
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of ERAEBARKREEFEE

the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
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financial statements of the investee’s net assets BETRERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of that reporting period;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of any component accounted for as a separate assets is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives or lease term
where applicable, as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Over relevant lease term
— Furniture, fixtures and office 20%

equipment
— Machinery and equipment  20%
— Motor vehicles 20%
— Vessel 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at historical
cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible
assets have a finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Intangible asset with indefinite
useful life is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives or lease
term, where applicable, as follows:

Other intangible assets 3 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentive receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

28 A

HERISAEREEE TEHEE
EENHAERGHZ HRENEE
&R

GBS HEERIFEEAME
Do AEERRBAERIFEEMERN
BOMERENBILERL KEauNE
DECEMERIFEEHEMED

HEEENEERBRINILUIRE
BENE-HEAGEETIEAE
FTRATPIRME ¢

- EROR EEEELNEE
%) A= EAEREEE
5;

+ EREERAENTREEN
#0o FRA B B AR I
RS E ;

o FEERFFHEEER TR
FERTBYEEE ;

s MWMAEESERTETHEREE
RER SREERNTE
B, &K

e MHEEHARMBMAEERTHEZ
BER AIS(IRIERERE

=+
o

RESEREEFLERBMMELYN
BENRIFABBNEFE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.8 Leases (continued) 28 HE (&)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing, and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate
take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted
against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHHRHNE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases (continued) 28 HHE (&)

162

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

ERREERRASE BFEUT

&I\

s HEEENYIBSESRE;

. any lease payments made at or before the . ERE BB 2 AT ST IR
commencement date less any lease incentives HAENRBREBWEAEEE
received; =,

. any initial direct costs; and . ERBEZERA ; &

. restoration costs. . BEREMA

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position based on their nature. The Group did
not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for
assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing
standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FEGHHRHNE @)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets 29 TRMEE

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or though
profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

164

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s

right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.10 Digital assets 210 HFEE

Digital assets are held mainly for the purposes of trading in
the ordinary course of the Group’s digital assets and its trust
and custody services.

Digital assets held in the Group’s digital asset wallets
primarily comprise digital assets that are prefunded by and
traded with, but not yet withdrawn by counterparties (or
“customers”) under agreements. Digital assets held in the
third parties’ digital assets trading platforms (connect to the
internet) (the “Platform”) primary comprise digital assets for
the Group’s proprietary trading in digital assets and the digital
assets held on behalf of the clients.

Based on the respective rights and obligations of the Group
and its customers under the agreements between the Group
and the customers, digital assets still held by the Group
in the Group’s wallet are recorded as assets of the Group
(see below for the measurement) with a corresponding
liability due to the customer recorded (under “liabilities due
to customers” measured at fair value through profit or loss
in current liabilities). Upon a customer’s request to withdraw
digital assets, the Group transfers the digital assets from its
own wallets to the customer’s wallet and the related asset
and liability due to the customer is derecognised. When the
digital assets were lent to the counterparties, such inventories
will then recorded in “inventories due from counterparties”
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.10 Digital assets (continued)

The Group’s digital asset portfolio mainly comprises
cryptocurrencies and stablecoins whose measurement are as
follows:

° Since the Group actively trades cryptocurrencies,
purchasing them with a view to their resale in the
near future, and generating a profit from fluctuations
in the price, the Group applies the guidance in HKAS
2 for commodity broker-traders and measures the
digital assets at fair value less costs to sell. The
Group considers there are no significant “costs to
sell” digital assets and hence measurement of digital
assets is based on their fair values with changes in fair
values recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
changes.

See Note 3.3 for estimation of fair value in respect of the
digital assets and digital asset liabilities.

Digital assets received from and held on behalf of clients by
the Group are safekeeping in segregated client wallets and
the Platform. Based on the respective rights and obligations
of the Group and its clients under the client terms and
conditions, digital assets held by the Group on behalf of
the clients are recognised off the consolidated statement of
financial position on the basis that (1) the Group does not
entitle to any benefit of income from the holding of the digital
assets on the client’s behalf; (2) the digital assets are held in
segregated share wallets and the Platform separate from the
Group; and (3) the Group is legally restrained from transferring
or transacting with the client’s digital assets other than as
instructed by the clients.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.11 Trade and other receivables

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

211 B 5 KR HEEUERTR

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed and loans granted to customers in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
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cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at BERR B RIS AT E
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 212 HERINEEEY

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts (if
any).

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

213

2.14

TReRERBRN RERRE
FEVEETFRAS JERER
WIRTTHER - REEAH 81 =1E
BERHEMERBMIERRE KRBT
B (A °

AR
BRI B A o

EERBREITNRSAEMIE
PRATE 5 R PRISRRBTR (0
FRIRIR) ©

8 5 R E M FE {3 BR TR

BERMERAATHELEEHF
IF £ & 72 B8 5 7 o SN AR 75 7 G <2 A
BT o 6 B 5 Kk M AT ARRE
TR BT —FHUAN WIHEEER
KEBERT A ARRER) - H
BanEnsnead; S8 04
JERBAE.

Ba REMENRRIBIZATE
MR HEH BB R X512 # i
EEZIKD-I'EO

SR ENEREEAT
—EER

_-q__

1649



170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.15 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (eg the
entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (eg profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (eg
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares
for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.15 Share-based payments (continued)

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

215 LURIP B ERZ (A (@)

When the options are exercised, the Group transfers the
appropriate number of shares to employee. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited directly to equity.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings comprise financing arrangements denominated in
fiat currency and digital assets.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred and subsequently carried at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Digital assets borrowed from counterparties are initially
recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and
are subsequently measured at fair value, which align with the
fact that digital asset are non-financial assets measured at fair
value less costs to sell.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to

the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences, arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits

@M

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of each
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution plan
and pays contributions to a privately administered
pension insurance plan on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to a termination when the entity has a
detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of
current employees without possibility of withdrawal.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of each reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of such obligation
can be made.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amounts have been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligations. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.21 Contingent liabilities and contingent 221 FARBBRINREE

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resource will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow
is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

2.22 Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or

2.22
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

1-|'| El OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued) 2.22 YW ATERR (48)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.22 Revenue recognition (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following criteria:

° the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

° the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

° the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

2.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.24 Dividend distribution

2 FEGHEBREE (@)

2.24 BB 7K

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are declared by the directors
in case of interim dividends or approved by the Company’s
shareholders in case of final dividends.

2.25 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL”). Dividends are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.26 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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2.26
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.27 Interest income from inventories due
from counterparties

Interest income derived from digital assets due from
counterparties is denominated in units of the relevant digital
asset on lending to the counterparties and is recognised
based on its fair value over the term of the arrangement
using effective interest rate. It is recorded in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

2.28 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
@iy is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.28 Related parties (continued)

)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZEZ_Z—

“F=ZRA=+—HLEE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks:

market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price

risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that
is not the functional currency of the individual group
companies and net investments in foreign operations.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, most of the financial
assets and liabilities of the Group’s subsidiaries are
denominated in their respective foreign currencies.

There are certain United States dollar financial assets
and liabilities held by the Group with HK$ and USD
functional currency respectively. Since HK$ are pegged
to the USD, management considers the foreign
exchange risk arising from such financial assets and
liabilities to the Group is not significant. Hence, the
directors consider the Group does not have any
significant foreign exchange risk exposure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets with variable interest rate. Management does
not anticipate significant impact to interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of bank balances are not
expected to change significantly.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from certain
investments held by the Group which are classified
in the consolidated statement of financial position as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For listed equity securities, if the quoted price of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
had appreciated/depreciated by 10% with all other
variables held constant, the Group'’s loss after income
tax for the Year would have been approximately
HK$322,000 (2021: HK$1,032,000) lower/higher as
a result of gains/losses on change in fair value of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Price risk

For unlisted investment fund, assuming that the unit
price of the fund increased/decreased by 10% and
all other variables held constant at the end of the
report period, the Group’s loss after income tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$200,000
(2021: HK$107,000).

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade and other receivables,
contract assets, amount due from a related party, pledged
bank deposit and bank balances. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’
failure to perform their obligations as at the reporting dates
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets and
contract assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to
be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers and counterparties. These evaluations focus on
the counterparty’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information specific to
the counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates. Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade and other receivable and contract assets balance at the
end of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, there were four (2021: four) customers
which individually contributed over 10% of the Group’s
trade receivables, loan receivables and contract assets. The
aggregate amounts of trade receivables, loan receivables
and contract assets from these customers amounted to
53% (2021: 57%) of the Group’s total trade receivables, loan
receivables and contract assets as at 31 March 2022.

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:
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Trade receivables/

Other

Category  Description contract assets financial assets
BARBIRR

il o ANEE HthERmEE

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
amounts not credit-impaired

BAH REHFANENRRE BXREMAHRE BEBHEHEE 12@ERBEHEESSE
BE-BEERE

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

5k BNSEDEEERRB AR LA REBHERES BEBHERES

BE-RBEERE BE-BEERE

Indefault  There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -

credit-impaired credit impaired

EX BERBBETEECEEAMAE BEBHEHEE BEBHEHEE

BE-EERE BE-EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[&&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHERAKER (&)
Credit risk (continued) 8RR (@)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRHEFIEEETREBEERET
Group’s financial assets and contract assets which are Az AEBTMEERGNEEZ
subject to ECL assessment: EEREFE

Gross carrying

31 March 2022 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
128 B SR 2B H
—E__H#=HB=+—H Kz PIEBME FETAR FEHRIEE IR IREEAEE
HK$’000
F#ET
Trade receivables 18 Performing Lifetime ECL 3,929
B2 EUBRT B4 B2BIATAIEERE
In default Credit-impaired 7,666
EX EERE
Contract assets 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 67,703
BHEE B4 REBATRIEEFIE
In default Credit-impaired 36,191
BN SERE
Loan receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 18,474
FEUE R fE49 128 B FEARE E 18
In default Credit-impaired 10,328
EY E8RE
Other receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 5,856
HAFEURBRR B4y 12 A EHEE RS
In default Credit-impaired 456
EY EERE
Trust bank balance held on 25 Performing 12m ECL 147,547
behalf of customers
KRB A ZEEIRITHERR B4 128 B FRERE E 18
Bank balances 25 Performing 12m ECL 135,347
IRITAEER B4 12{8 B FEERE E 1R

1 E El OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

\

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[S&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MERKEZE @
Credit risk (continued) EERE @&

Gross carrying

31 March 2021 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 B s B @B A
B2 —F=A=+—H Wz NEBERRTAR TEHREERIE IREEAR%ER
HK$'000
FHT
Trade receivables 18 Performing Lifetime ECL 48,811
B2 EUERT B4 B2BERTRIEERE
In default Credit-impaired 12,034
EH EERE
Contract assets 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 48,360
BHEE B4 REBARTRAAEE 1R
In default Credit-impaired 60,926
BN =SERE
Loan receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 20,422
FEUE R 49 128 B FRERE E 18
In default Credit-impaired 7,775
EY EERE
Other receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 13,899
HAFEURBRRR B4y 128 B FEREE R
Amount due from a related party 29 Performing 12m ECL 1,980
FEUST — 2 RA i 75 RR 1B 49 128 B FRERE E 18

Trust bank balance held on

behalf of customers 23 Performing 12m ECL 49,128
REREFFA Z(E5ERITHER 49 128 FEHEE R
Bank balances 23 Performing 12m ECL 236,552
RITASER &4y 128 A faHiE &R 18
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables and contract assets have been assessed
individually with significant balances and the remaining
balances are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in
progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the
trade receivables and the contract assets on the same basis.

The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL.
It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding
looking information. The Group also makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables based
on the background and reputation of the customers,

historical settlement records and past experience.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[S&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HERAKER (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERRE &)
The loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and BREYRT aNEEKRERE
loan receivables were determined as follows. R EBIRBEEEN T
Weighted
average
expected Gross Expected
credit loss carrying credit Net carrying
rate amount loss amount
TS
EHEE BEHiEE
BiEx RERmE(E B REFE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TERT TERT
At 31 March 2022 RZEB-_&#=A=+—-H
Trade receivables B 5 FE AR TR
Provision on individual basis BERIEERE 66.40% 11,595 (7,699) 3,896
Contract assets BHNEE
Provision on individual basis BERIEERE 35.27% 103,894 (36,629) 67,265
Loan receivables EkRER
Provision on individual basis REREERE 38.00% 28,802 (10,944) 17,858
Other receivables Hit WA
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 4.01% 6,312 (253) 6,059
Weighted
average
expected Gross Expected
credit loss carrying credit Net carrying
rate amount loss amount
T
FHEE FHEE
35BS fRRREE B REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET
At 31 March 2021 RIZEZ—F=A=+—H
Trade receivables EV TS
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 10.69% 60,845 (6,502) 54,343
Contract assets BHEE
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 38.67% 109,286 (42,257 67,029
Loan receivables ElER
Provision on individual basis RENEERE 30.64% 28,197 (8,639) 19,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[&&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHERAKER (&)
Credit risk (continued) SEER (8
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract RN _E__ER_E_—F=ZH
assets and loan receivables as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 =t+t—H BIEVET a0EE
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows: KEWNE B EAR B 18 B B B R AT

BIEEAHENEEROT :

Trade Contract Loan Other Loan Trade Contract Other

receivables assets ivabl ivabl ivabl ivak assets  receivables

Loan Other  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

receivables  receivables  Notcredit-  Notcredit-  Notcredit-  Not credit- Credit- Credit- Credit- Credit-
12mECL 12mECL impaired impaired impaired impaired impaired impaired impaired impaired Total

HARMES  ANEE  RRER HMEURE  BRER HRRKER  ANEE  EMEKAE

BHER AtENRE ZEENRN PEENRY DEEMRE ZREENRS REENRS DESGREE ZEENES REAHRN

12BRRE 12BARE  GEGR  GEGE  GASR  GABR  GRGRE  FABR GABR  GASE
BEGR  EEER (BEEAD (BERAR (BEEME BHEERE  GEAE  (GBEED  GEER GRAEE it
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Thn T#n TEn TER Thn T T T Thn Thn T#n
As at 1 April 2020 AZE-TEMA-A 1267 = bl 749 - - - 3617 4,605 - 10499
Changes due to financil 8
instruments recognised
asat 1 Apr 2020:
- Transfer to credit-impaired (359) - (46) (499 - - 359 16 499 - -
- Impairment reversed (44 = (190) 232) = = S S (414 - (830)
- Impaiment recognised - - 252 4 - - 7416 2449 37,426 - 47547
New financiel assets or contract HELIEEN
assets originated or purchased SHEETANEE - - 106 101 - - - - 18 - 25
Exchange adjustments ERBE - - 7 - - - - - - - 7
As at 31 March 2021 KIB-f
=A=+-A 864 - 390 123 - - 7,175 6,112 42,134 - 57,398
As at 1 April 2021 KZ2Z-%mA-A 864 - 390 128 - - 7,115 6,112 42,134 - 57,398
Changes due to financial
instruments recognised
as at 1 April 2021:
- Transfer to lfetime ECL -BERERNENEE
(not credit-impaired) BRGHEERE) 2500 259) - 2,500 23 - - - - (5,000
- Transfer to credit-impaired -8EEERE - - (225) (35) 2,500 (253) 2,500 25 3% 253 5,000
- Impairment reversed -BREHE (50) . (37) (56) - - (522) ) . . (086)
- Impairment recognised -BRRHE 281 253 4 % - - - 3761 20,825 - 21,744
New financial assets of contract ~ FEEHEEH
assets originated or purchased ~ SREEGNEE - . 23 382 - - - - . . 595
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR - - - - - - - (2,431) (26,803) - 29,234)
Exchange adjustments EREE - - 8 - - - - - - - 8
As at 31 March 2022 RIEIZE
ZA=t+-A 1,191 - 3 438 - - 9,753 7,666 36,191 253 55,525

1 g D OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE
3 RESER (1)
3.1 HERAKEZE (B)

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and other receivables, contract assets and loan
receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables, contract
assets and loan receivables are presented as net impairment
losses within operating loss. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the same
line item.

At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the
12-month ECL of the other receivables and amount due from
a related party and considered that the ECL allowance for
these receivables is immaterial.

EEER (&

B RHEMBWERR ENEER
FEWRE RS & B S 2 U (o] A R B
T LU 8E o X MR S IR TR R UR B B9 45
REE EHPER) GBHARERALR
EEFTIEZESE-

B REMERERER - ENEER
RWRERNVREBENCEBERN
SIfERERBIEFE 2R CHEE
BERHB KOS E—BEERAK.

RIEZZFRZIZEZ—F=A8
=+— B> AEETEEMERR
BHREW—%EERREZ121E88
FEHE E BB R AZERITRIE
ZREEEEEEBM T EM -

BHERERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A
b=

MESIRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3 HEEEIR (B)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MHERAKER (&)
Liquidity risk REEEER
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and AEBNBKRATHEERERE
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with debt RS ESER REBRBEZLY
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves HNER TRERNEBREREAN
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from REFEEURRIRITT R EME R
banks and other financial institutions to meet their liquidity BRERENEAEES UENE
requirements in the short and long term. Management REEREPERSESHER -BEE
believes there is no significant liquidity risk as the Group has HE HRAEEERENEKIE
sufficient committed facilities to fund their operations. MEAHSERNES HHMES
KnEhEE R -
The following table details the remaining contractual TREFLAERNEHREBENER
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the SHRMNEBR TR EBE R bR
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual SIMRITRRERE (BEFERITY
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments MER (BEAZE) REREHRN
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on BNEARIZR A E N B REEE
current rates at the end of each reporting period) an the BEYNHRBERHHE !
earliest date the Group may be required to pay:
On
demand or Between Between
within one and two and
one year two years five years Total
BER —F WE
F—EFR EfE ERf st
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET THERT THERT
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZE=H=+—H
Trade and other payables BRRAMENRR 56,212 - - 56,212
Liabilities due to customers EBAER&E 147,547 - - 147,547
Amounts due to former subsidiaries F& (AT B A RIFIE 10,791 - - 10,791
Amount due to a related party E—aBERTIE 18,073 S S 18,073
Loans from related parties MERER 63,897 33,164 - 97,061
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,523 4,451 1,687 10,661
301,043 37,615 1,687 340,345

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[S&EIE (48)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HERAKER (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) mBEEEE (@)
On
demand or Between Between
within one and two and
one year two years five years Total
BER —f WE
F—ER EmE ERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt T#T THT
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—f#=A=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERT IR 99,060 - - 99,060
Liabilities due to customers ENER&E 108,151 - - 108,151
Amount due to a former subsidiary &S —FERII B AE A 10,641 - - 10,641
Amount due to a related party E—2BERFE 10,244 - - 10,244
Loan from a related party —LEERER 153,549 - - 153,549
Lease liabilities HESR 2,223 123 - 2,346
383,868 123 - 383,991
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BEAXREIR
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to AEBNREEEARNEIEZEES
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, REEREBEEEZSENED U
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, to FEARRRELOREZIFAER
support the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin NEERIEE ; BENSEAERES
commensurate with the level of business and market risks EBKFERTEREEENERT
in the Group’s operations and to maintain an optimal capital B TH#HBFRENE RSB LURER
structure to reduce the cost of capital. BRI
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group BEFTHABRERGEE  AEET
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, FEABIRNRENREESRE BR
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new RIRBE®  EITHR EEILE
borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt. B HEBELUREER
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. AEBNEESEBLEERESE
This ratio is calculated as the total interest-bearing liabilities Kot lEHZBREFEXRNEE
as at each year end divided by the total equity as at each BEMAERUNSEERNER AR
year end. EHETE o

B EEERARAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

3 RAKEIER (8)
3.2 EABE (@)

The gearing ratios of the Group are as follows: AEBNEESBELENT :
2022 2021
-z BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Total borrowings wmEs 102,675 150,817
Total equity 4B 166,623 219,573
Gearing ratio BESEWE 62% 69%

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial assets and liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments

carried at fair value as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 by level

of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair

value.

Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a

fair value hierarchy as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

OKG Technology Holdings Limited

2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

==
3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 [EIEEIE (48)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFELE @)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued) EREERERE @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tota
& B B fazt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
AT AT TERT FTER
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZB-Z#=A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through AT &t ABHR
profit or loss EHEE
- Listed equity securities —EmREES 3,216 - - 3,216
- Life insurance policy - \ERE - - 2,685 2,685
- Wealth management products -BHER - 6,436 - 6,436
- Unlisted warrants —JEEThRRAR R - - 6,515 6,515
— Unlisted investment fund ~-FLHREES - - 2,004 2,004
3,216 6,436 11,204 20,856
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tota
F—1k E Eop izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET TET FTET
As at 31 March 2021 RIZEZ-F=F=1+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through AT EF ABEN
profit or loss THEE
- Listed equity securities —EmkEES 10,324 - - 10,324
- Life insurance policy - ASRE - - 2,658 2,658
- Wealth management products —BHEM - 10,850 - 10,850
- Unlisted warrants —JE L RREE - - 3,658 3,658
- Unlisted investment fund —-kLmREES - - 1,070 1,070
10,324 10,850 7,386 28,560
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MESIRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZEZ_Z—

“F=ZRA=+—HLEE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The fair value of the life insurance policy is determined based
on the cash value of the life insurance policy which is not an
observable input. Management estimates the fair value based
on the latest information of the life insurance policy provided
by insurance company.

The fair value of the wealth management products are
determined based on the quoted prices from the relevant
banks.

The fair value of the unlisted warrants are determined based
on the Black-Scholes model. The significant unobservable
inputs mainly include risk free rate of 1.02% (2021: 0.08%)
(reference to US Treasury curve) and expected volatility of
range from 49.29% (2021: 52.42%) (reference to comparable
listed companies). The fair value increases with the increase
in the risk free rate or expected volatility.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level
1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity
investments listed in Hong Kong and US Stock market
classified as trading securities.

The fair value of the unlisted investment fund is determined
based on the net asset value of the investment fund.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 JRE[S&EIE (48)
3.3 AFEHE @)

EMEERER (@)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for TREJNAFEF=—HRIBEEH 2L

the Year:

2022 2021
—E-= TR —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Opening balance FEHEEER 7,386 5,767
Purchases during the year FAREE 1,182 932

Gain on the amendment and B3] R BINER R I RE 2 W
restatement of the warrants 16,484 -
Net fair value change FRFEEH (13,848) 6387
Closing balance FREEER 11,204 7,386

REFE  BEFRZBAEEES
%o

There were no transfers between levels during the Year.

KABIEBRARNEEMBRAR
PSRRI A B ERMEE
EEtmafr REEEE A TEE
position approximate their fair value. e

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial

R E R A RAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Digital assets and liabilities

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the non-financial assets and
liabilities that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the Group has classified its non-financial assets and
liabilities into the three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level is provided in Note

3 HEEEIR (B)

3.3 ATEME (@)

BFrEERAR

KWEEBREER M HERERA
NI ATEEDRRGENIFERE
ER S AR T AR ERYF B K h
SteRRMEBMEE LA TERER
WEMABBA EMHNER ~&H
RHFEMEERBRDES G
ZRABETHRAEN=EEHR SFR
BRI B £ SCMIEE3.3 0

3.3 above.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1R B4R B izt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TAT TART TET AT
As at 31 March 2022 RZF-_ZH5=A=+—H
Assets BE
Digital assets HTEE 560,097 - - 560,097
Liabilities &
Borrowings - &8
Digital asset borrowed from HHFREAZ
counterparties BTEE 494,072 - - 494,072

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 EEEIR (@)

3.3 ATEME (@)

Digital assets and liabilities (continued) HFEEREE @)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R - Er izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET TER FTEx
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_—5=ZA=+—H
Assets BE
Digital assets YFEE 68,879 - - 68,879
Inventories due from counterparties  FEWHFHEE 12,766 - - 12,766
81,645 - - 81,645
Liabilities af
Liabilties due to customers — ENER&E—
Digital asset liabilities YrEESE 59,023 - - 59,023

The digital asset and inventories due from counterparties are
measured at level 1 fair value. The determination of fair value
hierarchy level for valuation of the digital asset would depend
on whether the underlying digital assets is traded in an active
market.

Digital assets borrowed from counterparties and digital asset
liabilities due to customers are measured at level 1 fair value.
The determination of fair value hierarchy level for valuation of
the liabilities due to customers would depend on whether the
underlying digital asset is traded in an active market.

In determining fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group considers accessibility
to and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal digital asset markets dealt with by the Group.
Reference is made to the quoted prices from the principal
digital asset markets in determining the fair values of the
corresponding digital assets.

There were no transfers between levels during the Year.

RFEERBBBFHINEERS
—HRAFEHBE-BFEEMLEZ
N EERNETERSBURITAEFR
FHEERGINERMIHHRIS -

REFHEAZBFTEERENER
FHBFEERRRE —RATE
STE-EERNEREEGENA
FEEBREFHEBABRFEEZS N
SEETIBRRZME

EEEQTER  AEEKHE
BEURATE BEXAEREEEZRTE
HIHBI R Rt R B BB A2 > DA Al
FERETRSNEIEHRFEED
B REEMRBFEENRTE
Fig2ETBRUFEEDHRE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

Price risk of digital assets

To facilitate the Group’s proprietary trading in digital
assets, the Group held digital assets of approximately
US$71,554,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$560,097,000) as of 31 March 2022. The majority of the
Group’s digital asset were stablecoins, which are asset-
backed with fair values approximate US$1 per unit with
limited price risk and other digital assets with higher liquidity,
such as Bitcoin (‘BTC”) and Ethereum (“ETH”). As at 31
March 2022, the fair values of the stablecoins, ETH and
BTC held by the Group were approximately US$32,898,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$257,511,000),
approximately US$11,781,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$92,220,000) and approximately US$7,940,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$62,151,000), representing
46.0%, 16.5% and 11.1% of the Group’s total digital assets.
In addition, the Group also borrowed digital assets from
counterparties of approximately US$70,804,000 (equivalent
to HK$494,072,000). The borrowings were in form of
stablecoins of US$45,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$352,242,000 and in forms of other digital assets of
approximately US$18,119,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$141,830,000). Consequently, the Group’s risk exposures
to the price risk of digital assets were limited to the net
balance of each digital asset it held.

Price volatility of digital assets may cause significant impacts
to the Group’s performance. Although the stablecoins are
asset-backed and the market price was approximately
US$1 per unit with minimal fluctuation, the volatility and any
unpredictability of the price of such stablecoins relative to
fiat currencies could also cause significant impact to the
Group’s financial performance. Furthermore, compared with
stablecoins, ETH, BTC and other digital assets are generally
with higher volatility.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group mainly held stablecoins
as proprietary digital assets to facilitate the digital assets
lending business. These digital assets are asset-backed and
have a market price of approximately US$1 per unit with
minimal fluctuation. As such, fair value risk in relation to these
proprietary digital assets is considered to be insignificant.
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3 EAKEIR (8)
3.4 BFEEAKEE (@

3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

(continued)

Risks related to safekeeping of digital assets

The Group mainly deposited its digital assets in the
cryptocurrency exchanges to facilitate its proprietary
trading in digital assets business. In addition, the
Group also held digital assets on behalf of its clients of
approximately US$16,980,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$132,913,000) as at 31 March 2022, of which
approximately 16.7% were deposited in the Platform
and approximately 83.3% were deposited in the Group’s
proprietary share wallets. As the Group had not any
insurance policy for its digital assets under custody,
the Group has implemented a series of risk control and
safeguarding protocols, any breakdown or closedown of
such cryptocurrency exchanges, potential cyber-attacks or
thefts could cause significant losses to the Group.

Investment risk related to trading of digital assets

The Group adopted quantitative trading strategies (the
“Strategies”) for its digital assets investment. The investment
performance mainly depends on market liquidity, Strategies
effectiveness and system reliability. The Group’s Strategies
in theory could make profits over time but could also suffer
huge losses in black swan events. In addition, there are
inherent risks with its trading, including but not limited to
errant algorithms, hacking, liquidation from extreme market
moves and counterparty risks. Although market liquidity is
closely monitored by the Group with the aid of systematic
alerting mechanism, under extreme market condition there
may occur huge mark-to-market losses. And such losses
may never recover if stop loss risk control mechanism is
triggered.
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3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets

(continued)

Investment risk related to trading of digital assets
(continued)

The Group has its own proprietary risk management system
that constantly monitors the performance of the Strategies
and conduct data analytics to review and modify the
Strategies. The trading systems are also constantly monitored
by the Group, including but not limited to their memory
usage, CPU consumption, network latency, etc., for any
anomalies. The system will also stop trading if certain circuit
breakers such as profit/loss performance or limits are hit. The
automated system aims to stop trading before material loss
and revoke account access if it detects any abnormalities.

Risks related to Anti-Money Laundering

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has
commenced to provide trust and custody services to its
clients. Any person who carries on a trust business in Hong
Kong has to comply with the relevant requirements of the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
guideline issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has implemented policies
and procedures for Anti-Money-Laundering and Know-
Your-Client that are initiated during the client onboarding
process and are applied by way of continuous monitoring
and reporting. In enhancing these policies and procedures,
we have also considered industry best-practice and the
recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force.
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3 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Risk management of the digital assets
(continued)

Credit risk

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group lend its
digital assets to counterparties in form of stablecoins being
the loan principal through the Platform. The counterparties
are required to deliver Bitcoin, another type of digital assets,
to the Platform as collateral to maintain the loan-to-value
(the “LTV”) ratio at a level of ranging from 55% to 65% at
inception. Additional collaterals are required to deposited
to the Platform at any time if the LTV ratio is increased to
80%. The collateral will be liquidated (i.e. the collateral will be
traded on the Platform and converted into certain amount
of relevant digital assets) when the LTV ratio is increased
to 90%. Considering the collateral arrangements, the credit
risk of the Group’s inventories due from counterparties is
considered to be low.

Since the Group mainly maintains certain of its digital assets
in accounts with the Platforms, the Group may be exposed
to significant losses if the Platforms experience outages
or become unavailable. To mitigate such risks, the Group
only establish accounts with the Platforms that have good
reputation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The loss allowances for financial assets and contract asset
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Progress towards completion of

construction works

The Group recognises its contract over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of the end of the reporting period, measured based
on the surveys of work performed to date of the individual
contract of construction works relative to total contract
value. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken
in construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting period.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs and variation orders prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the corresponding costs of the contract revenue.

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims
prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the
profit recognised in each period.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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(c) Accounting of digital assets

transactions and balances

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for digital
assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgement in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the facts and circumstances of the Group’s
digital assets.

Given the business model of the Group, digital assets are
accounted for as inventories and are measured at fair value
less costs to sell on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Furthermore, in determining fair values, management needs
to apply judgement to identify the relevant available markets,
and to consider accessibility to and activity within those
markets in order to identify the principal digital asset markets
for the Group.

(c)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 S AXEi{hetRIIET (B)
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 Uz ELfthU A ~ Wz R
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT BER2EEN
INFORMATION
Revenue and other income, gains and losses recognised during the A FE N Re AU ~ W aR KBS 4B FE R0
Year are as follows: [N

2022 2021
=S T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue Wz
Construction wastes handling services EEREYRIERY 148,816 234,297
Foundation, building construction WENBFRETER

works and ancillary services RER 207,242 168,444
Technology services KRR 19,813 28,012
Trust and custody services EL AT E R 8,712 1,397
Services income from operation of EUSDKZ IRFZWA (B2())

USDK (Note (j)) 248 159
Revenue from contracts with customers ~ REZEF S48k 384,831 432,309
Rental income from lease of machinery HE#RBIEENHESUWA 268 1,469
Trading in digital assets and net fair value HFBERGRBFEEZ

change on digital assets AT EEE 4,954 -
Interest income from lending business BEERFEHEWA 2,686 4,372
Fair value change on investments in securities  EH R E N T EEH) (7,125) 14,814
Total revenue RNl 385,614 452,964
Other income, gains and losses HAanA ~ Ui zs K k518
Interest income FEWA 143 636
Distribution and interest income from financial 2 k&R B AT EF ABHEZ

assets at fair value through profit or loss TRIEENF SWA Hai))

(Note (i) 1,089 -
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, HEME BERSEZ

plant and equipment - net (B18) a5 (20) 1,362
Written-off of property, WEEE BB R

plant and equipment (1,195) -
Gain on early termination of lease and REBARIIBERENAE

modification of lease - 2,277
Government grants (Note (i) BUT R RE (B7a2(i) 107 8,512
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries — net HERB A E FEE

(Note 35) (Hz£35) 15,724 =
Net (losses)/gains on change in fair value of  BAFEFABZZEREE

financial assets at fair value through ANTELE (518) /WRFE8

profit or loss (13,848) 954
Gain on the amendment and B R E R AR RS 2 I

restatement of the warrants 16,484 -
Service income BRFFUA - 2,047
Others Hith 696 374

19,180 16,162
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i

(i)

OKLink Fintech Limited (“OKLink”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, creates and operates an online platform (“OKLink Platform”) for
the conduct of activities involving the USDK cryptocurrency, an Ethereum-
based virtual asset. Each USDK created represents a digital record of the
USDK holder’s beneficial interest in one US dollar held on trust by Prime
Trust, LLC (“Prime Trust”) for the benefit of the USDK holder. The OKLink
Platform can be used by the USDK users to establish USDK Accounts
for the purposes of (i) requesting that USDK be issued in exchange
for an equivalent amount of U.S. Dollars provided to Prime Trust as
trustee (“minting”), (i) requesting that Prime Trust provides U.S. Dollars in
exchange for an equivalent amount of USDK, which begins by sending the
USDK to a personal address designated for burning (“burning”), and (i)

sending and receiving USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts.

In accordance with the terms set out in the contracts with USDK Users,
OKLink, as technology service provider, does not have control of, or liability
for, any products or services that are purchased from third parties by the
USDK Users in using the USDK Services. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, OKLink is not liable to the USDK Users or any third
parties for any losses or issues that may arise from the use of the OKLink
Platform, hence it is considered that the actual or contingent liabilities of
the Group that have arisen from the operation of the OKLink Platform are

immaterial.

During the Year, the distribution and interest income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are approximately HK$843,000 and
HK$246,000 respectively.

During the Year, government grants mainly included the subsidies received
from the Group’s vessel and the Employment Support Scheme (‘ESS”)
under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Government. During the year ended 31 March
2021, government grants mainly included subsidies obtained from the
ESS. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

5

Wam  ELAUT A - U 25 B2
EHRRSEEE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts AFEREHORE
with customers
2022 2021
- S BT —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Timing of revenue recognition Ut 2 e 22 B
Construction wastes handling services BEEYRIER 148,816 234,297
Foundation, building construction HMENBFERETIER
works and ancillary services FEERRTS 207,242 168,444
Technology services R AR T 19,813 28,012
Trust and custody services BT E R 8,712 1,397
Services income from operation of USDK 48 USDKZ ARFS WA 248 159
384,831 432,309
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 2 T 57 Ff
Over time beliS s P 384,831 432,309
Performance obligations for contracts with BERAERSANENEE

customers

Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services and construction wastes handling services

Such services are recognised as performance obligations satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced or the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group as the Group performs, respectively.
Revenue for these works is therefore recognised over time. The
Group measures progress using an output method. Specifically,
progress is based on surveys of the relevant services completed
by the Group to the end of the current reporting period with
reference to certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor. The directors of the
Company consider that this method faithfully depicts the Group’s
performance towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations in these contracts under HKFRS 15.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Technology services

Revenue from technology services is recognised over time because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. It
is recognised over time using output method, i.e. to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurement of the value of goods
or services promised under the contract that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.
The contracts on provision of technology services include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service period
once certain specified milestones are reached.

Trust and custody services

The trust and custody services provided by the Group typically
include the safekeeping, settlement and other customised services
of its clients’ assets. The Group will enter into custody agreements
with the customers and provide the trust and custody services for
their assets. The types of assets custodied under this business
include digital assets and fiat currencies. In general, the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits as the Group
performs. As such, revenue from trust and custody services is
recognised over time.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Services income from operation of USDK

OKLink does not charge the USDK Users any fees or costs for
minting, transferring or burning any USDK but instead is entitled
to receive monthly compensations based on the total USD assets
held in trust in monthly volume tiers depending on the daily closing
balance ledger of trust assets. USDK Users obtain the benefits
of the services carried out by OKLink in minting, transferring and
burning the USDK by holding the USDK in their USDK Accounts
until the USDK is transferred or redeemed. Hence revenue is
recognised over time as the USDK Users simultaneously receive
and consume these benefits provided by OKLink’s performance as
OKLink performs over time.

In respect of providing services relating to sending and receiving
USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts, OKLink does not charge
transaction fees associated with such transfers. The services
carried out by OKLink in transferring USDK to other USDK
Accounts or other Users are not distinct within the context of the
contracts with the USDK Users from the other promised services in
the contracts.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations from
contracts with customers

All of the Group’s remaining performance obligations for contracts
with customers except for construction wastes handling services
contracts, are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

In addition, construction wastes handling services contracts are not
included in the above analysis as the possible transaction prices
and the ultimate consideration for these contracts will depend on
the occurrence or non-occurrence of future customer usage. In
light of these basis of preparation, the above does not reflect the
expectation of the Group’s performance. The analysis is solely for
compliance with HKFRS 15 disclosure requirement in respect of
transaction price allocated the remaining performance obligations.
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on

the reports reviewed by the directors, the chief operating decision-

maker (“CODM”), that are used to make strategic decisions. The

CODM considers the business from a product/service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

(@)

Construction wastes handling services: Provision of
management and operation of public fill reception facilities,
including public fill banks and temporary construction waste
sorting facilities, for construction and demolition materials;

Foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services: Provision of site formation works, excavation and
lateral support, piling construction, pile caps or footing
construction and reinforced concrete structure works,
building construction works and ancillary services mainly
included hoarding and demolition works and lease of
machinery;

Digital assets related businesses: Provision of 1) proprietary
trading in digital assets; and 2) trust and custody services;

Technical services: Provision of 1) developing the USDK
smart contract, managing the USDK smart contract to effect
minting and burning of USDK, 2) technology development
and I.T. infrastructure service, and 3) the Group’s blockchain
technology services, including the provision of Chaintelligence
Pro, blockchain explorers and other related services; and

Other businesses: 1) Investment in securities and 2) Lending
business which includes the Group’s money lending business
carried out in Hong Kong and the lending of the Group’s
digital assets.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

In previous period, technology services, investment in securities and
lending business were reported to CODM as stand-alone business
units and constituted separate segments. Following a change in
the Group’s operating and reporting structure, starting from the
Year, such business activities are combined into a single segment
before reported to the CODM. Accordingly, the CODM now reviews
the Group’s internal reporting based on four abovementioned
segments. Following the changes of reporting segments, the
comparative segment information has been reclassified.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. Unallocated income,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, income tax credit
are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except unallocated bank balances and cash, deferred tax
assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, deferred tax
liabilities, amounts due to former subsidiaries, loans from related
parties, amount due to a related party, lease liabilities and other
unallocated liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS

AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

5

i3S~ E A A ~ s e
RS EEE ()

REDBER (8

Foundation,
Construction building
wastes construction Digital assets
handling works and related Technical Other
services  ancillary services businesses services businesses Total
BEEY  HEBFEE HTEE ) .
RERE IRREERS Ll iR Hih#H ik
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TR TR TER
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_Z__£=B=1+-H
JI2:3:5
Revenue Wi
External revenue ShERM 148,816 207,510 13,666 20,061 (4,439) 385,614
Cost of sales BEmAs (106,671) (173,157) (8.282) (12577) 652) (301,339)
Impairment losses on intangible assets BVAEZRERSE = = = - (50) (50)
Impairment losses on financial assets and EREERANEEL
contract assets HEEE - (24,639) - (289) (2,425) (27,353)
Segment results DEEE 42,145 9,714 5,384 7,195 (7,566) 56,872
Unallocated income FAEMA 19,180
Unallocated corporate expenses FPEATER (129,320)
Finance costs AR (5,435)
Loss before income tax RFrSRAlEE (58,703)
Income tax credit FisiES 27
Loss for the year ERES (58,432)
Included in segment results are: SADBEANER |
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ~ #)% BE R R ERTE 4,936 1,683 32 4,142 156 10,949
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 74 718 135 976 1,923 3,826
Amortisation of intangble assets B BEES - = = 4420 = 4420
5,010 2,401 167 9,538 2,079 19,195
At 31 March 2022 RIB--“£=A=1+-A
Segment assets AYEE 37,791 60,900 700,619 74,585 66,088 948,983
Deferred tax assets BEREEE A2
Unallocated assets APEEE 48,109
Total assets BEEEE 997,334
Additions to non-current asset: FERBEERE .
Segment assets NHEE 1,753 1,515 3,085 6,517 4,869 18,639
Unallocated assets FOEEE =
18,639
Segment liabilties NHEE 11,340 36,057 648,176 7,058 3,956 706,587
Unallocated liabiliies APEAE 2,559
Amounts due to former subsidiaries EAIRil B ASRE 10,791
Loan from a related party RE—4EERER 92,135
Amount due to related parties EfEER A 18,078
Current income tax liabiliies BEFERaR 109
Deferred tax liabilties BIERESE 457
Total liabilties BEAE 830,711

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5 Ujas« Hftlg A < Uz
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT BER2BER (B)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

. . . . gy A
Operating segment information (continued) RENTBER (8)
Foundation,
Construction building
wastes construction Digital assets
handling works and related Technical Other
services ancillary services businesses services businesses Total
i
. BFEE 7
BEEY I8k UAFEE .
RERE RERY TERIER R Hin @it
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Year ended 31 March 2021 HE-T--F=A=t+-H
l:3:3
Revenue Wik
External revenue ShEBU & 234,097 169,913 1,397 28,171 19,186 452,964
Cost of sales ENA (228,861) (157,810) (66) (18.973) 689) 406,399)
Impaiment losses on intangiole assets BYEEZRESE S = - - (180) (180)
Impairment losses on financial assets and EREERANEEL
contract assets AEEE 140 (38,658) - (150) (8,224) (46,892)
Segment results DEEE 5,576 (26,555) 1,331 9,048 10,093 (507)
Unallocated income FAEWA 16,162
Unallocated corporate expenses FARATER (104,082)
Finance costs MERE (7,939)
Loss before income tax FRFrSRAIEE (96,360)
Income tax credt Figiins 2,505
Loss for the year FRES (93,855)
Included in segment results are: SADBEANER |
Depreciation of property, plant NE BRERRETE
and equipment ) 6,953 4,055 - 966 - 11,974
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE - - - 3,334 - 3,334
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESY - - - 2,935 - 2,935
6,953 4,055 = 7% = 18243
At 31 March 2021 R-B_-%#=RA=+-H
Segment assets NYEE 85,217 105,923 108,151 78,033 108,819 481,143
Unallocated assets FAEEE 123998
Total assets BELE 605,141
Additions to non-current asset: FRBEERE .
Segment assets NYEE = 4,165 - - - 4,165
Unallocated assets FOEREE 3,399
7,564
Segment liabilties AHPEE 33,860 60,911 108,151 5872 476 209,270
Unallocated fiabilties FAERER 2,667
Amount due to a former subsidiary Ef—m
AMEARNE 10,641
Loan from a related party RE-2EERER 148,500
Amount due to a related party Ef—2EERTE 10,244
Lease liabilties HE&E 2,317
Deferred tax liabilties EERESE 1,929
Total liabilities BR0E 385,568

B 52 S e L NG
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

216

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Operating segment information (continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is

m » HLAUE A

- W7o Kz

ik
B R 5 Bﬁ*il (&)

REDERE R (8

WEE

REFZIIRERWHERTHIZEEUE

presented based on location of operation is as follows: 25T
2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
PRC A 19,812 28,012
Hong Kong 58 365,802 424,952
385,614 452,964
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding AEBZIERBEE FEREELEREBE
deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographical E) BRI REEMEBUEEY
location of the assets:
2022 2021
=~ —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
PRC FRE 7,074 12,630
Hong Kong 55 25,146 29,497
32,220 42,127

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group are as follows:

Yoo ~ ELAMUTA « Mo e
BERABER (&)
WS HER @)
ERErEERNER

B 1A 2 B G A TR BB 1 0% O B 5
T

2022 2021

—E-= —ET—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Customer A' ZHRA 147,618 234,297
Customer B? ZRB? 74,324 N/A 3 A3
Customer C2 BRC? 54,688 N/AZ 5 A3
Customer D? BAD? N/AF3E e 47,715

i Revenue from construction wastes handling services.

2 Revenue from foundation, building construction works and ancillary
services.
s The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.

! R B SRR R IR AR P A W 2 o
2 REME - BFREETIRREERBNUK

8 PIr# FE U o 1 A< S B U e AR BR SR BB 10% o

FINANCE COSTS =172
2022 2021
—E-C _E_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Interest on bank overdrafts IRITEXHE - 2
Interest on lease liabilities HESGME 150 1,181
Interest on loans from related parties FEFERFE 5,285 6,750
5,435 7,933

B ERERARAT
—x-Zggy =217
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 PBRFEREMRAIESIS
2022 2021
=S —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#w Fi

Loss before income tax has been arrived ~ FRFTSIRATESE BN, Gt A)

at after charging/(crediting): UTEBEZBEN:
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEMBl & 1,100 1,150
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments 8 T 7 » G35 E S (W75£8)
(Note 8) 132,467 111,870
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERRBINE Hat14)
equipment (Note 14) 10,949 16,680
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15){F B & EITE (Wa£15) 3,826 21,548
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) EF.EE#EH (#1:216) 4,420 2,935
Leasing expenses (Note 15) HERS Wat15) 872 4,125
Share-based payment expense (Note 8) LU AR Z A (Hf:28) - 1,385
Exchange gain, net &R 5 > T RE (281) (399)
8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, 8 EEEFMAXZ BIFES
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ E
EMOLUMENTS
2022 2021
- ZET—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Salaries and allowances e RoRL 129,206 109,483
Share-based payment expense MEHBABERZIRES - 1,385
Retirement scheme contributions BRRETEIERR
— defined contribution plan — EERHRETE 3,261 2,387
132,467 113,255
The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong NEBEREREELEE (MRES)) 518
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory BHWNRE EEARAECBEERTE -
Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the ZA BB THMEBEEHAIIESEER
scheme are held separately from the Group under independently HAEENEEDHITE RBETTEIMH
administered funds. Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the MIRBRBE T ERGIBIT

MPF Schemes Ordinance.

E 1 a OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group is required
to contribute a certain percentage of basic payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme.

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

ﬁa‘?‘“ﬂ?fﬁiﬁilﬁﬁi
—E=A=+—HIEEE

8 EEEFEL QEES
Mz (%)

AEERFELINHBEASNESES
BB EFNRERAEFEE
rEFEBARZRRENFEBLEEST
EMAMNETENL  UBHR - AEH
HRAEAN I ZE—BERAFEED
FREs (K -

9 EFENRER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EFREFEITHRASME
emoluments
The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for BEEERFET LBZ ABREBEZZ
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 is set out below: T THERIET—HF=HB=+—H
IEFENMEETINT -
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits  Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
Ei A RIRETE
ik REMET BiETEAL 25N st
Year ended BE_E_Z HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
31 March 2022 =A=+—HLEE FTERT FTERT FTET FTHET FTHET
Executive director HiTES
Mr. Ren Yunan (“Mr. Ren’) FRBEE (MERED
(Chief executive officer) (THER) 600 2,851 - 30 3,481
Mr. Zhang Chao (*Mr. Zhang’) REBEE (R4
(Note (i) (rati) 100 69 - 26 195
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (‘MIr. Xu") (Note (j) ~ %FAE L% (M%)
(Hrzt) 500 - - - 500
Mr. Tang Yue (‘Mr. Tang’) (Note i) &4 (BSR4 () 600 - - - 600
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (“Mr. Pu’) BEILE (DHkE) 600 - - - 600
Independent non-executive BILENTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (‘Mr. Jiang”) BERAE (BEE) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (“Mr. Lee") ENBEE (%) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin (“Mr. Li") FRMAE (FEE) 240 - - - 240
3,120 2,920 - 56 6,096
Exﬂﬁ;ﬁj’“ﬁyﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

—EER

_-q__
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFmAKkELD (@
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EFRFETHAEME
emoluments (continued) (&)
Employer's
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2 BIREHE
ik REWREF WIETEA BEMM iat
Year ended HE-Z--% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2021 =A=+—HLEE TET TERT FET FET TER
Executive director HTES
Mr. Ren Yunan (M. Ren’) FEEEE (MELE))
(Chief executive officer) (fTERE) 600 3,198 666 21 4,485
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (“Mr. XU") (Note ) %ERERAE (M%)
(miz) 600 - - = 600
Mr. Tang Yue (‘Mr. Tang’) (Note (i) ESE4E (TESRE)) (Wazh) 420 - - - 420
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (‘Mr. Pu’) HBETRE (THRE) 600 76 - = 676
Independent non-executive BIFRiTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (“Mr. Jiang") BRERAE (BEE) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (“Mr. Lee") FNBEE (FEE) 240 - - = 240
Mr. Li Zhouxin (‘Mr. Li") FAEMEE ((F54%) 240 - - - 240
2,940 3,274 666 21 6,001

During the Year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Year

(2021: Ni).

Notes:

(i) Mr. Xu resigned as non-executive director on 31 January 2022.

(ii) Mr. Tang was appointed as non-executive director of the Company

on 20 July 2020.

(iii) Mr. Zhang was appointed as an executive director on 31 January

2022.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

ESEN REx ()

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) LEEESHFHMAL
The five highest paid individuals during the Year include one RAEFE> ﬁ% S AT EE
(2021: one) director whose emoluments are disclosed above. — % (CEI—F R ESF HEHF

The emoluments in respect of the remaining four (2021: four)

individuals are as follows:

MIRER EX -BREAGTESL (T
T %) AL ZHEO T

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FAET FET

Salaries and allowances e RoR 18,048 11,220
Discretionary bonuses 9B TEAL 27,300 14,500
Retirement scheme contributions BIRETEHRR 69 72
45,417 25,792

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals who are not

the directors of the Company fell within the following bands:

WIAERBDEFZERSFMALZ
T LT EE

Number of individuals

AE

2022 2021
== T —F

Emolument bands (in HK$) #NEEE CBoo)
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 22,000,0007 75 - 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 775 %E3,500,0008 75 - 1
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 775 % 4,000,000 75 1 -
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7 71 £6,000,00078 7T 1 =
HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 77T 26,500,000 75 - 1
HK$7,000,001 — HK$7,500,000 7,000,001787c 27,500,000 75 1 -
HK$15,000,001 — HK$15,500,000  15,000,00178 71 % 15,500,00078 7% - 1
HK$28,500,001 — HK$29,000,000 28,500,001 78 7T & 29,000,0007 7T 1 -
4 4

During the Year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to

the above highest paid individuals as (i) an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or (i) as compensation for loss of

office as a director or management of any members of the

REFE AERBHEAU LES
HMA LA EROMALTER
SN A 7 £ B 12 B BB K (i) (F A 2
EEEAKE ’\TE’JEEIE@

Group (2021: Nil). HEEEEE CE—F 8 -
BRI E iR AR AR

B CEFR

221



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT 10 FRiGIRIES

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Hong Kong profits tax: SANER
— Current income tax —BIEAPRIS TR 1,443 -
— Over-provision in prior years —BFFEEBREE - (1,629)
Deferred income tax (Note 26) IRIEFTISIR (075%26) (1,714) (876)
Income tax credit Fri8fMiE%R (271) (2,505)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for the Year.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to one entity
within the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the Year.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 10 FR{8#RiE% (&)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the KEEPRFTERAIBENRIBHEERES

theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax MERMMEMEENIERTEZENERE
rate as follows: wr

2022 2021

== T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAERT FET

Loss before income tax FRPTISIRAIES B (58,703) (96,360)

Calculated at domestic tax rate of 16.5% 2Bl E16.5%s1 &

(2020: 16.5%) (CEZTE  16.5%) (9,686) (15,899)
Income tax at concessionary rate RBEBREFEZMER (165) -
Income not subject to tax BERRAWA (3,847) (3,253)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes e[RRI 4,422 3,394
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREFEERRBETE

recognised (64) 8,008
Tax losses not recognised RIS RNIEEE 12,427 8,386
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B oAl RSB IERS 1B

recognised (1,491) (736)
Over-provision in prior years B FEBREEEE - (1,629)
Tax concession MEBEE (20) -
Different tax rates of subsidiaries REMEEHERSE 2

operating in other jurisdiction M@ ATz REREK (1,847) (776)
Income tax credit FriSfRik 271) (2,505)

11 LOSS PER SHARE 11 SR8
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BRELEE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss BREXNGENNREBELAQBES
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately AFE(LE5384958,061,00058 7T (=
HK$58,061,000 (2021: HK$93,855,000) and the weighted T = — £ : 93,855,000 7T) KA
average of approximately 5,370,510,000 ordinary shares FEEETEERZMEFHH
(2021: 5,358,951,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the #95,370,510,0008% (Z&E - —£F :
VYear. 5,358,951,0000% & &%) 5tE ©

B E R A R AT
“E-Crey SO
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE
11 LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(b) Diluted loss per share

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the diluted
loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share as there
was no potential ordinary share outstanding.

12 SUBSIDIARIES 12

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2022:

(b)

11 ZikE5HE (@)
SREBEER

HE - FR-FE-—F=A8
—t+—HIEFEE SREBEEES
BRERELREE RRANEE

FETEINEER

B AaE

N_E-"HF-_A=t+—HZIEWER

EIBEWNT

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
AR It RS
SR RiEEBRER TBEBREEMY BRTRAHE Frfsmaatt
2022 2021
—ECCF ZET-f
Progressive Building & Foundation Hong Kong, limited Provision of foundation engineering works, buiding Ordinary share HK$100 ~ 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Company Limited liability company construction works and project management
business in Hong Kong
ZEBTHEBRAR &8 BRRF REBREHETR BFRETRE EER100ET 100% (BH)  100% (B
RIBEEEEK
Chung Shun Construction Limited Hong Kong, limited Provision of construction works, which included Ordinary share HK$100  100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
liability company foundation works and ancillary services, and
construction wastes handling services
in Hong Kong
BERERRAT &E BRAA REBRHERTR SEHETRER ZER100ETT 100% (42  100% (i)
EERBURERENEERY
OKG Financial Services Limited Hong Kong, limited Money lending business Ordinary share 100% (direct) 100% (direct)
liability company HK$136,000,000
BREREHBBERAR B8 BRAF AEE S &iBHR136,000000%7T 100% (BEH)  100% (B
OKG Global Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding Ordinary share HK$100  100% (direct) 100% (direct)
liability company
BHEERKEEERAR &E BRRAA REER EER1005ETT 100% (B#)  100% (B

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

12 SUBSIDIARIES 12 B AT

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
bl aveit
AR RiEEERER TEEBEREEY BRTRAHE PR E R
2022 2021
ot oot 3 ZEC-F
OKLink Trust Limited Hong Kong, limited Trust and custodly services Ordinary share 20% (direct) 20% (direct),
liability company HK$5,000,000 80% (indirect)  80% (indirect)
BREREFRERAT &E BRAA R ERE ZEK5000,00087T  20% (BR) 20% (B#%)
80% () 80% (FH)
OKLink Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands Investments in securities and digital assets lending  Ordinary share 100% (direct) 100% (direct)
(“BVI"), limited business HK$390,000
liability company
OKLink Investment Holdings Limited ~ EBEZEE ESRERBFEENEER LiEIR390,0008 7T 100% (B#)  100% (B
(EEELE
&1) > BIRAT
OKLink Fintech Limited Hong Kong, limited Technology services Ordinary share 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
liability company HK$1,000,000
OKLink Fintech Limited &% BRAF B EIER1,00000087T  100% (@8 100% (i)
Shenzhen OKG Network PRC, limited liability Technology services HK$60,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Technologies Co., Ltd. company paid up)
FTBNEREEREERAR  FE BRAF iR 60,000,000%7 (BESR) 100% (B  100% (B
Hainan OKG Network Technologies ~ PRG, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 (not yet ~ 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indlirect)
Co., Ltd. (formerly known as company paid up)
“QNYN (Hainan Pilot Free
Trade Zone) Network Technologies
Co., Ltd.")
BEENZRAERRERAT  FE BRAT iR AE#10,000,0007T 100% (48  100% (REi#z)
FifET#—3% (FEEER) (GESEIR)
BEREERAE)
Jiangsu OKG Network Technologies ~ PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd. company (RMB8,000,000 has been
paid up)
IHBREREERRERAT FE BRAT KRR AE#10,000,0007T 100% (B#2)  100% (B#2)
(AE¥8,000,0007cES
)
Beijing OKG Network Technologies  PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 (has been 100% (indirect) ~ 100% (indirect)
Co., Ltd. company paid up)
TREREREERRERAT FE BRAT KRR A E#:20,000,0007T 100% (B#2)  100% (B#2)
(B8R
MetaStar Trading Limited BVI, limited liability Trading in digital assets Ordinary share US$50,000 100% (direct) N/A
company
MetaStar Trading Limited HERIES YFEERS 50,0005 7T 100% (B#)  ~BA
BREEAS

BiR BRI R AR AT
R EER

ztel5)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R EMBHRRIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

12 SUBSIDIARIES 12

B aE

Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
AR It RS
SR RiEEBRER TBEBREEMY BRITRANHE FrfsEa At
2022 2021
—EoCF BT —F
ShangHai OKG Technologies Co., PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 100% (indirect)  100% (indirect)
Ltd. (formerly known as company (RMB5,000,000 has been
“ShangHai QNYN Network paid up)
Technologies Co., Ltd.")
LEBENBERERRERAT  FE BRAT iR AR 120,000,0007T 100% (#2)  100% (i)
(R8N LA TsH— AR (AR 5,000,000 24
BRAF) =)

Beijing OKG Network Information PRC, limited liability Provision of valued-added telecommunications

Co., Ltd. company services and holding ICP license
ITRERERBRESER FE BRAF REEEECERBERFELHANSREEER
Beijing OKG Media Cutture Co., Ltd.  PRC, limited liability Media

company
TRENEREEEAERAR FE BRAT (E15)
Beijing CAS OKG Technology PRC, limited liability Technology services

Co., Ltd. company
TRARENNEERAR FE BRAF iR
Jinan OKLink Technology Co., Ltd. PRC, limited liability Technology services

company
EERERENRERAST FEDEREARE KR

Note: The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non-controlling

interests for the current and prior years.

13 DIVIDENDS 13

No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2021: Nil).

No final dividend was proposed by the Board for the Year (2021:
Nil).

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

RMB10,000,000 (not yet

100% (controlled

100% (controlled

paid up) via contractual  via contractual
arrangements)  arrangements)
A E%10,000,0007¢ 100% (GBEBEH 100%
(GES: ) ZHHER) (BREHTHE
)
RMB1,000,000 100% (controlled  100% (controlled
(RMB400,000 via contractual  via contractual
has been paid up) arrangements)  agreements)
AR 1,000,000 100% (BBAE#H 100%
(AR¥400,0007cE4R) THEH) (BBaNREE
&)

RMB20,000,000 80% (indirect)  80% (indirect)
(RMB8,250,000 has been
paid up)
AR #20,000,0007T 80% (R4 80% (i)
(AE#8,250,0007
BHE)
RMB100,000,000 56% (indirect) ~ N/A
(RMB4,000,000 has been
paid up)
A E%100,000,0007¢ 56% (f12) A
(AE%4,000,0007C
28

et AEBUERNAFERBEFEREFTEKN

SRR DN EB AR

Rz S

RAEFE ARBUESRKFHRE CZ

——Fi\e

REFEE EFEUFAERRERBRE

CEBEZ—F:8)-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14 ME - -BERSRE
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
and Leasehold and office Motor

equipment improvements  equipment vehicles Vessel Total
HE  RARE

HaRRRE MEEE RBAERE pat:d e @t

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TAR TAR

Cost (7%
At 1 April 2020 AZE"ZENA-H 77,868 13,608 6,856 34,718 1,719 134,769
Additions HE 1,610 550 251 2,654 - 4,965
Disposals HE (17,629) (111) (70) (12,538) - (30,348)
Exchange adjustments ERHE - 881 406 - - 1,287
At 31 March 2021 R_E_—F=ZA=1+—H 61,749 14,928 7,443 24,834 1,719 110,673
Accumulated depreciation REHNE
At 1 April 2020 RIZ2ZZENA—H 58,885 5,663 2,581 18,360 458 85,947
Charge for the year (Note 7) FRZE #157) 6,573 4,283 1,044 4,436 344 16,680
Disposals he (16,460) 61) (13) (10,503) - 27,037)
Exchange adjustments ERER - 387 127 - - 514
At 31 March 2021 AR —FZR=1+—H 48,998 10,272 3,739 12,293 802 76,104
Net book value IREFE
At 31 March 2021 A _E_—-F=H=1—H 12,751 4,656 3,704 12,541 917 34,569
Cost D%
At 1 April 2021 RZE_—-£NA—-AH 61,749 14,928 7,443 24,834 1,719 110,673
Additions HE 19 - 107 - - 126
Disposals HE - (12,705) - (10,198) (1,719 (24,622)
Transfer from right-of-use assets BREFREEE - - - 141 - 14
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAT (21,848) - (258) (2,285) - (24,391)
Exchange adjustments ERARE - 342 202 - - 544
At 31 March 2022 AZE"E=B=1—H 39,920 2,565 7,494 12,492 - 62,471
Accumulated depreciation REHNE
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ-FMNA—H 48,998 10,272 3,739 12,293 802 76,104
Charge for the year (Note 7) FERZE #iz7) 3,491 3,427 1,117 2,599 315 10,949
Disposals HE - (11,510) - (5,230) (1,117) (17,857)
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAR (21,848) - (258) (1,993) - (24,099)
Exchange adjustments ERHE - 225 7 - - 302
At 31 March 2022 A _E__F=H=1+—-H 30,641 2,414 4,675 7,669 - 45,399
Net book value IREFE
At 31 March 2022 RZE__F=R=+—H 9,279 151 2,819 4,823 - 17,072
During the Year, depreciation expense of property, plant and REAFE MNE-BERRBINERZY
equipment of approximately HK$5,949,000 (2021: HK$11,974,000) 5,949,000 7T (Z& = —4 : 11,974,000
had been included in cost of sales. 70) Est AHERM A&

B EEERARAT
Sg-Cgag 227
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
LEASES LIABILITIES

(@) Amounts recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial

position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

15 EFRAEREEREEAE

(a) RNREMBRARERZE

i

mEMBRRRBERUATRER

following amounts relating to leases: 2z &%8
2022 2021
—E-— B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Office premises LN ES 10,251 1,802
Motor vehicles RE - 982
10,251 2,784
Lease liabilities HEafE
Non-current JETRED 6,126 =
Current e 4,414 2,317
10,540 2,317

During the Year, additions to the right-of-use assets were
approximately HK$12,066,000 (2021: HK$2,624,000).

225

The Groups leases various motor vehicles and office
premises. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

REFE - EREEEREN

12,066,000 7t (

2,624,00037T) ©

B —F

FEFEBEEETAERBRYE-
HEGHN—REEHRRR2EIF -
BRI EENER LHE LS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND 15 FRIEEERIEEAERE
LEASES LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) (48)
(b) Amounts recognised in the (b) RixEHEEREMEEKE
consolidated statement of profit or REFDZEXE
loss and other comprehensive income
2022 2021
== &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHExT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  F BB EFERX
assets
— Motor vehicles —RH 178 283
— Office premises ) YN/ ES 3,648 21,265
Interest on lease liabilities HESEMNE 150 1,181
Expenses relating to short-term B EREMEE
leases and other leases MEEzEX 872 4,125
During the Year, the total cash outflow for leases was RAEE HERERHEEEN
approximately HK$4,506,000 (2021: HK$24,896,000). #4,506,0008m (Z2Z—F .

24,896,00038 7T) ©

B E R A R AT
“g-Crey 229
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 B, EE

Money Other
lenders intangible
licence assets Total
BEA Hith
3] BREE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET TET TER
Cost WA
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 RZE-ZTEMA—A
and 1 April 2021 “®--#=A=4+-A
R_E_—FMNB—H 430 8,804 9,234
Capital contributions by non-controlling interests ~ JFIFMR R TE (122320))

(Note 32c)) - 4,802 4,802
Exchange adjustments ERRE - 130 130
At 31 March 2022 W-BE--_#=B=+-H 430 13,736 14,166

Accumulated amortisation and impairment ~ EiH#HRiHE
At 1 April 2020 RZZZZFEMF—H - 1,663 1,663
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) FE (11327) - 2,935 2,935
Impairment for the year ERREE 180 = 180
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R_®-—#=B=+—H
R_E_—FNB—H 180 4,598 4,778
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) FREE Wit7) - 4,420 4,420
Impairment for the year FRAE 50 - 50
Exchange adjustments B R AE - 21 21
At 31 March 2022 RZEZ"H=A=+—H 230 9,039 9,269
Net book value FREFER
At 31 March 2022 ZZ-ZH=RF=+-H 200 4,697 4,897
At 31 March 2021 A "B —F=HA=1+—H 250 4,206 4,456

Other intangible assets represent (i) speech emotion recognition
system licence; and (i) big data analysis techniques licence which
were related to the technical services business.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

17

Amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$4,420,000
had been included in cost of sales for the Year (2021:
HK$2,935,000).

The money lenders licence is considered by the directors of the
Company as having indefinite useful lives because it is expected
that the money lenders licence can be renewed continuously at
minimal cost and it will contribute net cash inflows for the Group
in the foreseeable future. The money lenders licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it
will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group performed an impairment
assessment based on fair value less costs of disposal with
reference to valuation performed by an independent professional
qualified valuer on its money lending licence. Market comparison
approach is adopted by reference to the recent transactions and
asking price of similar licence. The above fair value measurement
is categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Based on the
assessment, impairment losses of approximately HK$50,000 (2021:
HK$180,000) was recognised.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

?ﬁ‘ﬂ#ﬁiﬁiﬁﬁi
—E=A=+—HIEEE

16 BZEE (8

RA&EE  EREE#H44,420,00058 7T
(ZZTE - —4 2,935,000 7T) Bt A
TR

TABEFBB/REAEREERAEA
FH ARPAREAE R UREA AT
EERT NP ERBRAEERNFRE
RAFHEM ERERFHEERER
ZHAEHRBEARRETHE A2
BAREF—RAEEAPRERAREEFE
BB AR RETRER

AR EZRA=+ R EBEET
BELSERGEMYEEREARRAET
B 1B > A S EARR A T (E R H & A g
TTREFG S22 LR Z RELE
BHBEERMATBIER L LA TE
STENBERATESRIIE R RIET
&> BHESTRIEREA50,0008 T (T2
— —4 1 180,000 7T) ©

17 ST A2

2022 2021
g B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Financial assets ERIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HBEER A ENEREE 310,915 375,643
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESABENEHEE
profit or loss 20,856 28,560
Total 4Est 331,771 404,203
Financial liabilities ERAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RER AT ENSMEE 335,298 319,890
R BB AR AT

B CEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18 B B R HthEULARTR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Trade receivables B 5 EWERR 11,595 60,845
Less: Provision for impairment losses B ORERIEERE (7,699) (6,502)
3,896 54,343
Loan receivables EWER 28,802 28,197
Less: Provision for impairment losses R EEEREE (10,944) (8,639)
17,858 19,558
Other receivables, deposits and HEWERIE & RTEIRIE
prepayments (Note (d)) (B zE() 11,015 21,613
32,769 95,514
Analysed as: SaNiIv=I
Non-current JERED - 318
Current TREN 32,769 95,196
32,769 95,514
Notes: Wt
(@) Trade receivables are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a (a) EHFHATEREGNIBRIZCIE B3

payment when contractually due. The credit period granted to customers

is 7 to 75 days generally.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

()

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the date of payment

certificate issued by customers or invoice date is as follows:

18 B 5 KR EMBUARTR (&)

hfat -

(&

ERZRHAMTEREABRRNERBHAN
B RUTIERRE DT T :

2022 2021

- —ET—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

0-30 days 0Z30H 3,895 47,560
31-60 days 31E60H 139 621
61-90 days 61F90H 94 22
Over 90 days BiBooH 7,467 12,642
11,595 60,845

As at 31 March 2022, trade receivables of approximately HK$7,467,000
(2021: HK$12,642,000) were past due. Out of the past due balances,
approximately HK$240,000 (2021: HK$4,867,000) has been past due 90
days or more and are not considered as in default by past experience and

forward-looking estimates.

The Group’s loan receivables arise from the money lending business.
The loan receivables are mainly secured by personal guarantee. The loan
receivables of approximately HK$20,975,000 (2021: HK$20,422,000) are
not overdue based on contractual maturity date as at 31 March 2021.
All the loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity within 1 to
2 years. Loan receivables are interest-bearing at a rate range from 5% to

12% per annum (2021: from 5% to 12% per annum).

As at 31 March 2022, the gross amount of other receivables was
approximately HK$6,312,000 (2021: HK$13,899,000) and the provision for
the impairment loss was approximately HK$253,000 (2021: Nil).

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain

impaired assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

RIZZZF=A=1+—H BSERUERN
#97,467,000% 7T (ZZF Z—4 : 12,642,000
Br) BAR - RZEABPEHT O
240,000 7T (ZEZ—4 : 4,867,000 7T)
B#AHA0E S k> & B 4S5 K Al g
MEBE N EWE AR

AEBMZERBERREMEER B
BERTEHEABZRRIER BRERD
20,975,000/ 7t (Z == —4 : 20,422,000/
T RIEZI-FE=B=1+—HREEH3
B HREFTBRKRERZ—EMEN
BHIEARRET L o FEWE IR EFENF5%
F12% (ZEZ—F : FFRNF5%ZE12%)
F=E

ATEC_EZRA=+—H HthERER
TE#E %84 %6,312,0008 T (T - —4 .
13,899,000 7T) RBERBEEENS
253,000 70 (Z T —4F ) o

8 5 K B A FEWR AR A HA AR A B &
BREEE -FEBRTEFATAERMRF
AIER

IR B R A RAT
R EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MESIRRIIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

19 SHEERSHNAER

2022 2021

=B B —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Contract assets EHEE 103,894 109,286
Less: Provision for impairment losses B OREEEERE (36,629) (42,257)
67,265 67,029

Contract liabilities aHNaR 775 4,726

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Included in contract assets comprises retention receivables of
approximately HK$23,387,000 as at 31 March 2022 (2021:
HK$29,978,000), after recognition of impairment loss of
approximately HK$5,720,000 (2021: HK$9,611,000), the carrying
amount of retention receivables was approximately HK$17,667,000
(2021: HK$20,367,000).

Retention receivables represented the monies withheld by
customers of contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2
years from the date of completion of construction contracts, in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.
Generally, upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out
in the contract, partial of the retention money of such contract work
will be released to the Group, while the remaining will be released to
the Group upon the expiration of the defects liability period.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

BMNBEETBEAEBWINCTMAMARR
BIRABHNENERM RASEBRER
ARFERBRELONARME - EF
RN AERGE SNEERBESE

B 5 R R °

ABHNEBEERBEEER-ZE 2=
B=+—HHREKFRE£423,387,000
BT (CEB - 29978000;%75)73A
RS0 (B E518495,720,00058 70 (&

& 19,611,000 7T) & EWREEER
E{EA%17,667,0008 7T (ZEZ—£ !
20,367,0003 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19 ENBERASHNERE (B)
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)
The retention receivables, before recognition of impairment loss, PSRRI ER R EWRESBRRE
would be settled, based on the expiry of the defect liability period, RERREEEIREREMN SIWT !

at the end of the reporting period as follow:

2022 2021
—E-C —E—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
Within one year —FR 11,146 19,522
After one year —F% 12,241 10,456
23,387 29,978
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHEEFBOT
2022 2021
—E-= B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Contract liabilities arising from: BHNBEEER
Technology services BT AR 775 4,726
During the Year, revenue recognised that included in the contract RAFE stARFEVENEEERD
liabilities balance at the beginning of the Year was approximately BRI TR A A4,726,0008 7T (B - —
HK$4,726,000 (2021: HK$1,076,000). £E 1 1,076,000 7T) °
The decrease in contract liabilities was mainly due to the decrease EHEERV T EERRWERB RS
in short-term advances received in relation to the provision of iTARTE Z A2 A B TR D PR B ©

technology services.

B EEERARAT
TE-Cgay 200
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

20

—_— =

DIGITAL ASSETS 20 BFEE
2022 2021
-2 TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Digital assets: BFEE .

Proprietary digital assets EEYTEE 560,097 9,856
Digital assets held on behalf of customers RKEXZELIFENHFTEE - 59,023
560,097 68,879
Among the digital asset balance, the digital assets totaling REFEEEFP RFEFENH

approximately US$71,554,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$560,097,000) (2021: US$8,859,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$68,879,000)) held on the Platform are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. They represent balance of digital
assets attributable to the Group held in shared wallets of the
Platform.

Net fair value gains of approximately HK$4,954,000 (2021: Nil)
from remeasurement gains of digital assets of approximately
HK$35,496,000 at 31 March 2022, to the extent it is offset
by remeasurement losses of digital asset borrowed from
counterparties of approximately HK$30,542,000 at the same date,
is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2022, there were certain digital assets with fair
value of approximately US$16,980,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$132,913,000) received from and held on behalf of the clients of
the Group were safekeeping in segregated client wallets held on the
Platform and the Group’s proprietary share wallets. Based on the
respective rights and obligations of the Group and its clients under
the client terms and conditions, the digital assets held on behalf of
the clients of the Group are not recognised as the Group’s digital
assets and hence there are no corresponding digital asset liabilities
under these arrangements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report

FTEEAHNT1,554,000E 7T (HHE
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132,913,000/ 7t) WEWREAEER
FRENBFEENTFARFENELR
FHRAORAEBNEEELZRERRE -
BESAEARKEETAERARER
EFEEZHENEER ARLEBERF
ENEFTEETSRIAATEB  HTE
B RALZERETIERERTEES

& o



n. m- |

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

21 DIGITAL ASSETS DUE FROM
COUNTERPARTIES

21 BRHFHFEAFEE

2022 2021
ot S —BE-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH FHT
Digital assets due from BT E#MFEE (Wita)
the Platforms (Note a) - 3,399
Digital assets due from EWEMHF HHFTEE (atb)
other counterparties (Note b) - 9,367
- 12,766

Notes:

As at 31 March 2021, the balance represented the lending of the Group’s
digital assets to the Platform. It included Bitcoin and stablecoins, beared
floating interest rates ranging from 0.4% to 7.7% per annum, and was
unsecured and repayable on demand. The loan principal and interest
thereon are repayable by delivery of the outstanding units of the digital

assets.

As at 31 March 2021, the balance represented the lending of the Group’s
digital assets to counterparties through the Platform in forms of stablecoins
being the loan principal. The loans are secured by collateral (as explained
below) and they bear a fixed interest rate ranging from 8.0% to 10.2%
per annum. The loan principal and interest thereon are repayable by
delivery of the outstanding units of the stablecoins upon maturity date of
the arrangements which fall within 6 months from the end of the reporting

period.

The relevant stablecoin are asset-backed and has a market price of
approximately US$1 per unit with minimal fluctuation. As such, price risk in

relation to this balance is considered to be insignificant.

In relation to the above-mentioned loan arrangements, the counterparties
are required to deliver Bitcoin, another type of digital assets, to the
Platform as collateral to maintain the LTV ratio at a level of ranging from
55% to 65% at inception. Additional collaterals are required to deposited
to the Platform at any time if the LTV ratio is increased to 80%. The
collateral will be liquidated (i.e. the collateral will be traded on the Platform
and converted into a certain amount of relevant digital assets) when the
LTV ratio is increased to 90%. Consequently, the Group believes the credit

risk associated with these loan receivables is low.

Mt -

(@

RIZZ—F=F=+—H &R EE
EYFEEETFFR -HOELBBERET
K BEREMNENF0.4%ET. 7% BEIRIE
REBEREREER BRASBERIANEES
BRAOMFEENHKEBBAEER

RIB-_—F=ZR=+—0 GEHEBEAET
ERAERYFTFEEURERERENRE
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FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

22 BRFEFARmZER
BE

2022 2021
= BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Listed securities held for trading: FEREMN LEMES
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, — BB LTRAES RRE
at quoted price 715 1,485
— Equity securities listed outside Hong —BBEI LHRAES  RRE
Kong, at quoted price 2,501 8,839
Life insurance policy (Note a) ANERE (Hfata) 2,685 2,658
Wealth management products (Note b) BEE SR (WaEp) 6,436 10,850
Unlisted warrants (Notes ¢) JE LR (Wate) 6,515 3,658
Unlisted investment fund (Note d) FELEMRERES Wfatd) 2,004 1,070
20,856 28,560

Notes:

Under the life insurance policy (the “Policy”), the beneficiary and
policy holder is the Group and the total insured sum is US$750,000
(approximately HK$5,887,000). The Group paid an upfront premium for
the Policy of approximately US$326,000 (approximately HK$2,556,000)
and may surrender any time and receive cash based on the cash value of
the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the cash value of the Policy
provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of its fair

value, which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Policy was pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the

Group.

Wealth management products represent investments in short-term
financial products issued by banks in the PRC. The wealth management
products at 31 March 2021 were redeemed by May 2021 respectively.
There is no redemption for the wealth management products as of 31
March 2022. The change in fair value up to date of redemption was not

significant.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(©

On 24 January 2019, the Group and an unrelated entity (the “Borrower”)
entered into agreements whereby: i) the Group would provide to the
Borrower a loan with a principal amount of HK$23,500,000; and ii) for
a consideration of HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a right
to subscribe for certain convertible preferred shares of the Borrower (the
“First Warrant”).

The loan bears interest at 12% per annum and interest is payable monthly.
The loan may be redeemed by the Group at any time three months after
the date of the loan agreement or, if not early-redeemed, repayable by
the Borrower on 25 January 2020. The loan was repaid by the Borrower
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

The First Warrant entitles the Group to subscribe for certain convertible
preferred shares of the Borrower at a price of US$3.952 per share. The
total subscription for the convertible preferred shares is not to exceed
one-third of the loan plus any accrued but unpaid interest. The First
Warrant will expire on the earlier of: i) the date of the closing of the first
firm commitment, underwritten public offering to the general public of the
ordinary shares of the Borrower where the valuation of the Borrower is no
less than a certain value (the “Qualified IPO”); or i) 23 January 2022.

The loan had a fair value of approximately HK$21,655,000 and the
stand-alone warrant had a fair value of approximately HK$1,845,000 at the
date of initial recognition.

On 25 September 2019, the Group and the Borrower entered into new
agreements whereby: i) the Group would provide to the Borrower a loan
with a principal amount of HK$23,500,000; and ii) for a consideration of
HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a right to subscribe for an
additional Warrant (the “Second Warrant”, together the First Warrant, the
“Warrants”).

The loan bears interest at 6% per annum and interest is payable monthly.
The loan may be redeemed by the Group at any time after the Borrower
has received a new round of financing of not less than US$20 million or, if
not early-redeemed, repayable by the Borrower on 25 September 2020.
Subject to a certain period advanced notice provided by the borrower,
the Group may also request redemption for certain days following the
drawdown date. During the year ended 31 March 2021, the loan has
been partially repaid and the unpaid principal has been extended to 25
September 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HZE—

T _F-RB=+—HLEFE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(©

The Second Warrant entitles the Group to subscribe for certain preferred
shares of the Borrower at a price of US$3.57 per share. The total
subscription for the preferred shares is not to exceed one-third of the loan
plus any accrued but unpaid interest. The Second Warrant will expire on
the earlier of: i) the date of a Qualified IPO; or ii) 25 September 2022.

The loan had a fair value of approximately HK$21,251,000 and the
stand-alone warrant had a fair value of approximately HK$2,249,000 at the

date of initial recognition.

On 25 September 2020, after a negotiation between the Group and the
Borrower, the exercise price of the Warrants was adjusted to US$2.3718
per share and the expiration date was also extend to the earlier of: i) the
date of a Qualified IPO, or ii) 25 September 2023.

On 25 September 2021, after a negotiation between the Group and
the borrower, and amended and restated deed signed. Accordingly, the
exercise price of the Warrants was adjusted to US$0.6650 per share
and the total subscription price for the warrant shares shall not exceed
US$2,405,964. The Warrants will expire on 25 September 2023.

The fair value is based on the net asset value of the investment fund as of

the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company committed to subscribe for
further US$680,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,304,000 (2021:
US$830,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,474,000)) of the fund.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

23 TRUST BANK BALANCE HELDON 23 K&REF %Eg%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ
BEHALF OF CUSTOMERS/BANK ek IRITHEER R
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held segregated bank A ZEZZF=—R=+—8 ' F&x&EBERK
accounts amounting of approximately HK$147,547,000 (2021: XEEPLAPBEERBIUNRTERASENAS
HK$49,128,000) on behalf of its customers. 147,547,000 75 (Z &~ —%F 1 49,128,000
BT ©
2022 2021
—E-C B2 —F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FAET
Cash at banks R1TIRE 135,347 209,960
Deposits at banks IRITER - 26,592
Cash on hand FERS 208 183
135,555 236,735
By maturity: ZEEADEE
Bank balances IR1T4E8R 133,833 209,960
Deposits at banks IR1TER
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=E8 NEH 2 EifH
within three months EHAERR - 25,092
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing —R=EB &I EiKH
over three months TEER 1,514 1,500
135,347 236,552
Cash at banks earns interest of floating rates based on daily bank RITIRESRBESHIRTERNEHEEUZE)
deposits rates. FEF| B o
The carrying amount of bank balances and cash were denominated RITEGEREZREABEUNTIEE
in the following currencies: & :
2022 2021
== T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAERT FET
HK$ T 101,646 214,414
RMB AR 18,938 13,240
us$ E7T 14,971 8,139
Singapore dollars N IT - 942
135,555 236,735

BRI E S ERARAT
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

23 TRUST BANK BALANCE HELD 23 KERER =
ON BEHALF OF CUSTOMERS/ lﬁ%/ ﬁE?Eﬁ%E
BANK BALANCES AND CASH (4

24

(CONTINUED)

fim
Jid

il

The carrying amount of trust bank balance held on behalf of RRELFE ZEFRITHERREERY
customers were denominated in the following currencies: TEHE !

2022 2021

-2 BT

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

HK$ BT 65,759 10,000

RVMB N 822 -

us$ E7T 80,466 39,128

JPY H 500 -

147,547 49,128

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, AREBEFEEHRBRAHEMER A

under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations,

RBEREAMINEEEED > RERMATE

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for the other currencies BERBEEIIEEENRITHARER
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. hAHMER-

SHARE CAPITAL

24 fg7s

Number of Share
shares capital
BB [N
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: VERE -
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RIEZZEFMB—HA-
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, 2 —F=HB=+—H-
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each 2 —FOBE—HK
—®CCE=A=+—H
SREE0.005H T BER 20,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE -
At 1 April 2020 A ZETEFMA—H 5,325,870,000 26,629
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise of ~ FA{TEEERRIEB 21T
share options (Note (a)) ZiEs (Wt a) 52,710,000 264
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary &[0l K 5188 48R (W/52(b))
shares (Note (b)) (8,070,000) (40)
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 R_ZE-_—H=B=+—H-
and 31 March 2022 T —FOB—HK
B2 HF=-A=+—H 5,370,510,000 26,853

E 4 E OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2021, 52,710,000 share options were
exercised at a subscription price of HK$0.205 per share, resulting in
the issue of 52,710,000 new shares at par value of HK$0.005 each for
a total consideration of approximately HK$10,806,000. Approximately
HK$10,542,000 representing the difference between the subscription
price and the par value was added to the share premium. In addition,
approximately HK$2,299,000 representing that portion of the share-based
payments reserve in relation to the exercise of the share options during
the year ended 31 March 2021, was transferred from the share-based
payments reserve to share premium account.

(b) On 19 October 2020, the Company repurchased a total of 8,070,000
shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration (excluded
expenses) of HK$1,161,000, and these shares were cancelled on 1
December 2020. Accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company
was reduced by HK$40,000, representing the nominal value of these
shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 12 August 2015 as to attract
and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
substantial shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any
options shall be determined by the directors from time to time on
the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

24

25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme or any other share options schemes of the Company
if this will result in the limit being exceeded. The maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from the adoption date must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the shares in issue upon the date on which the shares are
listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the
Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided that the total
number of Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the
Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such
further grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the
Company in general meeting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee). Where any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective close associates would
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by
way of poll.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during
a period as the directors may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option with a remittance in favour
of the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 7 days from the date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified to a participant
and shall be at least the highest of: () the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal
value of the Company’s share on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 12 August 2015, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.

No share options were granted during the Year and there were no
share options outstanding as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

25 fahatEstEl (48)

AARFBEF TEZTHABRETERE
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BEBBsAEET MIAFENART
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25 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

25

The following tables disclose movements in the Company’s share
options under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31

fsRztEsTEl (48)

TREBAABERESZIETBRER
BE_Z-_—F-RA=-+-—HIEEZS

March 2021: & .
Number of share options
BREYE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed QOutstanding
Exercise at 1 April during the during the during the at 31 March
Date of grant price  Exercisable period 2020 year year year 2021
RIBZFE RIBZ—F
mA—H =A=+—H
R HH IRE  AThH HRITE FREL FRTE FREH HARITE
Mr. Cheng - former employee  18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019 - 17.10.2020 500,000 - (500,000) = =
of the Group (former
executive director)
Brs-~&ERES “T-hE 020587 —E-hAETATN\BE
FRTESR) +B+N\H “B_EF+A+tR
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - -
—2-NE 02058t —TZZE—-HF+/\HE
+B+N\R “B_2F+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 2,000,000 - (600,000) (1,400,000) =
2% 02058 Z—EZZEME+\BZE
+A+N\H “E22E+A+TEH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) -
“2-NE 020587 —BZEETA+/\HE
+B+N\R “B_2F+A+tH
Former employees of the 18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019-17.10.2020 23,835,000 - (2,190,000)  (21,645,000) -
Group
K&EEFIEE —E-NF 020587 —E-—hAETATNBEE
+A+N\H “E22E+A+TtH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 41,045,000 - (13,070,0000  (27,975,000) -
—2-NE 020587 —TZZE—-HB+/\HE
+B+N\R “B_2F+A+tH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 63,625,000 - (21,125,000)  (42,500,000) -
“B-hE 0205w Z—ZZZEMA+HNEE
+A+N\H “E22E+A+TtEH
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 63,625,000 - (13,225,0000  (50,400,000) -
“2-NE 020587 —EZBETA+/\HE
+B+N\R “B_2F+A+tH
Total 198,630,000 - (52,710,000)  (145,920,000) -
CE
Exercisable at 31 March 2021 .
AR_E_—#=B=1+-H
(a:d
Weighted average exercise HK$0.205 - HK$0.205 HK$0.205 -
price
MEFHETEE 0.205%7% - 0.205%7T 0.205%7T -

The Group recognised the total expense of Nil for the Year
(2021: HK$1,385,000) in relation to share options granted by the

Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

26 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

26 REERAEE (AR

KREE-B-_GR-F-—F=A
S+—BILEE REEHBERRRERD
IEIERESE (B HERBIRE
ST :

Depreciation ECL
allowances provision Total

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) BERELEE/ (BF) R
ERE izt st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
At 1 April 2020 RZEZZTFMNE—H (4,540) 1,735 (2,805)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 10) A/ G0k B3 (Wz£10) 1,530 (654) 876

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 WZEZ—-&#=ZA=+—-Hk

ZZZ-EMmA—H (3,010) 1,081 (1,929)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (Note 10) A/ (N8R 8% (Bz#10) 2,325 (611) 1,714
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZH=B=+—H (685) 470 (215)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purpose:

RREEMBRRERANES] ETRIER
BEEERGEBECIEHE -MRUBHREBENIE
HZIEIEFR B DA

2022 2021

== —E_—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Deferred tax assets IRIETR I & EE 242 =
Deferred tax liabilities FERIBEEE (457) (1,929)
(215) (1,929)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$166 million (2021: HK$127 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of approximately HK$52 million (2021: HK$30
million) that will expire within 5 years. Other losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

PREEAR > AEE IR R IR 2
REBREEGIENAI6EEET (T
T—FE I 127HE BT c AR KRAETER X
A A 2 HER > B E SR B R IR B R
FERIEIERIBE E o st A KRR B 18
Kp2EEET (CET—45 30888
HERSEREIH - M8 ] EIR A4S o

BIR B ERARAT
R EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27 B 5 RHMEIIRR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Trade payables (Note a) B ERMR (Wata) 45,436 83,246
Accruals and other payables EETE R R EMETIRR 10,776 15,814
56,212 99,060

Note: BsE -
(@) Payment terms granted by suppliers are generally 15 to 80 days from the (@) HEFZEFTHNNRER—KRDEEREBEE

invoice date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as

B3 = B HAEST15E80R A

RIFER BN E A BRRERE D470

follows: T
2022 2021
-t T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FET
0 - 30 days 0E30H 7,019 41,559
31 - 60 days 31E60H 3,377 11,870
61 — 90 days 61Z290H 8,804 7,070
Over 90 days BiBo0H 26,236 22,747
45,436 83,246

==
28 LIABILITIES DUE TO CUSTOMERS 28 FEfiZX P fafE
2022 2021
T B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Liabilities due to customers EREREE

Fiat currency liabilities FEEE®EaRE 147,547 49,128
Digital assets liabilities HFEEAR = 59,023
147,547 108,151

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE_Z—

LIABILITIES DUE TO CUSTOMERS
(CONTINUED)

Liabilities due to customers arise in the ordinary course of the
Group’s trust and custody business. Based on the respective rights
and obligations of the Group and its customers under the custody
agreement, segregated bank balances held by the Group are
recorded as assets of the Group with a corresponding liability due
to the customer recorded.

As at 31 March 2021, the digital assets liabilities are comprised of
Bitcoin and stablecoins that are measured at fair value less costs to
sell.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A RELATED
PARTY/FORMER SUBSIDIARIES

The amount due from a related party, Mr. Yip Ying Chau (“Mr. Yip”),
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group, was non-trade
in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. The maximum balance outstanding during the Year was
approximately HK$1,980,000.

The amounts due to former subsidiaries/a related party were non-
trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.

LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES

Included in loans from related parties are principal portion
of approximately HK$89,862,000 (2021: HK$135,000,000)
which were unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum and
payable within one year and an interest portion of approximately
HK$2,273,000 (2021: HK$13,500,000). The loans have been
extended to 29 March 2023 during the year ended 31 March
2022. The loans are subject to review at any time and to the
lenders’ overriding right of withdrawal and immediate repayment
on demand. The related parties are companies controlled by the
directors of certain subsidiaries of the Company for the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

31 BORROWINGS

31 f§&

2022 2021
-2 TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHExT
Current BN A
Digital assets borrowed from REFHEAZHFTEE Wit)
counterparties (Note) 494,072 -

Note

As at 31 March 2022, certain digital assets borrowed from counterparties were
provided by non-financial institutions, with asset-backed stablecoins and other
digital assets being the loans principal, in aggregate, amounted to approximately
USD63,119,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$494,072,000) (2021: Nil).
These borrowings were secured by the Group’s digital assets at the fair value of
approximately US$70,804,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$554,224,000)

(2021: Nil) as collateral, interest-free and repayable on demand.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 32 IrERERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before income (@) BRERIGMATESIREIRE (FR
tax to net cash (used in)/generated B) /FriSZREFEZH
from operations iR
2022 2021
=S T —fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Loss before income tax PRETSMAIES 1B (58,703) (96,360)
Adjustments for: BTSRIERE .
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #)3 « Fi = K sk B T EE 10,949 16,680
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBENE 3,826 21,548
Amortisation of intangible assets B L E 4,420 2,935
Written off of property, plant and equipment  HifiS547% « Bk = K & 5 1,195 =
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of property, HEVE BEREEZ
plant and equipment B8/ (@) #58 20 (1,362)
Gain on early termination of lease and REZIHEERENEE R
modification of lease = (2,277)
Net gains on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZWGR FEE (15,724) =
Impairment loss of intangible assets B EEZRERBE 50 180
Impairment loss on financial assets and TREERGNEEZRERIE
contract assets 27,353 46,892

Net losses/(gains) on change in fair value of AT {EF ARG EMEE
financial assets at fair value through profit NEEEEEER (W) 258

or loss 13,848 (954)
Gain on the amendment and restatement of 1657 & B #isRRE1EE ~ Ua

the warrants (16,484) -
Interest income FBUWA (2,829) (636)
Interest expense MERX 5,435 7,933
Distribution income IR (1,089) -
Share-based payment expense MR AERZ AR - 1,385
Operating cash flows before working EEESEPIKERER

capital changes (27,733) (4,036)
Decrease in trade and 85 R E A E R R

other receivables 21,200 23,357
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 5,392 497
Decrease/(increase) in digital assets ¥FEER[LD/ (L) 2,854 (68,879)
Decrease/(increase) in digital assets due from FEWCE F A #FEER L,/ (20

counterparties 12,766 (12,766)
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at BATEFABGRZ

fair value through profit or loss SREERL (2 7,125 (6,739)
Increase in trust bank balance held REZEFE ZERITAERRIEGM

on behalf of customers (98,419) (49,128)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 R EMEREIRRR Gl /I8

other payables (30,866) 7,831
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHERE (R /Em (4,090) 2,892
Increase in liabilities due to customers FEREEaEEm 39,396 108,151
Increase in amounts due to FETAIH B AR RIAE M

former subsidiaries 6,408 =
Net cash (used in)/generated from operations #&% (FrH) /Fri8 2 R B4 (65,967) 2,180

B E R A R AT
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32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 32 AT RERMEE (@
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFHELEZEBZHIR

financing activities

Non-cash changes

EREEH
As at As at
1 April Cash Disposal of Exchange 31 March
2021 flows Others  subsidiaries  adjustments 2022
RZB-—-% RZIEZZH
mAE—H RERE Hftt HERBAR ER#EE =B=+—-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TERT TERT TERT FTET
Loans from related parties Note g) ~ BEE /& (Hzta) 148,500 (51,670) 3,305 (8,000) = 92,135
Amount due to a related party Ef—apEAsTIE 10,244 7,291 - - 538 18,073
Lease liabilities (Note b) HE&E () 2,317 (3,634) 12,216 (390) 31 10,540
Total liabilties from financing activities FZEBEEZ
aEEE 161,061 (48,013) 15,521 (8,390) 569 120,748
As at As at
1 April Cash Non-cash Exchange 31 March
2020 flows changes  adjustments 2021
RIZ_Z&E R_E T —F
mAE—H RERE  FREEH ERAEE =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET FHET FHET FHET
Loan from a related party —REAERER
(Note a) (Hfzta) 141,750 - 6,750 = 148,500
Amount due to a related party FE{S—%REE H A 14,776 (5,551) - 1,019 10,244
Lease liabilities (Note b) REaR (#atn) 35,978 (20,771) (14,354) 1,464 2,317
Total liabilities from financing BREZBEEZ
activities BER%E 192,504 (26,322) (7,604) 2,483 161,061

E 5 E OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

32 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 32 FERRERERM:E (B
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEFHELEZEBZHIR
financing activities (continued) (#&)
Notes: Misz -
(@ Non-cash changes represent accrued interests on the outstanding (@ FIREEHIEE NN REBH R
principal balance and set-off against the amount due from with a ) S e $K £ FE U R 422 75 7R I8 o

related party.

(b) Non-cash changes represent addition to lease liabilities, interest (b) FReEFHIERERAEEE HES
arising from lease liabilities, early termination of lease and BEEZFE - REBLLHEEREN
modification of lease. fHE-

- - —
(c) Major non-cash transaction () EEFRERS

i) During the Year, there is capital contributions from non-controlling i) RARFE FFERERBAEEAR
interests by transfer of intangible assets of RMB$4,000,000 #&4,000,0007T (18 & 72 #94,802,0007&
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,802,000) to the Company. TT) 2B EERAAATHE

ii) During the Year, the non-cash working capital changes of digital ii) RAFEE BFEEREZIFERES
assets borrowings as follows: EESEEUNT

2022 2021

-t T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FExT

Digital assets borrowed from counterparties "HEFHEAZHFTEE 494,072 -

B E R A R AT
“E-Crey 200
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party
in making financial or operational decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or
joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(@  In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
transaction with its related party in the ordinary course of
business during the Year:

33

FERX5

BED RREFAENESN BoEH ST
EHM B REEARRGEHEMASITHE
FENHIAN L o W RI R ER
BES TRESEES -BESISE
ASEMERE

@ BREEHBFRREMMSIKEZ
Bl REFE AEBRERRE
AR —REFHEEPETUTRS !

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
A company controlled by HETHBAR
a director of certain subsidiaries —REREH AT

— Repayment of lease liabilities —EEHEAaR - 614

— Expense related to short-term —BRARIEE MY
lease 460 =

(b)  The emoluments of the directors and senior executives
(representing the key management personnel) during the Year
are disclosed in Note 9.

34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved
in various claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings
that arise from time to time. Although the Group does not
expect that the outcome in any of these legal proceedings,
individually or collectively, will have a material adverse effect on
its financial position or results of operations, litigation is inherently
unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its
operating results or cash flows in a particular period.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

35 hEMERF

During the Year, the Group disposed the entire equity

interests of Jia Jian Global Limited, an indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company, and its subsidiary (Collectively,
“Jia Jian Group”), for a consideration of HK$8,000,000 to

Mr. Yip.

The aggregated net liabilities of the Jia Jian Group as at the

date of disposal are set out as follows:

(@)

REFE AEEAOELEHERSE
BEREMXBERAR (KRB ZHES
BEWB AR REMBAE MBS
MERE®R) 228KRE KBS
8,000,000/ 7T ©

REERN FREEEEFER
BmEHNT

HK$'000
FAET
Net liabilities disposal of: FTHEBBZEE !
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERRE 292
Right-of-use assets EREEE 663
Trade and other receivables B 5 K B EW AR R 6,056
Contract assets BHEE 163
Cash and bank balances R RIRITHER 134
Trade and other payables B 5 K EMEN IR (12,064)
Amounts due to the Group PE(S A EBERIB (1,648)
Lease liabilities HEaB (390)
Net liabilities aERE (6,794)
HK$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of Jia Jian Group: HEERER W -
Consideration set off against loans from RERERESER
related parties 8,000
Net liabilities disposal of FTHEaRFE 6,794
Gain on disposal HE k= 14,794

IR B R A RAT
R EER
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35 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

35 HEWEXT (8

(CONTINUED)
(@) Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in @ MHEEEREERRAzREEMRE
respect of the disposal of Jia Jian Group: LEEWERHEZ DM
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration set off against loans from REREEESER
related parties -
Less: cash and cash equivalents in Jia Jian 8 FTHEEREERESRIBSSEY
Group disposed of (134)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents IR&RIRELEBYFHRL (134)

() During the Year, the Group disposed the entire equity b)) RAFE AEBDH EOKC
interests of OKLink Australia Pty Ltd. (“OKLink Australia®) International Holding Company Limited
and OKG International Pte. Ltd. (‘OKG International”) which (KEBEZRHERXD) ROKC
both of them are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Holding Corporation (Z=£E & 7 &
Company, for cash consideration of AUD50,000 (equivalent NE)) HEXRBEZEEZENBR
to approximately HK$287,000) and SGD10,000 (equivalent FOKLink Australia Pty Ltd. (T OKLink
to approximately HK$56,000) to OKC International Holding Australia_J) &2OKG International Pte.
Company Limited, a related company of the Group and Ltd. (TOKG International J) = 228 %
OKC Holding Corporation, a related company of the Group, > B2 REA50,00008 7t FHER
respectively. #9287,0007% 7t) 5 10,000F 113K 7T

(HHE R #56,00077T) °
The aggregate net liabilities of the subsidiaries as at the date REEBH ZEMBRARZEE
of disposal are set out as follows: HEBREETIAT
OKLink OKG
Australia  International Total
OKLink OKG
Australia  International 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET FHET
Net liabilities disposal of: FTHEB®ZEE !
Prepayments and other receivables AT IRIE R A A
FEWRIA - 2,819 2,819
Cash and bank balances R RIBITHEER 4 1,377 1,381
Amounts due to related companies I REABRIE (20) (4,590) (4,610)
Net liabilities BERE (16) (394) (410)

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A MIBIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

= =]
35 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35 HEMBAE (&
(CONTINUED)
(b)  (continued) (b) (4&)
OKLink OKG
Australia  International Total
OKLink OKG
Australia  International 45t
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TFAT FAET AT
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries: HEZEWBE AR WA !
Cash consideration received BWIRELE 287 56 343
Net liabilities disposal of FTHEBRZE 16 394 410
Reclassification of cumulative translation ~ HEZZBAT B &R
reserve upon disposal of the subsidiaries ~ 5TFE R B EF D 4B 177 - 177
Gains on disposal &R 480 450 930
Analysis of cash movement of cash and cash equivalents in MHEZENBARARZRER
respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries. ReEBYZIRSEFH DM
OKLink OKG
Australia  International Total
OKLink OKG
Australia  International st
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET FET
Consideration received in cash BUIRERE 287 56 343
Less: cash and cash equivalents in B PTHEZERE AR
subsidiaries disposed of Z2RERIREEEY (4) (1,377) (1,381)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and RERFELEBWERA
cash equivalents / GhRi) 283 (1,321) (1,038)

B EEERARAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAMBERIME

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

36 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 March 2022, MetaStar Trading Limited
(“MetaStar”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a loan agreement with OKC Holdings Corporation (“OKC”), the
parent company of the Company, pursuant to which OKC agreed
to make available to MetaStar an unsecured loan facility up to
the maximum aggregate amount of US$10 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$78 million). Pursuant to the loan agreement, the
availability period be 36 months commencing from the date of the
loan agreement at the rate of 2% per annum compounded annually.

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position

37

36 HEHMETIE

RNZE__F=RA=+—H®%B &xR7
2 &M /B /A EMetaStar Trading Limited
(TMetaStar]) BBR R 8 & A8 0KC

R

Holdings Corporation (TOKC J) 5] B3k 1%
=% It > OKCRIE EMetaStari2 42528
EEAI0EEETHNRIEFER BER
W7eEBAETT) < RIBEMmE TREAR
% BB HEAES6E A REF2%H

BEEFEH R

)

(a) BMFRRR

B RE MR AR B H B

2022 2021
=B B —F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
kizE FAET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries RTB AT R 46,430 91,040
Current assets MBIEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E A E AR 700 693
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U it /& A T I8 141,868 100,338
Bank balances and cash RITHEGRRIRE 6,329 67,906
148,897 168,937
Total assets BEHBE 195,327 259,977
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BERREHE
Share capital Bg 26,853 26,853
Reserves 1 37(b) 134,867 192,008
Total equity g kL 161,720 218,861

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 ZE " "F=-H=+—HIFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 37 BATH g#ﬁﬂf}ﬂi%&fa%ﬁ
POSITION AND RESERVE S5 (5 )
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) Statement of financial position (@) EFBIRRET (@
(continued)
2022 2021
== T
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
kiaE FET FET
LIABILITIES &R
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EME IR 2,559 2,550
Amount due to a former e —B A B ABRIE
subsidiary 29 10,641 10,641
Amounts due to subsidiaries ~ FE{T B AT RIS 20,407 27,925
33,607 41,116
Total equity and liabilities  1E#Z KB ELEEE 195,327 259,977
Net current assets BRHBEE 115,290 127,821

Total assets less current BEEREBERATEAR

liabilities 161,720 218,861
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved KRB BERRRER S _FXH
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on “t+tN\BESESERERETIE T H
28 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: THALTREREE .

Mr. Ren Yunan Mr. Zhang Chao
EEBELE RABIAAE
Director Director
- EZE

5= Je /N
SURIREERNG 259
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiZ-E " "F=-H=+—HIFE

37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement

260

37

BB MBI RR R
28 (8)

s

i)

(b) fHEES

Retained
Share-based earnings/
Share payment Capital Special (accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses) Total
DY)
Btz REBRH/
BRAYEIE IR GEE EAGE LyillEa (B389 &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TiER TET TER TER FTERT
Balance at 1 April 2020 RIZZZEMA—HNER 227,652 7,279 7,922 94,795 (74,032) 263,616
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ EREERZEESEEE
for the year - - - - (82,414) (82,414)
Share-based payment expenses URMAERZAZHES - 1,385 - - - 1,385
Exercise of share options TEERE 12,841 (2,299) - - = 10,542
Lapse of share options BRI - (6,365) - - 6,365 -
Repurchase and cancellation of shares &[0l R st 5% 17 (1,121) - - - = (1,121)
Balance at 31 March 2021 RIZEZ—F=A=+—H0K
i 239,372 - 7,022 94,795 (150,081) 192,008
Balance at 1 April 2021 KR —FNA—HNER 239,372 - 7,922 94,795 (150,081) 192,008
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ EREER 2 AHEEE
for the year - - - - (57,141) (57,141)
Balance at 31 March 2022 RIEZ“F#=ZF=+—AK
s 239,372 = 7,922 94,795 (207,222) 134,867
Special reserve YR

Special reserve represents the difference between the fair

value of the shares of a subsidiary of the Company acquired

pursuant to the reorganisation in prior years over the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report
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Five Years Financial Summéry

B FMBHE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B EBEC-F EIERF “Z—NE ZB2—N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET FHET FHET FHT

Revenue Was 385,614 452,964 570,320 364,906 298,625
Cost of sales tHE B A (301,339) (406,399) (527,728)  (334,423)  (227,943)
Gross profit EF) 84,275 46,565 42,592 30,483 70,682
Other income, gains and losses HAuUg A~ s R B8 19,180 16,162 4978 4,011 2,740
Administrative and other operating 17 B ELfth A4S & BE s

expenses (129,320) (104,082) (91,407) (53,302) (38,758)
Impairment losses on intangible L& E R{EEE

assets (50) (180) - - -
Impairment losses on financial TREERGNEERE

assets and contract assets B8 (27,353) (46,892) (5,375) (2,367) =
Operating (loss)/profit e (B518) /HA) (53,268) (88,427) (49,212) (21,175) 34,664
Finance costs =YD (5,435) (7,933) (9,131) (6,868) (2,917)
(Loss)/profit before income tax  FRFF1SHAT (E518) &7 (58,703) (96,360) (58,343) (28,043) 31,747
Income tax credit/(expense) FisiigEs,/ %) 271 2,505 (3,259) 808 (6,379)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (F518) /H5F (58,432) (93,855) (61,602) (27,235) 25,368

R ERERARAS
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Five Years Financial Summary
hFMBEHE
Year ended 31 March
BHE=B=1+—HLZEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C T -F IZBIZRF ZE-NF ZZN\EF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TFAET TFET FAET
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Hith2mE (518 kA
income
ltem that may be reclassified BEOJEENTEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmzBEE .
Exchange differences arisingon ~ MEBIINEREEZ
translation of foreign operations ERERE 857 1,255 (2,120) 1,490 =
Reclassification of cumulative HEBIIEERBZ R
translation reserve upon EREEERDE
disposal of foreign operations (177) - - - -
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEERE
(loss) for the year, net of tax (8518) » PR IE 680 1,255 (2,120) 1,490 =
Total comprehensive (loss)/ EREE (58
income for the year YN L] (57,752) (92,600 (63,722) (25,745) 25,368
(Loss)/profit for the year UTFEHRIEER
attributable to: (8598 /aH]
Owners of the Company AN/NCIEZ=DN (58,061) (93,855) (61,602) (27,235) 25,368
Non-controlling interests TR R (371) - - - -
(58,432) (93,855) (61,602) (27,235) 25,368
Total comprehensive (loss)/income U T & AEEERNEE
for the year attributable to: (B518), /W s 4B %8
Owners of the Company KABEBA (57,505) (92,600) (63,722) (25,745) 25,368
Non-controlling interests FEER S (247) - - - -
(57,752) (92,600) (63,722) (25,745) 25,368
Basic and diluted (loss)/ EREXRKXIEE (5i8)
earnings per share /B
(HK cents) CENL) (1.08) (1.75) (1.17) (0.52) 0.48

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2022 Annual Report




Five Years Financial Summary

AEFERBERE
As at 31 March
M=RA=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
=S 2T ZEIEF Z-hEFE Z2-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET TR TR FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JEREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERERE 17,072 34,569 48,822 28,033 29,020
Intangible assets B EE 4,897 4,456 7,571 430 430
Right-of-use assets FREEE 10,251 2,784 36,158 = =
Prepayment B TIE - 318 1,050 = =
Deferred tax assets RERBEEE 242 = 450 663 -
32,462 42,127 94,051 29,126 29,450
Current assets MENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 KEAMPEUERDR 32,769 95,196 127,385 124,410 169,187
Contract assets BNEE 67,265 67,029 104,429 90,742 =
Gross amounts due from RBEFEEHTRE
customers for contract work FIBAA%E - - - = 35,922
Digital assets HTEE 560,097 68,879 = = -
Inventories due from EWHFHEE
counterparties - 12,766 - - -
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABm 2B/
through profit or loss BE 20,856 28,560 27,645 9,044 1,194
Amount due from a related party ~ FEW— S EIE S FIE - 1,980 2,980 = =
Tax recoverable IR ERIE 783 2,741 401 2,230 179
Pledged bank deposit BIRIFRITER - - 6,753 6,611 6,500
Trust bank balance held on behalf HKEXRZFFE 25555817
of customers ek 147,547 49,128 = = =
Bank balances and cash RITEFRERE 135,555 236,735 239,571 332,495 330,638
964,872 563,014 509,164 565,532 543,620
Total assets BEHEE 997,334 605,141 603,215 594,658 573,070
EQUITY 4
Capital and reserves B G
Share capital i A 26,853 26,853 26,629 26,310 26,310
Reserves 1 135,215 192,720 274,514 315,372 344,118
Equity attributable to the owners ~ A&ATHEE AEILEDR
of the Company 162,068 219,573 301,143 341,682 370,428
Non-controlling interests IR 4,555 = = = =
Total equity A 166,623 219,573 301,143 341,682 370,428

IR B R A RAT
R EER



Five Years Financial Summary

hFEHFNE
As at 31 March
“=A=+—A
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C B ZEIZF ITZ-hFE ZTN\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FExT FET FET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ERHaE
Borrowings Ef=l - - - 153 192
Lease liabilities HEaE 6,126 = 12,047 = =
Deferred tax liabilities FILRIARE 457 1,929 3,255 2,205 3,550
6,583 1,929 15,302 2,358 3,742
Current liabilities TEaE
Trade and other payables B R EMEMERR 56,212 99,060 90,806 92,772 43,880
Contract liabilities aHER 775 4,726 1,610 = =
Gross amounts due to customers  fER R A SH TIZFIE
for contract work 4a%E - - - = 1,981
Liabilities due to customers eI =N=NE 147,547 108,151 = = =
Amounts due to EHINBABRIE
former subsidiaries 10,791 10,641 10,641 10,641 -
Loans from related parties FERER 92,135 148,500 141,750 143,438 136,688
Amount due to a related party e —REaE A TIE 18,073 10,244 14,776 = =
Borrowings BE 494,072 - - 179 4819
Lease liabilities HEAR 4,414 2,317 23,931 = =
Current income tax liabilities BIERFEMEaR 109 = 3,256 3,588 11,532
824,128 383,639 286,770 250,618 198,900
Total liabilities BREE 830,711 385,568 302,072 252,976 202,642
Total equity and liabilities EEkBEEE 997,334 605,141 603,215 594,658 573,070
Net current assets BREBEE 140,744 179,375 222,394 314,914 344,720
Total assets less current BERERRDEE
liabilities 173,206 221,502 316,445 344,040 374,170
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